Wiltshire Counclil

S

AGENDA

Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee

Place: Wessex Room - The Corn Exchange, Market Place, Devizes, SN10
1HS
Date: Thursday 22 June 2023

Time: 3.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Matt Hitch of Democratic Services,
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718059 or email
matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines 01225 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Membership:
ClIr Philip Whitehead (Chairman) Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney
Clir Paul Oatway QPM (Vice- Clir Tony Pickernell
Chairman) Clir lain Wallis
Clir Dr Brian Mathew Clir Stuart Wheeler

CliIr Kelvin Nash

Substitutes:

Clir Mel Jacob Cllr James Sheppard
Clir Jerry Kunkler Clir Caroline Thomas
Clir Dominic Muns



http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/

Recording and Broadcasting Information

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes
within the Council.

By submitting a statement or question for a meeting you are consenting that you may be
recorded presenting this and that in any case your name will be made available on the
public record. The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in
relation to any such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.

Parking
To find car parks by area follow this link.
Public Participation

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of
questions and statements for this meeting.

For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution.

The full constitution can be found at this link.
Our privacy policy is found here.

For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for
details

Page 2


https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fparking-car-parks&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=FK5U7igUosMzWIp1%2BhQp%2F2Z7Wx%2BDt9qgP62wwLMlqFE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fecsddisplayclassic.aspx%3Fname%3Dpart4rulesofprocedurecouncil%26id%3D630%26rpid%3D24804339%26path%3D13386&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dYUgbzCKyoh6zLt%2BWs%2F%2B6%2BZcyNNeW%2BN%2BagqSpoOeFaY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Feccatdisplayclassic.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D13386%26path%3D0&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=VAosAsVP2frvb%2FDFxP34NHzWIUH60iC2lObaISYA3Pk%3D&reserved=0
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Democracy%20Privacy%20Policy&ID=5980&RPID=33929105

AGENDA
Part |
Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public
Apologies
To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting.
Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 12)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 20
April 2023.

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by
the Standards Committee.

Chairman’'s Announcements
To receive any announcements through the Chair.
Public Participation

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.
Statements

Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register no later than
10 minutes before the start of the meeting. If it is on the day of the meeting
registration should be done in person.

The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are linked to
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application, and up to 3
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered.

Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by
planning officers.

Questions

To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular,

Page 3



questions on non-determined planning applications.

Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than
5pm on Thursday 15 June 2023 in order to be guaranteed of a written
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no
later than 5pm on Monday 19 June. Please contact the officer named on the
front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without notice if
the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.

Rights of Way
Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 (Pages 13 - 238)

To consider four objections to The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and
Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2023 made under
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

Urgent items

Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be
taken as a matter of urgency

Part Il

Iltems during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed

Page 4



Wiltshire Council

——————

Eastern Area Planning Committee

MINUTES OF THE EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD
ON 20 APRIL 2023 AT WESSEX ROOM - THE CORN EXCHANGE, MARKET
PLACE, DEVIZES, SN10 1HS.

Present:
Clir Paul Oatway QPM (Vice-Chairman), Clir Dr Brian Mathew, ClIr Kelvin Nash,
Clir lain Wallis, ClIr Stuart Wheeler and ClIr Jerry Kunkler (Substitute)

Also Present:
Cllir Dominic Muns and Clir Philip Whitehead

11. Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from:

e ClIr Philip Whitehead, who attended in his capacity as a local member
(substituted by CllIr Jerry Kunkler).

e Clir Tony Pickernell

e CllIr Sam Pearce-Kearney

12. Minutes of the Previous Meeting

On the proposal of the Vice-Chairman, seconded by ClIr Dr Mathew, it was:
Resolved

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 23 February
2023, as atrue and correct record.

13. Declarations of Interest

Clir Wallis declared an additional interest in relation to Item 7, that he worked in
the Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs. The Secretary of
State, who made the Order under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for
Wiltshire Council to determine the application, was therefore, ultimately his
employer. He clarified that his role in the Department for Environment Food and
Rural Affairs had no connection with the department which dealt with Rights of
Way, so he would still participate in the debate and vote on the application.

14. Chairman's Announcements

There were no announcements.

15. Public Participation

Page 5



16.

17.

The Vice-Chairman detailed the procedure for the meeting and the procedures
for public participation which were set out at Item 5 of the agenda.

Planning Appeals and Updates

On the proposal of the Vice-Chairman, seconded by ClIr Wallis, it was:
Resolved
To note the report on completed and ending appeals.

Ramsbury 9B, 44, 71 and 72 and Mildenhall 16

Public Participation

e Mr Alan Woodford — spoke in favour of the application
e Mr Peter Gallagher (The Ramblers’ Association) — spoke in favour of the
application

The Definitive Map and Highway Records Manager introduced a report
recommending supporting confirmation of the Wiltshire Council Ramsbury 9b,
44, 71&72 and Mildenhall 16 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order
2022. Under the proposals, the Order would be modified to correct the
recording of the width of part of the route affecting Mildenhall path no.16 (points
F to G on the Order plan).

The Manager outlined the background to the case, reporting that Wiltshire
Council had received an application to modify the definitive map and statement
in 2018. As they had not investigated within a year of receiving the application,
they were directed by the Secretary of State for Environment Food and Rural
Affairs to determine the application, which they did in April 2022. The Order was
advertised in accordance with Schedule 15 of the 1981 Wildlife and Countryside
Act (the Act).

The Manager explained that as objections had been received and the Order
required modification, Wiltshire Council was required to send the Order to the
Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination.
The legal test to be applied to confirm an Order is that it is shown on the
balance of probability (i.e. it is more likely than not) that a public right subsists.
She highlighted that there was a large volume of historical evidence dating back
to 1717 and that all the available evidence had been included in the agenda
pack.

She also clarified that there was an error in the proposal as listed on page 24 of
the agenda pack and that the date of the Order should be listed as 2022, rather
than 2023.

The Committee were then invited to consider two objections and three
representations made under Section 53 of the Act to the Definitive Map

Page 6



18.

Statement and Modification Order, as detailed in the report. They were asked to
decide whether to support, or object to the Order when it was sent to the
Secretary of State.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions
of the Manager.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views, as
detailed above.

So the Committee had something to debate, the Vice-Chairman, seconded by
Cllr Wheeler, proposed that support be given to the Definitive Map and
Statement Modification Order confirmation for the reasons outlined in the
Manager’s recommendations.

A debate followed where Members explained that they welcomed the proposal
and that it promoted access to the countryside. In response to queries about
whether bollards could be installed to prevent access by motor vehicles, the
Manager confirmed that the Council had powers under Section 66 of the
Highways Act 1980 to install bollards where necessary for the purpose of
safeguarding persons using the byway. It was then:

Resolved

That The Wiltshire Council Ramsbury 9b, 44, 71 & 72 and Mildenhall 16
Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2022 is confirmed with
the Order modified as follows with regards to widths:

Part 1 of Schedule:

Mildenhall 16 (part) “Width from F to G where bounded by two solid lines
and ranging from 4.7 metres to 6.0 metres on the Ordnance Survey
County Series 1:2500 map Sheet 29.15 printed in 1886 additionally where
not bounded by solid lines on both sides width to be defined by the brown
track colouring in Wiltshire Council’s highway record.

Part 2 of Schedule:

Mildenhall 16 Width modified to “Width 0.3 to 2.4 metres except for
Restricted Byway Section where ranging from 4.7 metres to 6.0 metres as
delineated by two solid lines on the Ordnance Survey County Series
1:2500 map Sheet 29.15 printed in 1886 and where not bounded by two
solid lines as defined by the brown track colouring in Wiltshire Council’s
highway record”.

PL/2022/00977 - Land at Horton Road, Devizes

Public Participation

Page 7



Dirk Foster — spoke in objection to the application
Gordon Currie — spoke in objection to the application
William Smith (Berkley Strategic) — spoke in support of the application

The Head of Development Management introduced a report which
recommended that the application to grant outline planning application, with all
matters reserved except access, for up to 25,000 sgm of use class B2 (General
Industrial), B8 (Storage and Distribution) and E (Commercial, Business and
Service) (g) (i-iii), with landscaping and associated infrastructure, be approved
subject to prior completion of a Section 106 agreement.

He highlighted that, since the publication of the agenda, revised conditions had
been circulated in Agenda Supplement 2. Changes to the technical conditions
included a stipulation that the level of floorspace provided for Use Class B8
when not ancillary to B2 or E uses shall not exceed 80 percent of the gross
floorspace of the development, or 10,000 square metres, whichever is the
larger.

The Committee noted that that the site had been identified in Core Policy 2 of
the Wiltshire Core Strategy as a strategically important site for economic and
employment development. The application site also formed the majority of the
site allocated in the Core Strategy for development for employment purposes in
accordance with the need to meet employment needs as identified in Core
Policy 12 of the Devizes Community Area Strategy.

It was stated by the Head of Development Management that the masterplan for
the site illustrated how the development could be integrated with the adjoining
Skid Pan site, should it come forward for employment development. Should
both sites come forward together it was likely that access from the A361 could
be provided. However, he underlined that this was not the application being
considered and the Committee was being asked to decide the application
outlined in the agenda pack. There were no technical objections from Council
officers in terms of highway impacts or in terms of the impacts on neighbouring
amenities, subject to conditions and planning obligations to the existing
application identified in the report.

He reassured the Committee that conditions on the application would restrict
activities late at night. Residential properties would be separated from the
commercial units by an area of landscaped recreational space and that the units
would largely ‘face away’ from the recreational areas to ensure that noise and
light pollution was minimised.

The Head of Development Management concluded that the development would
be in accordance with the development plan and that there were no sound
planning reasons to object to the application.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions.

Page 8



In response to questions about whether the access arrangements could be
amended, the Head of Development Management explained that it was not
possible for the Committee to amend the application. He clarified that he was
not able to comment on a different application and the Committee must
consider the application before it.

When asked about how the Committee could be assured that the height of the
buildings would be in line with the figures indicated in the masterplan, the Head
of Development Management explained that the plan set the parameters for
outline permission so any future applications would be bound by these.

He also outlined the different classes of use for the site and confirmed that
financial contributions would be set out in the Section 106 agreement.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the
Committee as detailed above.

The Unitary Division Member, ClIr Philip Whitehead, then spoke against the
application, encouraging the Committee to refuse the application in line with
Core Policy 2 and Core Policy 12. He explained that he was in favour of the
principal of developing the site but raised a number of concerns about the
access arrangements listed as part of the application. He also provided
evidence of correspondence with the Office of the Police and Crime
Commissioner explaining that Wiltshire Police, the owners of the adjoining Skid
Pan site, had consented to an option agreement for a potential purchase.

In response to the issues raised during the public participation and Unitary
Division Member statement the Head of Development Management explained
that Core Policy 12 required that a masterplan for the allocated site be
produced and reiterated that the proposals were acceptable in terms of highway
safety and residential amenity. He did not believe that Core Policy 2 (delivery
Strategy) based on integration with the gateway to the town and Core Policy 12
(spatial strategy) in relation to traffic, suggested by Clir Whitehead as reasons
for refusal, were sustainable reasons to refuse the application.

A Strategic Specialist in Major Transport and Development (Sustainable
Transport) reported that the frontage of the application to the A361,
approximately 50 metres, would be insufficient to install a roundabout. If the
application had a wider frontage along the A361, it was likely that they would
favour access via that route via a more extensive junction.

However, he highlighted that officers would struggle to refuse the current
application on access grounds and that it would not have an adverse impact on
the highway network. He stressed that Horton Road was almost seven metres
wide and relatively high-capacity road, so extra traffic could be accommodated.
He also noted that, if the application were to be approved, the Cannings Hill
roundabout would be upgraded to provide better accommodate HGV usage.

The Senior Solicitor stated support for the advice given by officers in respect of
the grounds for refusal and potential for appeal. She reiterated that the

Page 9



Committee must make a decision on the merits of the application in front of it
and should not be considering a hypothetical application which may or may not
come forward.

So the Committee had something to debate, Clir Dr Mathew, seconded by Clir
Wallis, proposed that the application be refused.

A debate followed where Members commented that they supported the principal
of the land being developed for general industrial, storage, business and
commercial use to benefit the local economy. However, safety concerns were
raised about the access arrangements to the site via Horton Road, given that
the development was expected to generate freight traffic on a road adjoining a
residential area. The issue of air quality was also raised given the additional
traffic expected on Horton Road and environmental concerns raised by local
residents during the public participation. It was then:

Resolved
To REFUSE the application, contrary to officer recommendation.
Reasons

The planning application site forms part of a ‘strategically important site’
— named ‘Land between A361 and Horton Road’ — in Core Policies 2
(Delivery Strategy) and 12 (Spatial Strategy: Devizes Community Area) of
the Wiltshire Core Strategy, and in a specific ‘Development Template’ for
the strategically important site also in the Core Strategy. Core Policies 2
and 12 state that strategically important sites will be brought forward
through a master-planning process agreed between the community, local
planning authority and the developer. The Development Template adds
that an assessment of the most appropriate points of access to the
strategically important site should be included in the masterplan.

Core Policy 57 (Ensuring high quality design and place shaping) of the
Wiltshire Core Strategy requires new development to create a strong
sense of place through drawing in the local context and being
complementary to the locality. More specifically, part (vi) of the policy
expects new development to make a positive contribution by making
efficient use of land whilst taking account of the characteristics of the site
and the local context to deliver an appropriate development which relates
effectively to the immediate setting and to the wider character of the area,;
part (vii) requires regard to the compatibility of adjoining buildings and
uses and the impact on the amenities of existing occupants; and part (ix)
requires assurances that the public realm, including new roads, are
designed to create places of character which are legible, safe and
accessible. Core Policy 65 (Movement of goods) seeks to achieve a
sustainable freight distribution system, by (part (iv)) encouraging heavy
goods vehicle (HGV) traffic to use those roads where a minimum of
community and environmental impacts will occur.

Page 10



The application is accompanied by a masterplan plan (‘lllustrative
Comprehensive Masterplan’) which shows the points of access into the
whole strategically important site. For vehicular access there is one point
of access shown from Horton Road (inside the planning application site)
and one point of access shown from the A361 (outside the planning
application site). The shown access from the A361 coincides with an
existing access which presently serves the Devizes Motorcycle Training
Centre, and a link road would be required across the Centre’s land from
the access to the application site. This access and link road arrangement
has not been assessed for either safety or capacity, and its sufficiency to
accommodate any element of the strategically important site has not been
established. The remainder of the strategically important site, being that
which lies outside of the application site, may therefore be solely reliant
upon vehicular access through the application site to Horton Road; this
additional impact upon Horton Road has also not been assessed.

The A361 is an ‘A’ class main distributor road. Horton Road is a ‘C’ class
secondary distributor road. Within the vicinity of the strategically
important site the A361 is adjoined by mainly commercial developments
or agricultural land, whereas Horton Road has a more mixed and
residential character with housing to its south side. In the context of Core
Policies 2 and 12 and the Development Template, Horton Road is not
considered to be the most appropriate point of vehicular access to the
strategically important site (with the planning application not adequately
assessing this in the context of the requirements of the Development
Template). In terms of Core Policy 57, Horton Road is considered less
suited to taking traffic to the application site, particularly commercial
traffic (HGVs, etc.), than the A361, and this in view of, firstly, its higher
‘place status’ (Manual for Streets) and lower classification and
specification compared with the A361 which displays a high ‘movement
status’ (Manual for Streets); and secondly, in view of the particular
characteristics of the area through which the road passes, notably with
residential neighbourhoods to its south side. The additional and
characteristically different types of traffic that would use Horton Road to
access the application site would have a detrimental impact on the
character of the road and the neighbourhoods through which it passes,
changing the dynamics of the neighbourhoods to the detriment of present
circumstances and to the detriment of amenities of residents, and
potentially to the detriment of highway safety (this relative to the impacts
of such traffic on the A361). And in terms of Core Policy 65, the proposal
fails to use a road where a minimum of community and environmental
impact would be achieved.

Additionally, the proposal would result in additional traffic in the vicinity
of the site in general, so exacerbating an existing area of poorer air
quality.

The proposal is, therefore, contrary to Core Policies 2, 12, 55, 57 and 65 of
the Wiltshire Core Strategy, together with the development template for

Page 11



the site which also part of the Wiltshire Core Strategy; and paragraphs 8,
92, 110, 111, 126 and 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

19. Urgent items

There were no urgent items.

(Duration of meeting: 3.00 - 4.39 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Matt Hitch of Democratic Services,
direct line 01225 718059, e-mail matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line 01225 713114 or email
communications@wiltshire.gov.uk

Page 12


mailto:communications@wiltshire.gov.uk

Agenda Iltem 6

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM NO. 6
EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

22 JUNE 2023

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL CHARLTON ST. PETER 2, 6 AND WILSFORD 5
DEFINTIVE MAP AND STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER 2023

Purpose of Report

1. To:

0] Consider four objections to The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6
and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2023
made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (See
Appendix 1 for a copy of the Order).

(i) Recommend that the Order be forwarded to the Secretary of State for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (SOSEFRA) with a recommendation
from Wiltshire Council that the Order is confirmed as made.

Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan

2. Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network which is fit
for purpose, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit.

Background

3. Wiltshire Council has statutory duties to maintain the record of public rights
of way in Wiltshire (excluding the Borough of Swindon), to maintain the rights of
way shown therein, and to assert and protect them for the use and enjoyment of
the public. These duties are not discretionary.

4, The definitive map and statement is the legal record of public rights and is
conclusive in law as to what it shows but this is without prejudice to the existence
of a more extensive public right (s.56 of the 1981 Act). The Council has a duty to
keep it under continual review and make orders to modify it when evidence
shows it is in error.

5. Members of the public may apply to the Council to modify the definitive map and
statement and they do so under the provisions of Schedule 14 to the 1981 Act
and the Council must determine these applications by investigating all available
relevant evidence and by making a modification order where it is considered it is
shown on the balance of probability (i.e., it is more likely than not) that a change
in the map and statement is required.

Page 13

CM10122/F



6. Wiltshire Council received an application dated 22 January 2011 (ref: 2011/03)
for an Order to upgrade footpath Charlton St. Peter 6 (CSTP6) to a restricted
byway with a recorded width of between 5 and 9 metres. Wiltshire Council also
received an application dated 29 November 2021 (ref: D/2021/105) to upgrade
bridleways Wilsford 5 (WILS5) and Charlton St. Peter 2 (CSTP2) to restricted
byways with an approximate width of 6 metres. As the routes physically link to
each other and several of the documents to be researched apply to both
applications, Wiltshire Council determined the applications concurrently. See full
application routes at page 2 and 3 of Decision Report at Appendix 2.

7. In 2006 an Act of Parliament extinguished any public mechanically propelled
vehicular (MPV) right that existed over the routes (s.67 Natural Environment and
Rural Communities Act 2006) and that the highest public right that could exist is
that of a restricted byway. A restricted byway is a route over which the public
may pass and re-pass on foot, on or leading a horse, on a cycle or with a horse
drawn cart or carriage. It is an offence prosecutable by the police for the public to
use an MPV over one.

8. A significant amount of evidence was submitted by both applicants and officers
have conducted their own research, all of which has been investigated, the
report attached at Appendix 2 explores the evidence in detail. In considering
historic public rights it is essential that the common law principal of ‘once a
highway, always a highway’ is applied. In short, if a public right of way can be
shown, on the balance of probability, to have existed in the past, no amount of
disuse or neglect will extinguish that right. Only a defined legal event can stop up
that right.

9. When considering historic documentary evidence officers categorise evidence
based on its evidential weight and have drawn up a categorisation system. This
system of categorisation has been devised by officers with regard to The
Planning Inspectorate’s Consistency Guidelines (last revised April 2016) and
Chapter 6 of the book ‘Rights of Way A Guide to Law and Practice — Fourth
Edition’ by John Riddall and John Trevelyan. Evidence is graded A through F,
with documents in category A holding the most weight down through F.
Examples of category A evidence are Inclosure Acts and awards, Acts for
railways, waterways or roads and orders creating, extinguishing, or diverting
highways as these documents document a legal creation, extinguishment, or
diversion of a public highway. Other documents may demonstrate the reputation
of a way or the physical existence of a way, but the purpose of that document
may not have been to show the legal status of a highway or have any powers to
do so. For example, although a way may appear on many commercial maps it
does not necessarily carry as much evidential weight as if the way is shown in
two publicly consulted documents or created, say, as the result of an Act of
Parliament (see section 9 of Appendix 2, from page 35).

CM10122/F Page 214



10.  Application 2011/03 adduced documents to demonstrate the route of footpath
CSTP2 should be upgraded to a restricted byway. The evidence shows the route
was a public carriage road known as White Lane. The submitted evidence dates
back to 1739 in the quarter session rolls referring to the route as White Lane and
described as a common highway for all persons, horses, cattle, carts, and
carriages. The route is consistently shown in the manner of a road throughout
documents in the 19" century, including the tithe map of 1841 and the railway
plans of 1866. A full chronological summary of documents relating to this route
can be seen at 16.24 from page 106 of appendix 2. Itis likely the route
became, in part, only accessible by the public on foot in the late 19" century and
this is documented by maps from that time. The evidence of historic public
carriage rights on the route (now restricted byway rights) has been demonstrated
by the evidence on the balance of probabilities. The route has likely not been
used, in full, in such a manner for many years, however unless an act of law has
extinguished those rights they still exist, no such act of extinguishment has been
discovered.

11. Application D/2021/105 produced evidence and officers discovered further
evidence of restricted byway rights over some but not the whole of the
application route. Section 16 of Appendix 2 explores the evidence in detail. The
evidence shows sections of the application route are subject to different
evidence where the route passes across a parish boundary and other sections
were used in a different manner. Due to the route crossing a parish boundary it
has been subject to separate inclosure awards, tithe maps and is also subject to
two separate 19" century railway schemes, all of which are considered grade A
or B evidence.

12. The section of the route in the parish of Wilsford (WILS5) is awarded in 1808 as a
private carriage road and drift way and a public footway. The same route is
shown in the manner of a public road in 19" century documents including the
tithe map of 1844, the Direct Western Railway Plans of 1845 and the survey of
land owned by Sir Francis Dugdale Astley in 1846. Other early maps from the
late 1700s and early 1800s show the route in the manner of a road linking
through to the parish of Charlton St. Peter. The continuation of that route in the
parish of Charlton St. Peter, (CSTP2) linking to the A.342 (not including the link
to the village) is awarded as a public road named Wilsford Road in 1780 by the
Charlton St. Peter inclosure award. It is also shown in the manner of road in the
detailed plan of the parish of 1804 (referenced as Wilsford Road) and shown in
the manner of a road in the tithe map of 1841. It is then partially shown as an
occupation road, which is likely a private road, in the Andover, Radstock and
Bristol 1866 railway plans. Earlier commercial maps again from the late 1700s
and early 1800s show the route in the manner of a road.

13. Some of the evidence may be contradictory but the whole route is shown in the
manner of a public road and at least partly named ‘Wilsford Road’ in the parish of
Charlton St. Peter from the 1700s and into the early- mid 1800s (excluding the
link of CSTP2 towards the village). Where a decision must be made on the
balance of probabilities, officers believe the evidence shows the whole route has
carried public vehicular rights (now restricted byway rights), which have not been
extinguished. Evidence shows the whole route likely became known and used as
a bridleway in the late 1800s and into the 20™ century, as it is currently recorded.

Page 15

CM10122/F



14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

CM10122/F

The link of CSTP2 leading to the village and part of the application route is not
proposed to be upgraded from its status of bridleway. The evidence for this
section (described between 16.20 and 16.23 of Appendix 2) shows this section
of the route was clearly historically considered in a different manner to other
sections of the applications and was not a clear through road as per the other
sections. It is not awarded or described at inclosure, it is not shown as a road in
the parish plan of 1804, it is not shown in the manner of a road in the tithe map
of 1841 and is recorded as a field, occupation road (private) and footpath in the
1866 railway plans. It is then later, from the late 19" century, shown as a bridle
road or way, as it is currently recorded.

The far eastern end of CSTP2, linking from the junction of CSTP6 and U/C road
8044 is proposed to be upgraded to a restricted byway, creating a through
restricted byway from the U/C 8044 leading west and then south along CSTP6.
The evidence shows this section of the route was, on the balance of probabilities
part of the road network, linking to White Lane (CSTP6), the public house (now
the Charlton Cat) and the turnpike road (A.342). It is likely the current situation at
this section was an error made in 1930 when the road was passed from the
Rural District Council to Wiltshire County Council for maintenance. Historical
evidence, dating from the late 18" century and early 19" century commercial
maps, the 1804 parish plan, 1841 tithe map and the 1866 railways plans (which
records the route as public highway in the ownership of the highways board)
shows the road continued as per the recommendation for upgrade.

Widths were required to be recorded for the routes that are proposed to be
upgraded by the made orders. Where it is clear a width has been set out by
documentary evidence that width should be recorded, unless evidence shows
that width has been extinguished. Part of CSTP2 from the A.342 leading north
and northwest to the Wilsford parish boundary is proposed to be recorded at
12.2 metres (40 feet) where the width is set out in the 1780 inclosure award as
“‘more than the breadth of forty feet”. The continuation of that route in the parish
of Wilsford is to be recorded as 6.1 metres (20 feet) where the route is set out at
that width in the 1808 Wilsford inclosure award. Where a route is not subject to
inclosure awards and a set out width, the 25” OS map of 1900 has been used as
an historic accurate topographical map. Measurements taken from this map have
led to widths of between 7-14 metres for most eastern section of CSTP2 and a
width of between 5 and 9 metres for CTSP6. In the case of CSTP6 which by
1900 was in part only used as a footpath a 5-metre width for that section has
been recorded as a reasonable width for a restricted byway and meets Wiltshire
Council’s policy for recording new or diverted restricted byways. This is
explained at section 17 (from page 113) of Appendix 2.

The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and
Statement Modification Order 2023 was duly advertised and attracted four duly
made objections.

Where objections are received to a Definitive Map Modification Order Wiltshire
Council may not confirm or abandon the Order and must forward it to SOSEFRA
for determination. However, it must first consider the representations and
objections to the Order and make a recommendation to SOSEFRA regarding the
determination of the Order.

Page 16



Main Considerations for the Council

19.

20.

21.

22.

CM10122/F

Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 places a duty upon the
Surveying Authority to keep the definitive map and statement of public rights of
way under continuous review.

The Order is made under Section 53(3)(c) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981, based on:

‘the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other
relevant evidence available to them) shows-

(inthat a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a particular
description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description; or

(iithat there is no public right of way over land shown in the map and statement
as a highway of any description, or any other particulars contained in the map
and statement require modification.”

Evidence is the key and therefore objections to the making of the Order must, to
be valid, challenge the evidence available to the Surveying Authority. The
Authority is not able to consider other considerations, such as the suitability of
the way for use by the public, the proximity of any other paths or facilities,
environmental impacts and any need or desire for the route.

Objections and Representations:

Four objections were received to the Order during the statutory period. Those
objections are shown below. Where responses were exchanged between officers
and objectors these are included at Appendix 3.

(1) Georgina Boyle — (Owner of the Charlton Cat)
Dear Craig,
Thank you for your letters of the 16th February and 2nd March 2023.

On historical evidence there is no question that CSTP6 was more than a
footpath, however historically the A342 was not a major A road with large lorries
and very fast traffic, a junction with minimal visibility in either direction at the
Charlton Cat which with the addition of equestrians and carriages is dangerous.

My objection to this upgrade of the footpath to a restricted byway is on the
grounds of safety. Please see the attached map which shows some of the
accidents along this stretch of road - the map only shows accidents with
casualties, there have been many more that | have seen that are not recorded

on this map. Is Wiltshire Council doing any due diligence or other consultations
on the safety of this crossing? You state in your decision report on page 18 -
'The A342 is a very busy road and at this point the visibility looking west and east
is very poor to cross what is a 50mph A road at this point due to bends in the
road’ Unfortunately looking at a map of the road it does not show the true danger

Pagg 17



of the bends and so arriving at the proposed crossing you would not be aware
and by allowing this byway you would be encouraging dangerous activity.

What plans would be put in place to make this safer? The only safe solution
would be a horse crossing as recommended by the PROW working group.

Mary Gillmore in her letter claims that it would fulfil a ‘'missing link’ however there
are already 3 bridleway crossings of the A342 within 2 miles of CSTP6 which are
all at safe points on the road with good visibility and provide ‘convenient and
enjoyable’ circular route for riders ( taken from Mary Gillmore attached Michael
Aldous FPS/AO665/6/1) however in this instance the danger clearly outweighs
any advantage of crossing at this point.

In his letter of November 2022 Alan Woodford of BHS Wiltshire states - He
cannot see how a route for horses and carriages would be easily provided - He
does not mention the issue of safety. Does the BHS not have any duty of care for
the safety of riders, carriage drivers in encouraging them to cross a busy road
with no visibility?

With regard to the practicalities - When | bought the Charlton Cat in 2014 it was
with a footpath across the carpark with a width of 1.2m (as in your decision
report page 55). The upgrading to a byway with a minimum width of 5m. means |
lose valuable parking spaces which | need to keep my business viable. How is
Wiltshire Council going to compensate my business for loss of asset?

The required works to create this byway with a suitable gradient for both horses
and carriages will be extensive, and | presume expensive. Has Wiltshire Council
Highways done any feasibility as to value for money for the community for works,
signage or a horse crossing. | will also lose significant business whilst these
works are being done.

I look forward to hearing from you as to what actions are being taken to ensure
that this upgrade will be safe for purpose.
Yours sincerely

Georgina Boyle

(2) Gillian Gadd — (Timber Lodge, Charlton St. Peter)
Dear Mr Harlow,

| wish you to bring it to the attention of the relevant departments that | am
wholeheartedly opposed to the modification of footpath Charlton St Peter 6
(CSTP6) to a restricted byway.

As set out in my previous email to you, | believe this will have severe implications
regarding the safety of users attempting to cross or join the A342 adjacent to the
Charlton Cat (marked F on your map).

Opening up the width of the byway to allow horses and carriage users to travel up
to the A342 is an act of gross irresponsibility on the part of those officials charged
with the health and safety of public highway users. It may have been a useful

Page 18

CM10122/F



access requirement 100 years ago when dwellings lined that particular route, but
surely it is obvious that that time has passed and to introduce slow-moving or
potentially fractious animals to an A road, on the section lying between blind
bends, is pure insanity.

The A342 carries an increasing number of lorries and HGVs which will have a
considerably longer stopping distance than a car. Even with reduced speed limits,
painted crossings and warning signs (which you have given no indication will be
put in place) the area of road you are proposing to allow members of the public to
risk their lives on is too dangerous.

The second objection | have to the opening of CSTP6 as a 5 to 9 metre wide
restricted byway is that | believe it will encourage anti-social and criminal
behaviour in the village of Charlton St Peter.

At present we have a single highway entrance/exit in the village and CSTP6 could
well become a route in or out for an undesirable element who wish to burgle
properties or outbuildings here. It is a practice which is rife at the moment and |
have no doubt that the opening of an easy route out of Charlton will make it more
appealing to thieves.

| also think the opening up of CSTP6 may encourage motorised vehicles such as
trials motorbikes already using the plain.

Finally, the question of cost to the taxpayer must also be considered. We hear that
councils are stretched; potholes in the roads are an increasing hazard and |
imagine that this endeavour may remain unsurfaced as well as poorly maintained
because of other more pressing concerns.

Does Wiltshire Council really believe this use of resources to be value for money?
Maybe we should take a vote from those of us who pay our taxes.

Yours faithfully,
Gill Gadd
Timber Lodge

3) Tim Fowle- Charlton Manor, Charlton. St. Peter

Dear Craig

| thank you for the clarification of the DMMO Decisions that the council have
reached that you sent to us on Friday, and the reasons the decisions have been
made. However you seem to have misconstrued the point | was trying to make in
my email of Thursday 20th April in that | object to the width of the byway as
proposed and therefore | wish to clarify this as follows. The questions | raised ,
particularly to the 12.2 metres (40 feet) width specified, is the point | was

trying to object to, as being excessive for the proposed future use and grossly
intrusive into my fields, particularly as the section further east towards the village
of Charlton is NOT being upgraded due to lack of evidence for this historically.

I don’t oppose the upgrading to a restricted byway but do most strongly object to
the proposed width of the right of way.

The idea of upgrading only part of the byway to the proposed width is utterly
ridiculous in terms of the adverse effects on my land, to no appreciable benefit, as
it ceases to be a restricted byway as it nears the Charlton Cat. | do not believe
that widening the byway to this width will be of any benefit to users of it.

Page 19

CM10122/F



23.

Yours sincerely
Tim Fowle
4) Kerry Robinson — Local resident

Dear Mr Harlow,

It is with jaw dropping incredulity that | see you have plans to resurrect an access,
as a byway (cstp6) which was closed some 150 years ago.

Closed for a very good reason - even in those days of horse drawn vehicles!

As a driver, and horse rider, | am raising objections on the grounds of serious
safety issues. Anyone using that byway on horseback or in a horse drawn vehicle
would be doing so with no regard for their horses, themselves or other road users.
Access into and across the privately owned car park, belonging to and for the use
of patrons to The Charlton Cat, on the A342 is positioned at a lethal chicane. It’s a
double bend which regularly sees casualties in various degrees of seriousness.
Cars frequently clip the opposite bank and flip on their roof landing on the
opposite side of the road.

As a resident on this same highway | have in the last five years witnessed a
massive increase in traffic, including huge HGV’s and arctics all travelling too fast
and unable to pass each other without decimating the banks on both sides of the
road. Some are forced to stop while dangerously manoeuvring themselves onto
the verges so they can pass each other.

| am all for you providing bridleways - but not at exit points that put both the lives
of horses (yes they have brains and can be startled) their riders , pedestrians or
drivers at lethal risk. A horse hit by a car will usually be killed and often go through
the vehicles windscreen, posing a not inconsiderable risk to the driver and
passengers. Byways ripped up by motorbikes, quads and cars are already near
impassable for riders and walkers as it is. Common sense appears to have been
abandoned in this specific planning application.

Permission for such a short sighted and unnecessary opening of cstp6 route
would also enable and encourage the abuse of a private car park to a much loved
local business. Perhaps you the powers that should be held financially liable for
the unavoidable damage to the future business prospects of The Charlton Cat.

| can only add that | expect more from my local authority. If you want to improve
bridleways and byways in this area it would be appreciated if you focussed on
those currently being made inaccessible with wire and unmanageable gates, and
surfaces that have been trenched by vehicles.

Kind regards

K. Robinson

Comments on the objections

All four objections made do not raise any material objection to the documentary
evidence. Three of the objectors own land that is either directly affected or land
adjacent to the order route. It does not appear any objectors are challenging the
validity of the historical evidence but oppose the order based on safety matters
and potential impact on their properties or businesses. Mr Fowle does not
challenge the upgrade of the status to restricted byway but the proposed widths
as he states they will not be useful and will impact on his land. It is
understandable Mr Fowle objects to the 40 feet proposed width of the route over
his land, however the route is clearly set out in the inclosure award for the parish
at a “breadth of at least 40 feﬁg”a gOeffi?%s understand the position of the

CM10122/F



objectors but are unable to take into consideration any other matters than the
historical evidence, which officers believes clearly demonstrates the higher
status of the routes and the widths set out. This has been explained to all
objectors. The management of any recorded higher rights will be a matter for the
Countryside Access Officers at the time the Order may be confirmed, and the
rights recorded.

Overview and Scrutiny Engagement

24. Overview and Scrutiny Engagement is not required in this case. The Council
must follow the statutory process which is set out under Section 53 of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981.

Safequarding Considerations

25.  Considerations relating to safeguarding anyone affected by the making of the
Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be made and
determined based on the relevant evidence alone.

Public Health Implications

26.  Any public health implications arising from the making of an Order under
Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not considerations
permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be made and determined based
on the relevant evidence alone.

Corporate Procurement Implications

27. Inthe event this Order is forwarded to SOSEFRA there are several opportunities
for expenditure that may occur, and these are covered in paragraphs 31 to 34 of
this report.

Environmental and Climate Change Impact of the Proposal

28.  Any environmental or climate change considerations arising from the making of
an Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be made and
determined based on the relevant evidence alone.

Equalities Impact of the Proposal

29.  Matters relating to the equalities impact of the proposal are not relevant
considerations in Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

Risk Assessment

30.  Wiltshire Council has a duty to keep the definitive map and statement of public
rights of way under continuous review and therefore there is no risk associated
with the Council pursuing this duty correctly. Evidence has been brought to the
Council’s attention that there is an error in the definitive map and statement of
public rights of way which ought to be investigated and it would be unreasonable

CM10122/F Pagg 21



for the Council not to seek to address this fact. If the Council fails to pursue its
duty it is liable to complaints being submitted through the Council’s complaints
procedure, potentially leading to complaints to the Ombudsman. A request for
judicial review could be made with significant costs against the Council where it
is found to have acted unlawfully.

Financial Implications

The making and determination of Orders under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 is a statutory duty for Wiltshire Council for which financial provision has

Where there are outstanding objections to the making of the Order it must be
determined by the Secretary of State. The outcome of the Order will then be
determined by written representations, local hearing, or local public inquiry, all of
which have a financial implication for the Council. If the case is determined by
written representations the cost to the Council is £200 to £300; however, where
a local hearing is held the costs to the Council are estimated at £300 to £500. A
one-day public inquiry could cost between £1,500 and £3,000 if Wiltshire Council
continues to support the making of the Order (i.e., where legal representation is
required by the Council) and around £300 to £500 where Wiltshire Council no
longer supports the making of the Order (i.e., where no legal representation is
required by the Council and the case is presented by the applicant).

Where the Council objects to the Order, the Order must still be forwarded to the
SOoSEFRA for determination. As in the case of a supported Order, the possible
processes and costs range from £200 to £3,000 as detailed at paragraph 32

As the case is considering documentary evidence, with no witness evidence to
cross examine and no material objection to the historic evidence has been
presented, officers will request the Order to be resolved by written
representations. However, this is subject to other parties’ requests and
SoSEFRAs decision on how to determine the Order.

31.

been made.
32.
33.

above.
34.
Legal Implications
35.

Where the Council does not support the Order, clear reasons for this must be
given and must relate to the evidence available. The applicants may seek
judicial review of the Council’s decision if they see it as incorrect or unjust by
them. The cost for this may be up to £50,000.

Options Considered

36.

CM10122/F

Members should now consider the objections received and the evidence to
determine whether Wiltshire Council continues to support the making and
confirmation of the Order. The making of the Order has been objected to;
therefore, the Order must now be submitted to the SOSEFRA for determination
and members of the committee may determine the recommendation (which
should be based upon the evidence) to be attached to the Order when it is
forwarded to the SOSEFRA as follows:

(1) The Order be confirmed without modification.

Page 22



(i) The Order be confirmed with modification.
(i)  Take a neutral stance on the determination of the Order.
(iv)  The Order should not be confirmed.

Reason for Proposal

37.  Unless the objections and representations are withdrawn the Order must be
forwarded to the SOSEFRA for determination.

38. The documentary evidence the order relies upon has not been challenged by the
objectors in any other manner than the unrecorded rights are unnecessary,
safety matters or other matters which are not able to be considered by any
decision-making authority, including the SOSEFRA.

39. The documentary evidence in officers’ opinion meets the balance of probabilities
test to upgrade the statuses of the routes subject to the order and the widths
recorded within the order, as discussed in detail at 10-16 of this report and at
Appendix 2.

40. The Council’s duty remains with supporting the Order based on the evidence it
has before it.

Proposal

41.  The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and
Statement Modification Order 2023 is forwarded to the SOSEFRA with the
recommendation that it is confirmed without modification.

Samantha Howell
Director — Highways and Transport

Report Author:
Craig Harlow
Definitive Map Officer
Appendices:

Appendix 1 - The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5
Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2023

Appendix 2 - Decision Report and its appendices

Appendix 3 - Objections

Page 23

CM10122/F



This page is intentionally left blank



WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT FOR THE PEWSEY RURAL DISTRICT
COUNCIL AREA DATED 1952 AS MODIFIED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL CHARLTON ST.PETER 2, 6 AND WILSFORD 5 DEFINITIVE
MAP AND STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER 2023

This order is made by Wiltshire Council under section 53(2)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 (“the Act’) because it appears to that authority that the Definitive Map and
Statement for the Pewsey Rural District Council area dated 1952 as modified under the
provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 require modification in consequence of
the occurrence of events specified in section 53(3)(c)(ii) & (iii) of the Act, namely the
discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other relevant
evidence available to them) shows —

(ii) that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a particular
description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description;

(i)  that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map and statement as a
highway of any description, or any other particulars contained in the map and
statement require modification.

The Authority have consulted with every local authority whose area includes the land to
which this order relates.

The Wiltshire Council hereby order that:

1. For the purposes of this Order the relevant date is the 8t February 2023

2. The Definitive Map and Statement for the Pewsey Rural District Council Area dated
1952 as modified under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 shall
be modified as described in Parts | and 1l of the Schedule and shown on the plans
attached to the Order.

Sl This Order shall take effect on the date it is confirmed and may be cited as the
Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map Modification
Order 2023.

THE COMMON SEAL of
WILTSHIRE COUNCIL was
hereunto affixed this 22nd day
of February 2023

|
in the presence of: l"\'03

é@}&M Pase' 55 Authorised Signatory

Avma  HSULUYXY Wiltshire Council



Paris

h

Charlton
St. Peter

Path No

2

D

SCHEDULE
PART |
MODIFICATION OF DEFINITIVE MAP

Description of path or way to be Modified under Section
upgraded 53(3) as specified

Length of bridleway, from the Charlton 53(3)(c)(ii)&(iii)
St. Peter and Wilsford Parish boundary

to its junction with the A.342 as shown

by a broken line with small arrowheads

between points B and C on the attached

plan no.1, to be upgraded to a restricted byway.
Also, that length of bridleway, from the junction
of path no.6 leading north-easterly to its junction
with U/C road 8044, as shown by a broken line
with small arrowheads between points E and D
on the attached plan no.2, to be upgraded to a
restricted byway.

Width of 12.2 metres (40ft) between points B and C.
Approximate length 880 metres.

Width of between 7 and 14 metres between
points E and D. As depicted on plan 3 attached to
the order.

Approximate length 50 metres.

Length of footpath, from its junction with 3(3)c)(i&(iii)
path no.2, leading generally south past the

Charlton Cat and to its junction with the A.342 as
shown by a broken line with small arrowheads
between points E and F on the attached

plan no.2, to be upgraded to a restricted byway.

Width between 5 and 9 metres. Partly depicted
on plan 3 attached to the order, otherwise 5 metres.

Approximate length 190 metres

Pages6*



SCHEDULE ( continued)
PART |

MODIFICATION OF DEFINITIVE MAP

Parish Path No Description of path or way to be Modified under Section
upgraded 53(3) as specified
Wilsford 5 Length of bridleway , from its junction with 53(3)(c)(ii)&(iii)

U/C road 8043 leading generally south easterly
to the Wilsford and Charlton St. Peter parish
boundary, as shown by a broken line with
small arrowheads between points A and B

on the attached plan no.1, to be upgraded to

a restricted byway.

Width 6.1 metres (20ft)

Approximate length 475 metres.

SCHEDULE
PART Il

MODIFICATION OF DEFINITIVE STATEMENT

Parish Path No Description of path Modified under Section
53(3) as specified
Charlton
St. Peter 2 RESTRICTED BYWAY. From the Devizes- 53(3)(c)(ii)&iii)
Andover road,A.342, approximately 274m
west of the Charlton Cat, leading north, Relevant date
north-west to the Wilsford Parish boundary. February 22" 2023

Also, a spur leading from its junction with
Path No.6 north east to its junction with
U/C road 8044.

BRIDLEWAY. From its junction with the
Wilsford parish boundary ieading north to
the North Newnton Parish boundary, south
of Cuttenham Farm. Also, a spur , 83 metres
north of its junction with the A.342, leading
generally, east to its junction with path no.6.

B 5



SCHEDULE (continued)

PART Il
- MODIFICATION OF DEFINITIVE STATEMENT

Parish Path No Description of path Modified under Section
53(3) as specified

Charlton

St. Peter 2 (continued from previous page) 53(3)(cXii)&(iii)

Width of 12.2 metres ( 40ft) from its junction with
the Wilsford parish boundary at SU 10710 56598
to its junction with the A.342 at SU 11162 55941.
Width of between 7 and 14 metres between

SU 11432 56024 at its junction with path no.8 and
SU 11471 56052 at its junction with U/C 8044, with
reference to OS sheet 41/10 revised 1899,
published 1900, 1:2500, see plan 3 attached.

Otherwise, a width of 4.5 metres.

Approximate total length 1.6 km

Chariton RESTRICTED BYWAY. From its junction 53(3)(c)(ii)&iii)
St. Peter 6 with path No.2 leading south to the Devizes-
Andover road, A.342, by the Charlton Cal.
Part subject to
Width of 5 metres between SU 11430 55850 ploughing
and SU 11435 55953, Otherwise, width
between 5.5 and 9 metres as Relevant date
depicted by OS sheet 41/10 revised 1899, February 22nd 2023
published 1900, 1:2500, see plan 3 attached.
Approximate length 190 metres.
Wilsford 5 RESTRICTED BYWAY. From road U/C 8043 53(3)(c)(i)&(iii)
,south of Wilsford Manor, leading south-east
to the Charlton St. Peter parish boundary. Relevant date

February 22nd 2023
Width 6.1 metres (20ft)

Approximate length 475 metres

Page /8"



156800

156600

156400

156200

156000

The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2023- Plan 1

409800 410000 410200 410400 410600 410800 411000 411200 411400
L
A ©r Q/n / -
1 7
Ak
) 7% N
Ne
Draj : \
\Efi 0 10{m v
7 ot Ny
Dr, ain
/,
/
S
Y
/

L
Pl
&/
I/

Key:- Plan 1

Bridleway to be upgraded to restricted byway: A V—Y— B Y—Y—' (

114m
Other rights of way: -
|| Footpath:------ S 7 :
Bridleway: -|-|-|-| — / '\-eb,-;
v S~
Byway open to all traffic: B \ /) T, ack Timbe \E
© Crown Copyright and Database Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey 1 GQQQSQ © Crown Copyright Eggge ,
/ Database Rights'2023 Qgdipance Survey 100049050
| / | M \ A 2 aPH
409800 410000 410200 410400 410600 410800 411000 411200 411400
N
Wiltshire Council A Scale 1 16,000

@A4

156800

156600

156400

156200

156000



Wiltshire Council

The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map

and Statement Modification Order 2023- Plan 2
411250 411300 411350 411400 411450 411500 411550 411600 411650
<~ TR Cottage| L\ E
(o Vlne ‘
g iy (\/\/‘ Cottaqe [\j |
v - TF [ rhe ﬁ‘
\ p ‘ ‘ | R owanq |
— o : l |
- Y L
. ‘.‘ L ] 7l,,
P [ ‘\I
K \
|
5 \ ; b
- @ Key: Plan 2 oy -
() Jw‘ [N / ,
| | :
: ootpath CSTP6 and bridleway CSTP2 to be upgraded to restricted byway ‘\l ,w“ [ 3 QL:)
VeV EVe Ve | \ |< ' / N
\ \ o 5
| 4 | e &
| Af 13 I3
Other rights of way: | \ |< 5 /8
- Footpath: ------ ‘ Y ;U'S o
g’,__ Bridleway: -|-|-|-| : — g i
=~ |-~ | Byway open to all traffic: "= ' ~~ -
: ‘ ~
2 - -
- T
by /
_ -
e S - /?3
A3 o /] —=T '
- . - /Charltd .
=3 | e / - o
e | e
‘\ —
i g base nghts 2023 Ord aﬁ’ceffSurygyj 00049050, @ Crown Copyright and
o T Database Right?ZOiB-Q,rgance Survey 100049050
i T - e 447 Aee _
411250 411300 411350 411400 411450 411500 411550 411600
© Crown Copyright and Database Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey Licence No 100049050

A

Scale 1:1,500 @A4

411650

156050



The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2,6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and Statement
Modification Order 2023- Plan 3- OS 2nd edition 1900

i Key- Plan 3

411300 41 1400 411500 411600 411700
Hol 7.926 a ;‘\‘\ / / B
I P ‘-f_‘ o N
i ] s . /
n N i T REP Y /\

Width of restricted byways as shown by OS 2™ edition 1900 Boundaries- shaded with
«&-| green stripes.

.““ / :\

156200

156100

156000

155900

J
Poore’s Arms

‘P.H. '/“

U e b - 383
T o 1 TR INtaee
1 A\’\ \\\ \ hx x l}g}guﬂ‘-‘-‘ﬁ‘_mm‘f;‘\ﬂ' 2y

Ay S PETT ¢4
=20 h\\}‘\‘;ﬂ\“‘

+
UL,
'V VGl Ui
e UL

155800

L w -'L'q

nur\

VgL R
S uroUsE
©|Crown Copyright and Database|Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey
100049050, © Crown Copyright and Dgtabase Rights 2023 Ordnance

Survey 100049050

411300 41 1400 411500 411600 411700

N
© Crown Copyright and Database Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey Licence No 100049050

Wiltshire Coun§i| Page 31 Scale 1:2500 @ Ad A

156300

156200

156100

156000

155900

155800



This page is intentionally left blank



Table of Contents

CSTP2 ,6 and WILS5 Decision Report
Decision Report Appendix 1 - Applications
Decision Report Appendix 2 - Consultation Responses
Decision Report Appendix 3- Decision Plans
1.1 Decision Plan 1
1.2 Decision Plan 2
2 Decision Plan 3

Page 33

Appendix 1- Applications

126
152
169
169
170
171



DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPGRADE FOOTPATH CHARLTON ST. PETER 6 AND BRIDLEWAYS

CHARLTON ST. PETER 2 AND WILSFORD 5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

1. The Applications

1.1. Application number:

Date of application:

Applicant:

Application for:

2011/03

22 January 2011

Mr Bill Riley
I

Bradford on Avon

Wiltshire

BA15 N
“An Order under section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 modifying the definitive map and statement for the area
by upgrading to a restricted byway the Footpath No.6 “White
Lane” in the parish of Charlton (St. Peter) and varying the
particulars relating to the restricted byway by providing that the
width be modified to between 5.5 metres and 9 metres where
fenced ( as shown on the 2" Edition 25” O.S. Map) and 5 meters
where unfenced , and shown on the map accompanying this

application”.

Application comprises: Schedule 7 application for a modification order for path no.6

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

Schedule 8 Notice of application served on the landowners at the
time.

Schedule 9 certificate of service of notice
Map showing the claimed route highlighted in orange

A summary of documentary evidence.

APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 34

Appendix 1- Applications 2



1.2 Application map for 2011/03.

1.3 Application number: D/2021/105
Date of application: 29" November 2021
Applicant: Natalie White, on behalf of the British Horse Society
Stareton

Kenilworth
Warwickshire

cvell

Application for: “An order under section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 modifying the Definitive Map and Statement for the
area by upgrading to restricted byway, the bridleways
(WILS5 & CSTP2) which runs from Point A on the application
map (OSGR SU 10338 56904), the junction between the
bridleway WILS5 and the road leading to the Village of
Wilsford and follows the Bridleways WILS5 & CSTP2 along
the Lane in an easterly direction to Point C (OSGR SU
11195 56025) before branching south to Point D (OSGR SU
11163 55947) and east to Point E (OSGR SU 11525 56082).”

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 35

Appendix 1- Applications



With an approximate width of 6 metres.

Application Comprises: Form 1 application for order
Map showing claimed route

A summary of evidence.

1.4. Application map for D/2021/105

2.1.

"-._CJ.!: Brain
L1

“.'. Hﬂlﬁ. strenham 'l"

Farm |

'Coombe Cottage

£

561
' | !
't | | Sirip Srmebots .

P i ey | P BN

Purpose of Report

To determine two applications, made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981, to upgrade footpath Charlton St. Peter 6(CSTP6) and
bridleways Charlton St. Peter 2 (CSTP2) and Wilsford 5 (WILSS5) to restricted byways
and amend the definitive map and statement of public rights of way for the area to
show these upgrades. This report will consider both applications as application
2011/03 has reached the top of the council’s priority list for DMMO applications and

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 36

Appendix 1- Applications 4



the later application D/2021/105 physically links to the older application. Due to this
physical link, it is likely several historical documents that officers will need to
investigate will apply to both applications. A decision will be made on both
applications as distinct, separate applications and will be determined by the evidence

adduced and any other evidence found and investigated by officers.
3. Relevance to Council’s Business Plan

3.1. Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network fit for purpose,

making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit.

4. Location

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 37

Appendix 1- Applications 5



4.1 The route for application ref: 2011/03 affecting footpath CSTP6 leads from its
southern junction with the A.342 at the Charlton Cat, in a northerly direction to its
junction with bridleway CSTP2.

4.2 The route of CSTP6 is highlighted below.

4.3 The application route of D/2021/105 affecting CSTP2 and WILSS5 leads from its
easterly junction with road U/C 8044 from the village of Charlton St. Peter in a
westerly and then north westerly direction to the Wilsford parish boundary and
continues to its junction with the U/C 8043 east of Wilsford Manor. There is also a

spur of CSTP2 leading south to the A.342 west of the Charlton Cat.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 38

Appendix 1- Applications



4.4 The route of application D/2021/105 is highlighted below.

4.5 An aerial photo of the area from 2021 can be seen below. Bridleways in green and

footpaths denoted by purple lines.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 39

Appendix 1- Applications



5. Photographs

Photos taken of the application routes on 23 August 2022.

5.1 The red arrow on the map extract shows where and which direction the photos next

to the map extract were approximately taken.

5.2

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 40

Appendix 1- Applications



5.3

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 41

Appendix 1- Applications



5.4

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 42

Appendix 1- Applications

10



5.5

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 43

Appendix 1- Applications

10

11



5.6

After the route of footpath CSTP2 crosses a stile and enters an open field, the used
route leads slightly east onto the higher ground, whereas it is likely the recorded

route and old lane is overgrown and impassable on lower ground.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 44

Appendix 1- Applications 12



5.7

This photo is taken from on the higher ground, where it is apparent most if not all

users walk when using the path. It is likely the actual route of the path is on the lower

ground and can be seen is impassable with vegetation.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 45

Appendix 1- Applications 13



5.8

A gate and steps can be seen in centre distance of this photo where the path leads
up to the Charlton Cat. The recorded route of the path is in the overgrowth on the

lower land.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 46

Appendix 1- Applications 14



5.9

A metal gate is at the entrance to a flight of steps which lead into the Charlton Cat
car park.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 47

Appendix 1- Applications

14

15



5.10

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 48

Appendix 1- Applications

15

16



5.11

The top of the steps can be seen to the left, to the right of the steps the land falls

away steeply to the gate obscured by the tree vegetation.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 49

Appendix 1- Applications

16

17



5.12

The land to the right of the steps is partially fenced off where the land goes down a

steep gradient to the gate and path to the south of the car park.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 50

Appendix 1- Applications

17

18



5.13

This photo is taken from the south side of the A.342, from the entrance to byway
open to all traffic CTSP7, looking north towards the Charlton Cat car park and the
path which can be seen in the centre of the photo, leading down the steps. The
A.342 is a very busy road and at this point the visibility looking west and east is very
poor to cross what is a 50mph A road at this point due to bends in the road.

18

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 51

Appendix 1- Applications 19



5.14

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 52

Appendix 1- Applications

19

20



5.15

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 53

Appendix 1- Applications

20

21



5.16

The spur of bridleway CSTP2 which leads to the A.342 is overgrown and impassable

where it leads south in an old sunken lane which is clearly not in use.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 54

Appendix 1- Applications 22



5.17

The entrance to the bridleway from the A.342 is very steep, uneven, and overgrown.
It is very dangerous for any user of the bridleway as there is no useable verge on the
A.342 to emerge onto if they ascend from the bridleway. The road is busy and fast

with poor visibility where any user would emerge due to the bend in the road, which

can be seen.
DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS
23

Appendix 1- Applications



5.18

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 56

Appendix 1- Applications

23

24



5.19

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 57

Appendix 1- Applications

24

25



5.20

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 58

Appendix 1- Applications

25

26



5.21

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 59

Appendix 1- Applications

26

27



5.22

The bridleway leads between two fence lines where a paddock has been created to

the south.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 60

Appendix 1- Applications 28



5.23

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 61

Appendix 1- Applications

28

29



5.24

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 62

Appendix 1- Applications

29

30



5.25

The bridleway exits onto the C.80 through an open field gate and is signed from the

road by a plastic post and bridleway finger.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 63

Appendix 1- Applications

30

31



6.1.

Registered Landowners

The route of footpath CSTP6 is shown as unregistered land on land registry. There
are several surrounding properties and all of those immediate adjacent owners have
been identified and contacted. Those adjacent owners of CTSP6 being:

Lady Georgina Boyle, | Charlton, Pewsey, SNO [l
Mr Timothy Fowle, ||} Chariton, Pewsey, SNO |l

Ms Claire Perry, |} NJEEI Chariton, Pewsey, SNO I}
Mr Neil Mylum and Gillian Gadd, ||l Chariton, Pewsey, SNO |}

6.2 The land over which bridleway CTSP2 leads is owned, west of its junction with CSTP6

by two landowners according to Land Registry records who have been consulted.

Those owners being:

Mr Timothy Fowle, ||} BBl Chariton, Pewsey, SNO |}
Ms Vivienne Guinness, ||} I _ondon, W11

WT413758

The above plan taken from the land registry website shows the route of CSTP6 and

the route leading east to the village as having no registered owner.
31

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 64

Appendix 1- Applications 32



7.1

8.1.

Initial Consultation

Wiltshire Council undertook an initial consultation regarding the applications on 6%
September 2022 with responses requested by 11" November 2022. User groups,
Wilsford and Charlton St. Peter Parish Council directly affected landowners,

adjoining landowners, the council member for area, and all interested parties were
consulted as part of this process. A copy of that consultation letter and responses

can be seen at appendix 2- consultation.

Main Considerations for the Council

The definitive map and statement of public rights of way are conclusive evidence as
to the particulars contained therein, however this is without prejudice to any question
whether the public had at that date any right of way other than that right. Wiltshire
Council is the Surveying Authority for the County of Wiltshire, excluding the Borough
of Swindon. The Surveying Authority is the body responsible for the preparation and
continuous review of the definitive map and statement of public rights of way. The
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53(2)(b) applies:

“As regards every definitive map and statement the Surveying Authority shall-

(a) as soon as reasonably practicable after the commencement date, by order
make such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be
requisite in consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of any of the

events specified in subsection (3); and

(b)  as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous review and
as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on or after that date,
of any of these events, by order make such modifications to the map and

statement as appear to them to be requisite in consequence of that event.”

8.2. The event referred to in subsection 2 (as above) is:

32

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 65

Appendix 1- Applications 33



“(3) (c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all

other relevant evidence available to them) shows —

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or
is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map
relates, being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists
is a public path, a restricted byway or subject to section 54A, a byway open
to all traffic.

(ii) ii)that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a

particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different
description; or

(iii)  that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map and statement
as a highway of any description, or any other particulars contained in the
map and statement require modification.

8.3. Section 53 (5) of the Act allows any person to apply for a definitive map modification

order under subsection 2 (above), as follows:

“Any person may apply to the authority for an order under subsection (2) which
makes such modifications as appear to the authority to be requisite in consequence
of the occurrence of one or more events falling within paragraph (b) or (c) of
subsection (3); and the provisions of Schedule 14 shall have effect as to the making

and determination of applications under this subsection.”
8.4. Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, states:

“Form of applications

1. An application shall be made in the prescribed form and shall be

accompanied by:

(a) a map drawn to the prescribed scale and showing the way or ways to

which, the application relates; and
33

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 66

Appendix 1- Applications 34



(b) copies of any documentary evidence (including statements of witnesses)

which the applicant wishes to adduce in support of the application.”

The prescribed scale is included within the “Statutory Instruments 1993 No.12
Rights of Way — The Wiildlife and Countryside (Definitive Maps and Statements)
Regulations 1993”, which states that “A definitive map shall be on a scale of not
less than 1/25,000.”

2. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the applicant shall serve a notice stating that
the application has been made on every owner and occupier of any land to which

the application relates

(2) If, after reasonable inquiry has been made, the authority are satisfied that it is
not practicable to ascertain the name or address of an owner or occupier of any
land to which the application relates, the authority may direct that the notice
required to be served on him by sub-paragraph (1) may be served by addressing it
to him by the description “owner’ or ‘occupier’ of the land (describing it) and by

affixing it to some conspicuous object or objects on the land.

(3) When the requirements of this paragraph have been complied with, the

applicant shall certify that fact to the authority.
(4) Every notice or certificate under this paragraph shall be in the prescribed form.

8.5 Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, states that the authority may consider a range

of historical documents and their provenance:
“Evidence of dedication of a way as highway

A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not been
dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if any, took place,
shall take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality or other relevant
document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such weight thereto as the
court or tribunal considers justified by the circumstances, including the antiquity of

the tendered document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose for

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 67

Appendix 1- Applications 35



9.1

9.2

which it was made or compiled, and the custody in which it has been kept and from

which it is produced.”

Historic Records

Maps and documents dating back to the 18" century have been viewed depicting the
area concerned. Although it can be helpful to present these in chronological order to
show the consistent recording of a way over time it does not allow for the need to
apply evidential weight to documents. For example, although a way may appear on
many commercial maps it does not necessarily carry as much evidential weight as if
the way is shown in two publicly consulted documents or created, say, as the result
of an Act of Parliament.

Therefore, in evaluating historical evidence it is necessary to recognise that differing
weight must be given to different evidence. The following categorisation has been

used.

Category A carries the highest weight and category F the lowest. This system of
categorisation has been devised by officers with regard to The Planning
Inspectorate’s Consistency Guidelines (as revised to date of report) and Chapter 6 of
the book ‘Rights of Way A Guide to Law and Practice — Fourth Edition’ by John
Riddall and John Trevelyan.

35

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 68

Appendix 1- Applications 36



Category May provide evidence for Examples
A Legal creation of a highway Inclosure Acts, awards, and plans
Reputation of a way as a Orders creating, diverting, or
highway extinguishing highways
Physical existence of a way Railway and canal acts and plans
Conclusive evidence of public Definitive map and statement
rights
B Reputation of a way as a Documents, maps, plans drawn up
highway as a result of legislation, consulted
Physical existence of a way upon, but whose primary purpose
was not to record public rights.
l.e., Tithe Commission, Inland
Revenue Finance Act
C Reputation of a way as a Includes local government records
highway (highway board, county council,
Physical existence of a way parish council)
D Reputation of a way as a Other maps and documents
highway showing highways additional to or
Physical existence of way as a part of their purpose. Includes
parish maps, estate plans,
conveyances
E Reputation of a way as a Commercial maps, some Ordnance
highway Survey records
Physical existence of a way
F Reputation of a way as a Local repute, consultation

highway
Physical evidence of a way

responses

10. Category A

10.1 Evidence within this category is potentially of the highest weight and includes

conclusive evidence (i.e., the definitive map and statement), inclosure acts, awards

and plans, legal orders or events and deposited railway plans (i.e., arising from an

act of parliament which specifically required the identification and verification of

public rights of way).

10.2 Inclosure

Between 1545 and 1880 the old system of farming scattered arable strips of land and

grazing animals on common pasture was gradually replaced as landowners sought

to improve the productivity of their land. The process of inclosure began by

agreement between the parties concerned, although locally powerful landowners

may have had considerable influence on the outcome. By the early eighteenth

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 69

Appendix 1- Applications

36

37



century, a process developed by which a Private Act of Parliament could be
promoted to authorise inclosure where the consent of all those with an interest was
not forthcoming. The process was further refined at the beginning of the nineteenth
century with the passing of two main general Acts, bringing together the most
commonly used clauses and applying these to each local act unless otherwise

stated.

10.3 Charlton St. Peter Inclosure Award 1780 Award-WSHC (Wiltshire and Swindon
History Centre) Ref- EA/16

The Charlton St. Peter inclosure award of 1780 likely refers to the route of CSTP6
within the award, although the route itself is not set out within the award as it likely
pre dates the inclosure award. Setting out a public road within the award it is stated
“one other public road branching out of the said Turnpike road opposite to a lane in
the village of Charlton called White Lane..” The turnpike road now being the A.342.
As will be referenced several times in this report the route of CSTP6 is clearly
referred to in historic documents as White Lane. The route being set out is almost
certainly what is now byway open to all traffic CSTP7, the route immediately south of
CSTP6, on the south side of the A.342. The applicant for 2011/03 states in their
summary of evidence that the 1780 inclosure award refers to White Lane as part of
the public road called Portway from Charlton to Salisbury. The applicant includes the
extract from the inclosure award “one other public road branching out of the said
Turnpike road opposite to a lane in the village of Charlton called White Lane...... the
same being part of the Public Road called Portway leading from Charlton to
Salisbury”. The missing text is key for context of the quote as it goes on to describe
in detail the public road that is being set out leading south from the Turnpike road
opposite to a lane in the village of Charlton called White Lane. The public road called
Portway from Charlton to Salisbury does not necessarily include White Lane as is
inferred and it is agreed it is not set out by the inclosure award. It could be seen that
a traveller was at or had reached Charlton at the south end of the public road
(Portway) set out in the award, as White Lane is described as in the village of
Charlton. Officers conclude the 1780 inclosure award refers to the physical existence

of a lane called White Lane (CSTP6) in the village of Charlton and was opposite the

37

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 70

Appendix 1- Applications 38



10.4

public road set out in the award called Portway which led from Charlton to Salisbury,
but its status is not directly referred to or set out within said award. It is possible to
conclude White Lane was a public road and the continuation of the awarded public

road but the 1780 award does not make this clear.

The 1780 Charlton award also sets out and describes a road named “Wilsford Road”
as “One other public road of its present breadth being more than the breadth of forty
feet branching out ( document damaged) turnpike road at the south east of a furlong
called townsend furlong and extending from hence northward in its ancient course or
direction to the west end of the west lane in the village of Charlton from hence of the
breadth of forty feet in its ancient course or direction westward to its usual entrance
into the parish of Wilsford the same being part of the road leading from the village of
Charlton to Wilsford”. 1t is more likely than not that this describes the route of CSTP2
from the A.342(turnpike road) north and turning west towards the Wilsford parish
boundary. Other maps from the early 19t century onwards show no other route or
road this description would accurately describe other than the route of CSTP2 from
the A.342 to the Wilsford parish boundary. Other evidence documented in this report
also label this route “the Wilsford Road” It is noted that the route west towards the
village (now part of CSTP2) may be described here as “the west lane” but is not part

of the route set out in the award.

38

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 71

Appendix 1- Applications 39



10.5 A photo of the award.

10.6 When investigating any inclosure award, it is important that all aspects of the
inclosure are examined to understand that individual inclosure. This usually involves
looking at three aspects: The Act, the award and the map or plan. These three
documents will explain what land had been enclosed and what highways including
footpaths or bridleways may have been set out as part of the inclosure. In the case of

the 1780 Charlton Inclosure there is no plan or map.

39

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 72

Appendix 1- Applications 40



10.7 The Charlton St Peter inclosure award was subject to an Act made in 1780 named an
Act for Dividing and Alotting the Open Common Fields, Common Downs, Common
Meadows, Common Pastures, Waste Lands, and Commonable Places, in the Parish
of Charlton, in the County of Wilts (WSHC ref: A1/215/11).

AN ’
C T

F OR

A

Dividing and Allotting the Open Common
Fields, Common Downs, Common Mea-
dows, Common Paftures, Wafte Lands,
and Commonable Places, in the Parifh of
Charitan, in the County of FFilts.

emmme— smow
26 G, 111, E“
1780, =g
_ui'

y

The Act sets out the commissioners who will execute the act and the powers those
commissioners had. On page 6 of the Act, it is enacted that the “said commissioners
or any two of them, shall, in the first place, set out and appoint such public and

private roads and ways...so as all such public roads be made of the breadth of forty

feet at the least’.
10.8 Wilsford Inclosure Award and Plan 1808 (WSHC ref EA/78)

The Wilsford Inclosure award of 1808 includes a map dated 1808 and is subject to an
Act of 1801 entitled “An Act for dividing and allotting in severalty the open and
common fields and downs, common meadows, common pastures, and commonable

40

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 73

Appendix 1- Applications 41



and waste lands, in or belonging to the parish, manors or tithings of Wilsford,
otherwise Willsford Dauntsey, otherwise Willesford Dauntsey , in the County of
Wilts”. The award describes the various highways set out by the commissioners
appointed, these ways are numbered within the award and relate to the number

depicted on the appended plan.

10.9 The plan, entitled “A map of the Manor or Tithing of Wilsford otherwise Willsford
Dauntsey in the County of Wilts As Divided and Allotted under an Act of Parliament
1808, at a scale of 6 chains to an inch, depicts the route of WILS5 and it is

numbered 15 on the plan.

Route of WILS5

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 74

Appendix 1- Applications

41

42



Close up extract, showing the route numbered 15.

10.10 The award describes number 15 as “One private carriage road and drift way of the
breadth of twenty feet numbered (15) in the said plan hereunto annexed (including
the said public foot way hereinbefore eighthly described which leads through and
along the same) branching out of the said sixthly described road where the said
footway crosses the same and extending from thence in an eastward direction to an
old inclosure belonging to the said Francis Dugdale Astley on the north side thereof
and an allotment to him the said Francis Dugdale Astley on the south side thereof
which said Private Carriage Road and Driftway shall be and remain for the use of the
owners and occupiers of the several allotments and old inclosures adjoining thereto

and to which the same leads”

42

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 75

Appendix 1- Applications 43



A photo of the award and page that the route is described on.

10.11 The award relies on a local Act of 1801 and the general enclosure Act of 1801. The

general enclosure Act of 1801 provided a common framework to be used to

standardise enclosures across the country.

A photo of the front of the local 1801 act.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 76

Appendix 1- Applications

43

44



10.12 Commissioners and a surveyor were appointed and undertook an oath to exercise
the powers of the local Act of 1801 in an honest and impartial manner. Their oaths
and signatures are recorded on the front page of the award. The two commissioners
named are John Gale of Stert, Wiltshire and John Butcher of Easton, Wiltshire. The
surveyor, William Tubb of Fisherton Anger, Wiltshire, also signs an oath on the same
document. They all sign their oaths at The Bell Inn in Lydeway, Urchfont, Wiltshire on
the 2" of June 1802.

10.13 The private Act of 1801 sets out the commissioner and surveyor who have been
appointed and the powers they have. On page 9 of the act, it sets out the
commissioners’ powers to appoint and set out public and private highways. It states “
the said commissioners shall , and they are hereby authorised and required to set
out, ascertain , order, and appoint both public and private roads, highways,
bridleways, and footways, ditches, drains, hatches, watercourses, bridges, gates,
stiles, fences, mounds, banks, bounds and landmarks, in , over, upon, and through,
or by the sides of the lands and grounds hereby intended to be divided and allotted,
with the dimensions and breadths thereof , so as all public roads and highways (

k24

except bridleways and footpaths) shall be and remain thirty feet broad at the least ...

10.14 It is clear public roads, private carriageways and public footways were set out as
part of the 1808 Wilsford Inclosure award which was enrolled with Clerk of the Peace
for Wiltshire in 1809. The width and routes of those routes are clearly described and
depicted in the award and map and unless an act of law has extinguished or
amended these rights since this inclosure documents then these rights still exist. The
route subject to application D/2021/105 is set out as a private carriage road, driftway
and a public footway.

10.15 Quarter Sessions Great Rolls, Hilary 1739 (WSHC Ref: A1/110/1739H)

Quarter sessions were court sessions held four times a year overseen by the justice
of the peace for the county to hear all number of issues ranging from criminal to civil

matters, including the repair and maintenance of highways. They have been in

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 77

Appendix 1- Applications 45



existence since the 14" century and were only fully abolished in 1972, although from

1888 following the establishment of county councils they had limited functionality.

10.16 The transcript referring to White Lane (part of CSTP6) recorded at quarter session
in 1739 that the highway was obstructed by Richard Davis on 25" March 1739. The
highway is described as a “common highway leading from Marlborough in the county
of wilts aforesaid in by and through Charleton in the County aforesaid to New Sarum
in the county aforesaid for all persons their horses’ cattle carts and carriages’. The
obstruction is recorded as being “upon part of the highway aforesaid called White
Lane”. The document is inscribed on the reverse “a bill” and signed by five witnesses
including the Clerk of the Peace, William Hawkes who also signs the transcript.
William Hawkes being the Clerk of the Peace for Wiltshire from 1736-1743. An image

of the document can be seen below, and the full transcript provided by the applicant.

45

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 78

Appendix 1- Applications 46



10.17 This document clearly describes the section of a highway known as White Lane in
Charlton as being a common highway for people, horses, cattle, carts, and carriages
in 1739.

10.18 The Deposited Plans of the Andover, Radstock and Bristol Railway 1866
(WSHC Ref: A1/371/112)
Individual railway and canal schemes were promoted by Special Acts. The process
for Canal Schemes was codified in 1792 by a Parliamentary Standing Order and
these arrangements were extended to cover Railway Schemes in 1810. The
requirements for railways were expanded in the 1845 Act, which requires public
rights of way which cross the route of a railway to be retained unless their closure
has been duly authorised. It was a requirement that all highways which were subject
to proposed railway were identified and the owners / occupiers were consulted. It
was against the interest of the company to show a nonexistent highway or to show a
status higher than was actually the case because if a bridge was required to pass
that highway the span would need to be wider for a public carriage road. The plans
and reference book were subject to public consultation and any errors should have
been highlighted and or objected to. The omission of a route or under recording of
rights did not have the power to extinguish those rights. It is stated in the 1845 Act
“True copies of the said plans and book of reference...shall be received in all courts
of Justice or elsewhere as evidence of the Contents thereof”. For the reasons stated
railway plans are considered strong evidence of public rights at the time of the

scheme.

10.19 The sections and reference book have been viewed at the WSHC. The section
plans depict the area the planned railway was to be built within an area of deviation
and the public highways it was to cross. Those identified highways are then listed in

the book of reference.

10.20 In this case the railway was not built. The Definitive Map Orders Consistency
Guidelines produced by The Planning Inspectorate (last reviewed April 2016) state at
paragraph 10.2.4 “Where schemes were not completed, the plans were still produced
to form the basis for legislation and were still in the public domain. Whilst they are

46

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 79

Appendix 1- Applications a7



likely to provide useful topographical details, they may not be as reliable as those

that have passed through the whole parliamentary process.”

10.21 The plans include an overview map which depicts the route of the planned railway
on an OS base map. An extract of that map is shown below, with the planned route
marked by a red line, it passes south of Wilsford (Wivelsford on the map) and
Charlton, passing through what is now CSTP2 and CSTP6.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 80

Appendix 1- Applications

47

48



10.22 The sections book depicts the planned route in detail, within a line of deviation. The
whole railway route was split into several different numbered lines, the section going
through Wilsford and Charlton was named Railway No.2 and the relevant section is
shown on sheet 14 of the sections book. The line of deviation is marked by the two
dashed lines. The route of CSTPG6 is shown at 1 mile 2 'z furlongs along the line and
the route of CSTP2 is shown between 1 mile and 3-4 furlongs along the line. The
route of CSTP2 is numbered 33 and CSTP6 is numbered 21, these numbers are
then referred to in the book of reference.

Route of CSTP2 Route of CSTP6

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 81

Appendix 1- Applications 49



10.23

A closer view of the route of CSTP6 as shown in the section book, it can be seen
there are a number of buildings lining the lane which is fenced. The sections book
states that to accommodate the line a bridge was to be built “road level unaltered,

Arch 25ft span 15ft high”.

10.24

A closer view of the route of CSTP2 as shown in the section book, it can be seen the

first section from the road to the south is fenced and where it turns west it becomes
49

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 82

Appendix 1- Applications 50



unfenced. A number of land parcels make up the land between the track of CSTP6
and 2, which are referenced in the book of reference. The land parcel numbered 26
may be a route linking the CSTP2 and 6.

10.25 The reference book gives a description of the property by number in reference to
the section plans and states who the owners or reputed owners and occupiers of that
land are. Under Railway No.2, reference no.21 (the lane of CSTP6) is recorded as a
“Public Highway” in the ownership of “The Devizes Highway District Board, The
Waywardens of the parish”

10.26 The reference book for reference no.33 (the route of CSTP2 leading north from the
turnpike road and then west towards Wilsford) is described as an “occupation road’
in the ownership of “The Earl of Normarton and The Representatives of the late
lieutenant Colonel Burton” and occupied by “Henry Wansbrough the younger , James
Davis, William Wicks and George Witchell”

10.27 The field to the west of parcel no.33 in the sections book and to the south of the
unfenced lane is numbered 34. In the reference book this parcel is described as “field
and occupation road” in the ownership of “the late lieutenant Colonel Burton” and

occupied by “ Henry Wansbrough the younger”.

50

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 83

Appendix 1- Applications 51



10.28 The route between CSTP2 and 6 is divided between several parcels of land.

The parcels are described as the following in the book of reference, with ownership

and occupiers named.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 84

Appendix 1- Applications

51

52



10.29 Parcel 26 is described as an occupation road, as well as a footpath and field, hence
likely a spur of parcel 33 which is also described as an occupation road. Occupation
roads were recorded differently to public roads and are usually understood to be
roads laid out for the benefit of adjoining properties. In the reference book it can be
seen unlike parcel 21 (CSTP6) these routes (26 and 33) were in private ownership ,
parcel 21 being described as a public highway and in the ownership of the highways
board and waywardens of the parish. Parcel 26a described as a garden would

appear to stop the occupation road (26) from linking to parcel 21.

10.30 The 1866 railway evidence appears to suggest the route of CSTP6 was considered

to be a public highway and the route of CSTP2 was not.

52

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 85

Appendix 1- Applications 53



10.31 The deposited Plans of The Direct Western Railway 1845 (WSHC ref: A1/371/41)
The plans for this (never built) railway were deposited with the clerk of the peace for
Wiltshire on 30" Nov. 1845. The planned railway passed through the parishes of
Wilsford and Charlton. The area of interest for this case is the section which was
planned to cross the route of CSTP2/WILS5.

10.32 On sheet 28 within the sections book the route can be seen crossing, within the line
of deviation for the railway, the route of WILS5. The track of WILSS is numbered 11
on the plan and is between 55 miles and 1-4 furlongs along the line of the railway.
The route passes into the parish of Charlton St. Peter but by that point the route is

outside of the line of deviation for the railway and is not shown in its entirety or
numbered.

Route of WILS5

53

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 86

Appendix 1- Applications 54



10.33 The reference book shows that no.11 is described as a “public highway” in the
ownership and occupied by “William Pearce Hayward and Harry Hayward Surveyors

of the Highways of the Parish’.

10.34 The 1845 railway evidence suggests that the route of WILS5 was considered a

public highway in that year.

10.35 Definitive Map and Statement

As a result of the National Parks and access to the Countryside Act 1949 every
surveying authority (in this case Wiltshire Council) holds and maintains a definitive
map and statement which is a legal record of the public rights of way in its area. If a
way is shown on the map then it is legal conclusive evidence that those rights existed
at the relevant date of the map. However, the absence of a route is not conclusive
that there may be unrecorded rights or the showing of, for example, a footpath, does

not preclude that a higher right on horseback may be unrecorded.

54

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 87

Appendix 1- Applications 55



10.36 The Pewsey Rural District Council Area Definitive Map and Statement dated 1952

depict the routes subject to the application.

See below image of the definitive map (original scale 1:25,000)

10.37 The definitive statements for the affected paths are currently recorded as the below.

Charlton 6 FOOTPATH. From the spur of path
No.2 leading south to the Devizes -
Andover road, A.342, by the Charlton
Cat.

Approximate length 274 m.
Width 1.2 m.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 88

Appendix 1- Applications

relevant date
24th March 1992
Part subject

to ploughing

55

56



Charlton 2 BRIDLEWAY. From the Devizes - relevant date
Andover road, A.342, 274 m west of
the Charlton Cat, leading north, north-
west, north-east, and north to the
North Newnton Parish boundary, south
of Cuttenham Farm; with a spur, 91 m
from its southern end, leading east to
the western end of road U/C 8044.

24th March 1992

Approximate length 1.6 km.

Width 4.5 m.

Wilsford 5 BRIDLEWAY. From road U/C 8043, Relevant date
south of Wilsford House, leading south- 24" March 1992
east to the Charlton Parish boundary.

Approximate length 480 m

10.38 The preliminary step to creating the definitive map of public rights of way, as a result
of the National Parks and Countryside Access (NPACA) act 1949, was for each
parish to submit a map to the county council marking the public rights of way which
they believed existed in their parish. The parish claim maps for Charlton St. Peter
and Wilsford can be seen below. These documents are seen as category C evidence

but due to their relevance to the definitive map process are presented here.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 89

Appendix 1- Applications 57



10.39 Charlton St. Peter Parish Claim Map.

10.40 The surveyor also filled in a survey card for each path. The cards for CSTP2 and 6
record the routes were surveyed in November 1950. The route of CSTP2 is recorded
as having a grass surface, 1 field gate ,1 cart bridge which is repaired by the county
council, no direction posts and a fence which obstructs the branch to Wilsford. The

route is claimed as C.R.B (Carriage Road Bridleway).

10.41 When claiming routes for the draft definitive map all parish councils in Wiltshire were
issued, by Wiltshire County Council, the memorandum prepared by the Commons,
Open Spaces and Footpaths Preservation Society in collaboration with the Ramblers
Association: recommend by the County Councils Association. This document guided
Parish Councils on how to identify paths for the draft definitive map. This guidance
included advice that paths could be labelled C.R.F or C.R.B (carriage road footpaths
or bridleways), these are described as public carriage or Cart Roads, or Green

(unmetalled) Lanes mainly used as a footpaths or bridleways. As such some

57

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 90

Appendix 1- Applications 58



parishes did claim path as C.R.Fs or C.R.Bs but the correct permitted status was to
record these paths as RUPPs (Roads Used as Public Paths), the advice appears to
have been unclear to some parishes. As a result, a number of routes are claimed in
Wiltshire as C.R.Fs and C.R.Bs when the correct status to record should have been
as a RUPP, as indicated by the symbology used on the definitive map. Routes
recorded as RUPPs (including routes incorrectly recorded as C.R.F.s and C.R.Bs)
were to be reclassified as result of the Countryside Act of 1968. This act required all
routes recorded as RUPPs to be reclassified, this involved determining what rights
should be recorded on those routes recorded as RUPPs, whether they were
footpaths, bridleways or had vehicular rights. This second and special review of the
definitive map was unable to resolve all the routes recorded as RUPPs in the county
before the 1981 Wildlife and Countryside Act came into force, which permitted
authorities to continuously review their definitive map. Under this duty Wiltshire
County Council sought to determine outstanding issues from the second and special

review.

10.42 The route of CTSP2 was part of this process and it was determined during the
second and special review of the definitive map that the route of CSTP2 was to be
recorded, by agreement, as a bridleway. An order was made to record this

reclassification in 1992.

10.43 The survey card for CSTP6 records the route as a footway and was surveyed in
November 1950. The surface is recorded as “none”, 2 bridle gates are recorded, the
location of which are denoted on the claim map, and no direction posts are recorded.
It is noted that it is “fenced to field (could read as first) gate, lane?? open” The map
implies the route would be unfenced between the end of the lane from the north to

the Charlton Cat, simialr to the on the ground situation today.

WHETHER FENCED OR OPENVa.4. s o € fast o’
‘\f.ks-. -:-'FLL

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 91

Appendix 1- Applications 59



10.44 Wilsford Parish Claim Map.

10.45 The survey card for WILS5 records the route as a bridle path or B.P, the surface is
recorded as grass, and it has gafes and it is recorded as being unfenced. No date of
survey or other information is recorded. The map and survey card do not record

where the gafes are located.

11. Category B

Category B evidence may be documents or plans drawn up as a result of legislation
and consulted upon but where the primary purpose was not to record public rights.
Examples of this includes records from the Tithe Commissioners and the Inland

Revenue.
11.1 The Tithe Commutation Act of 1836

A system of taxation existed in Britain whereby farmers and people who worked the

land were bound to pay tithes to the church. These payments were in kind and

59

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 92

Appendix 1- Applications 60



generally represented one tenth of production. The system was both unpopular,
cumbersome, and increasingly unjust as the industrial revolution gathered pace. The
Tithe Commutation Act of 1836 sought to commute these tithe payments in kind to
annual rent-charges. Parliament appointed a three-man commission to direct a staff
of assistant commissioners, valuers and surveyors who mapped, valued, and
apportioned rent charges among thousands of separate parcels of the tithable land in

different states of cultivation.

11.2 Tithe surveys required careful mapping and examination of the landscape and land
use and the maps and apportionments documents that resulted can offer valuable

evidence of how the parish was at that time.

11.3 The Tithe Commissioners seconded Robert K Dawson from the Royal Engineers to
organise and superintend the land surveys. Dawson had a background in surveying
and produced a paper, the details of which it was considered all tithe maps should be
drawn to. This paper (British Parliamentary Paper XLIV 405 1837) only ever served
in an advisory capacity as the Tithe Act itself contained contradictory clauses on the
nature of maps (Tithe Surveys for Historians by Roger J P Kain and Hugh C. Prince)
and was amended in 1837 allowing commissioners to accept maps of a variety of

scales and dates.

11.4 Roger J P Kain and Richard Oliver in The Tithe Maps of England and Wales at page
23 note that the portrayal of features on tithe maps is very variable across parishes
and that advice to the privately commissioned surveyors was itself imprecise and that
although the official instructions required that surveyors should include such detail on
their maps as it is usual to find on estate maps, there was no statutory requirement to
do this.

11.5 There are however general conventions that are observed and at page 24 Kain and
Oliver observe that:
“‘Roads are usually shown on tithe maps as they normally bounded individual tithe
areas. Only very rarely is their status as public or private indicated with any certainty,
though the general convention of colour filling public roads in sienna is often

followed.”

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 93

Appendix 1- Applications 61



“Foot and Bridleways ...are sometimes explicitly annotated as such, but more usually

they are indicated by single or double pecked lines.”

11.6. 1841 Tithe Map and Apportionment for Charlton St. Peter -WHSC Ref- TA/
Charlton St. Peter

The 1841 tithe map for Charlton St Peter has been viewed at the WSHC. The map is
at a scale of 6 chains to an inch. The relevant section can be seen below. The route
of CSTP2, north from the A.342 and leading west is shown in the manner of the local
road network, excluded from tithable land, the same applies to the route of CTSP6.
The roads are uncoloured on the map. There is no clear, land or route excluded from

tithe linking the two north/south routes as the route of CSTP2 is now recorded.

Route of CSTP2 Route of CSTP6

11.7 The apportionment records two parcels as sharing a boundary with “White Lane” (the
route of CSTP6). Those being parcel 36, which is named as “allotment at the bottom
of white lane” and under the heading “ state of cultivation” it is recorded as “pasture”,

and parcel 35 which is recorded as “ Coopers close adjoining white lane” and as a

61

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 94

Appendix 1- Applications 62



“‘meadow”. The other parcels between the two north/ south tracks making up CSTP6

and CSTP2 are referenced in the apportionment as follows.

26 - Cottage and garden

27 - Simpers homestead and close- - meadow
28 - Close adjoining west Garston- pasture

29 - West Garston- arable

33 - Cottage and garden

34 - Close late Daniels- arable

None of these parcels appear to show a clear through route in the manner of a public
or even private road.
11.8 The apportionment also records “Lanes waste and River” as 7 acres 0 roods 0

perches. This shows the surveyor was recording highways/ lanes.

11.9 The map shows the route of CSTP6 with a dashed line where the track turns east
into the village, indicating a change of boundary or vegetation. A pencil line appears

to have been drawn on at a later date just south of Timber Lodge , where there is a
stile today.

11.10 The applicant for application D/2021/105 suggests the Charlton tithe map is
considered a 1%t class map. Usually, a 15t class tithe map would be at a scale of 3
chains to an inch, the Charlton map is 6 chains to an inch. Officers have also
consulted Roger J P Kain and Richard Oliver’s book The Tithe Maps of England and
Wales, the Charlton map is not referenced as a 15 class map in that book. Other
maps which are considered 1%t class are labelled as such in the book.

62

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 95

Appendix 1- Applications 63



11.11 Wilsford Tithe Map and Apportionment 1844 — WSHC Ref -T/A Wilsford

The Wilsford tithe map and apportionment of 1844 has been viewed at the WSHC.
The map is drawn at a scale of 6 chains to an inch. It depicts the route of WILS5
coloured sienna in the manner of the rest of the highway network and is annotated
“To Charlton”. It is noted that a number of other routes shown coloured sienna on the
map are either not public highway or of a lower status than a vehicular highway in

2023, although these routes have not been investigated.

Route of WILS5

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 96

Appendix 1- Applications

63

64



11.12

The above modern map extract is provided as a comparison to the tithe map,
showing the different statuses of the routes coloured sienna within the tithe map.
Routes shaded blue are public roads, public footpaths are shown by a purple line,
public bridleways by green lines and public byways by brown lines. Routes subject to
DMMO applications to upgrade the routes or record routes are annotated by a
dashed blue lines. A number of routes on the tithe map are not recorded as public in

any manner and not subject to DMMO applications as of January 2023.

11.13 The tithe apportionment has been viewed and the parcels either side of the track on
the route of WILS5 are either labelled as arable or meadow, no mention of the track

or road is made.

11.14 The applicant for D/2021/105 again claims the Wilsford map to be a 15! class tithe
map, as for the case of the Charlton tithe map, the Wilsford map is not of the normal
scale for a 15t class map and is not referenced as such in Roger J P Kain and
Richard Oliver’s book The Tithe Maps of England and Wales.

11.15 The routes on both tithe maps can be seem as being not tithe able land, as they are
separate from any parcel of land and not numbered which may be indicative of a

public highway. Defining the status of highways was not the purpose of the tithe act

64

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 97

Appendix 1- Applications 65



or maps and any route not subject to tithe may be private or public. Where it is
written “To Charlton” on the Wilsford tithe map it may be indicative of a public
highway. The Planning Inspectorate , Definitive Map Orders: Consistency Guidelines
state under the heading of tithe commutation documentation, at 8.2.13 “the
annotation of a road ‘to’ or from’ a named settlement is suggestive of public rights.”
There is no annotation at the western end of the same route on the Charlton tithe

map.

11.16 Inland Revenue Finance Act 1909/1910 In 1910 The Inland Revenue provided for
the levying of tax (Increment Value Duty) on the increase in site value of land
between its valuation on 30 April 1909 and, broadly speaking, its subsequent sale or
other transfer. The survey was usually carried out by Inland Revenue Inspectors
working in an area of the county of which they were knowledgeable. Every individual
piece of land in private ownership was recorded and mapped and, because tax was
to be levied based on area, highways and common land were carefully identified and

included in the documentation.

11.17 The following is taken from the Journal of the Society of Archivists (JSA, Vol 8(2) no
2, Oct 1986 p 95-103 “An Edwardian Land Survey: The Finance (1909-10) Act and
describes the process by which this was achieved. It is clear that the survey was
carefully undertaken by people with local knowledge:

“The Valuation Department assumed responsibility of valuation for rating purposes,
and the hereditaments of 1910 provided the basis for their work for very many years,
so that the documents of that time often continued to be used as working documents

long after the repeal of land clauses”.

“A land valuation officer was appointed to each income tax parish. These were
almost always the existing assessors of income tax (who were also frequently
assistant overseers), and some several thousand were appointed nationally. This
enabled the Inland Revenue to have local people with local knowledge undertaking

the crucial task of identifying each hereditament.”

11.18 Land that was valued for taxation purposes was shown coloured and given a

hereditament number. This number allows reference to a valuation book where

65

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 98

Appendix 1- Applications 66



deductions are listed. Deductions were permitted where the value of a property were
diminished, for example if a public right of way, an easement, or a right of common
existed. It was common practice for valuers to exclude public roads by leaving them
uncoloured and in some instances by re-enforcing their separation from the
surrounding hereditaments by drawing on ‘broken braces’. Braces were a symbol
used by the OS to link or join features and by breaking them the surveyor could show

that something was un-connected with an adjoining feature.

11.19 The Finance Act is not specific about the exclusion of roads though they may be
excluded under s.25 or Section 35(1) of the Act which says that “No duty under this
part of the Act shall by charged in respect of any land or interest held by or on behalf
of a rating authority”.

11.20 The working copy of the Finance Act plans held at WSHC have been viewed.
WHSC Ref — L8/10/41 and L8/1/125. The base maps for these records were the
Second Edition of the Ordnance Survey’s County Series maps at a scale of 1:2500.
The application routes are on one map sheet,41/10. Sheet 41/10 has been viewed
along with Valuation Book at WSHC.

66

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 99

Appendix 1- Applications 67



11.21 Seen below are images of the finance act map for the area. In the first image, the
northern half of the route of CSTP6 is shown uncoloured and separate to the taxable
land. The southern half of the route is part of the land numbered 78 and where it
enters the land around the Poores Arms it is part of parcel no.34. It is apparent from
the base map used, dated 1900, that the central section of the route is no longer part

of the same continuous track as per older maps.

67

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 100

Appendix 1- Applications 68



11.22 The route of CSTP2 and WILSS in its entirety is not excluded and are coloured
within land parcels 78 and 3 in Charlton and 82 in the parish of Wilsford.

11.23 The valuation book has been viewed for parcels 3,34,78 and 82, no rights of way
deductions have been recorded within the book for any of the parcels. Only the
northern half of CSTP6 and the section of CSTP2 east of its junction with CSTP6 is
shown uncoloured within the Finance Act records, which is possibly indicative of

public highway status.

68

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 101

Appendix 1- Applications 69



12. Category C

12.1 Evidence in this category includes local government records (i.e., parish council, rural
district council, highway board and county council), that is records whose purpose is
connected with the administration of public assets, has legal responsibility for the
protection of public rights and assets and is subject to public scrutiny. These include

records of bodies whose function is the highway authority.

12.2 These can be important records as they relate to maintenance liability and can be a

clear indication of public acceptance of same.
12.3 Rural District Council Takeover Map ¢.1930

12.4 The Local Government Act 1929 required that the maintenance responsibility for rural
roads passed to the County Council. As a result of this records known as the
Takeover Maps were produced by the RDCs and passed to Wiltshire County
Council.

12.5 Below is an image of the Takeover map for the area held by Wiltshire Council. No

section of the application routes are marked on this map.

69

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 102

Appendix 1- Applications 70



12.6 Enquiries have been made by officers to view the Wilsford and Charlton St. Peter
Parish council minutes at the WSHC. Archivists confirmed to officers that the WSHC
does not hold any records for Wilsford and Charlton St. Peter. Officers have made
enquiries with the parish clerk for Wilsford and Charlton St. Peter to view the parish
council minutes , the clerk has informed officers that no records pre 2008 can be

found following enquiries in the parish.
12.7 Wiltshire County Council Highway Record

Sometime after the taking over of the responsibility for rural roads Wiltshire County
Council amalgamated the information and produced a highway record. This record
has been maintained and amended since that time and forms part of the Council’s
records of highways maintainable at public expense. No part of the application routes

are recorded on these records.

13. Category D

Evidence in this category includes documents showing highways as additional to

their main purpose and can be evidence of repute or physical existence of a route.
70

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 103

Appendix 1- Applications 71



13.1 A Plan of the Parish of Charlton 1804 — WSHC Ref- 1225/237

This detailed plan of the parish dated 1804 at a scale of 5 chains to an inch was
produced with a reference book which records the name of the parcels of land, which
are numbered with reference to the plan, acreage of the land, exclusive of roads and
the area of the roads if any, and the annual value of that land. It is clearly an in-depth
survey of all land within the parish of Charlton St. Peter concerned with tithes,

unfortunately the surveyor or authors name for the plan and book, or where it was
deposited are not apparent.

13.2 The plan is not orientated to north, as such the images of the map are inverted as to

make them easier to understand from a topographical point of view, however this
results in the text appearing upside down.

Route of CSTP6 , labelled “White Lane”

13.3 The above extract shows the route of CSTP6 coloured yellow/sienna in the same

manner as other roads. It is written on the route “White Lane”, which is the only

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 104

Appendix 1- Applications 72



named road on the plan in the whole parish. The lane is not measured and valued

with any other property.

13.4

Route of CSTP2

13.5 The route of CSTP2 is shown colourd yellow/sienna from the Wilsford parish
boundary leading east towards Charlton. It appears to be fenced or gated where it
meets the water course at the western boundary of the village. This section of the
trakc is measured. The route continues south to the turnpike road (A.342)
uncoloured. There is no clear route leading east to link to White Lane ( CSTP6) as

per the recorded route of bridleway CSTP2 and the application route.

72

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 105

Appendix 1- Applications 73



13.6 The sienna coloured section of the route of CSTP2 is referred to in the reference

book where the adjoining land parcels are recorded.

This image has been orientated with south at the top of the image so that the text is
the correct way up. The parcel of land numbered V.70 to the south of the route of

CSTP2 is named “North of Wilsford Road” in the reference book. The parcel of land
south of the the route numbered V.72 is named “Between D and Turnpike road part
of Wilsford and Turnpike Road”. An area of road is recoded as part of that land at 3
acres 1 rood and 26 perches. Those parcels of land are recorded as part of the The

Earl Drax Esquires freehold lands.

13.7

73

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 106

Appendix 1- Applications 74



The above image, again orienatated with south to the top of the image so that the
text can easily be read, shows the area between White Lane and the section of
CSTP2 which leads from the A.342 or turnpike road. Part of the application route and
CSTP2 leads in this area from east to west , no route is apparent on the 1804 plan.
The approximate route of the recorded route of CTSP2 would lead through the parcel
of land labelled F 1.0.19 or V. 15 and continue west to the uncoloured lane. The land
labelled V.15 and F 1.0.19 appear to be recorded as the same land in the reference
book and named “ Cooper Close adjoining White Lane”, no area of road is recorded
as part of this land. The land labelled F.51 0.2.33 is named in the reference book as
“Allotment at the Bottom of White Lane”, no area of road is recorded as part of this
land. The parcel of land labelled V.73 3.2.20 is named “West Garston” which is
recorded as having an area of road of 0.1.27. The land labelled P.14 and R.1.0.24 is
recorded as “Close adjoining garden” with no area of road recorded. The land
labelled P.17 is recoded as “ Simpers Homestead and close” and “Simpers Mead”.
No area of road is recorded. The three parcels of land at the northern end of White
Lane on the west side are shaded yellow, the map indicates that land coloured
yellow is in the leasehold of G.F.Fowle Esq. It seems unlikely this shading is in
reference to any road and rather the land parcels outlined with yellow. There does
not appear to be any obvious public access linking White Lane and the Wilsford
Road to the west. It is possible the land named Cooper Close and leading into
Simpers Homestead and close, could be a through route as possibly shown by the
dashed line on the map but no area of road is recorded in either parcel. If the ‘close’
or ‘Cooper Close’ was a through route its status is unclear and it was not considered
a public road. Only White Lane ( CSTP6) and the length of track leading west to the
Wilsford parish boundary are coloured yellow, the spur of CSTP2 to the A.342 is
uncoloured. It is not clear what the difference in colour indicates , perhaps a change

in surface but it is not idindicated in any key.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 107

Appendix 1- Applications 75



13.8 Survey of Property Of Sir Francis Dougdale Astley 1846 (WSHC Ref: 574/311)

This map and reference book records the land owned by Sir Francis Dugdale Astley
in the parish of Wilsford in 1846. The route of WILS5 can be seen excluded from land

parcels and shown in the manner of other roads. It is also annotated “To Charlton”.

Route of WILS5

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 108

Appendix 1- Applications 76



13.9 Sale of the Rushall Estate 1917 (WSHC Ref: 1010/18)

These sales particulars depict and describe a number of parcels of land for sale in
1917 which includes land that the application routes cross. A map is provided with

the particulars.

The route of CSTP6 is shown in the manner of the road network at the northern end
to Timber Lodge and thereafter part of the land shaded pink as part of allotment 75
which is for sale, until the route reaches the Poore’s Arms ( now The Charlton Cat).

No public right of way or highway is mentioned in the schedule of the lot 75.

13.10 The route of CSTP2 leading west from the CSTP6 is shown as part of lot 74 shaded
blue which is for sale. The route of the CSTP2 is numbered 58 on the plan within lot
74, the schedule describes n0.58 as a bridle path. The route of CSTP2 is then
excluded from plot 74 and shown in the manner of the road network, shaded sienna.

76

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 109

Appendix 1- Applications 77



13.11 The contiunation of the route of CSTP2 into the parish of Wilsford is shown on a

smaller scale map, as seen below.

This map shows a section of the route to the east of the parish boundary coloured
purple and as part of plot 67A. The path is shown on the plan as no. Pt.17. The
schedule for plot 67A desribes no. Pt.17 as a bridle road. Note the route of CSTP2

from the A.342 is not coloured in the manner of a road as the other larger scale map

shows, there is an inconsistency within the plans.

13.12 The maps contain a dsicalimer which states “ This plan is publsihed for convenience

only, and although believed to be correct its accuracy is not guaranteed”.

14. Category E

14.1 Evidence in this category includes commercial maps and Ordnance Survey maps,

plans and documents. It is usual for there to be a significant quantity of evidence in
77

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 110

Appendix 1- Applications 78



this category, and it is important to bear in mind the originality and purpose of the
documents. The value of this group of evidence lies in the continuity of records over
a long period of time and any differing origin. It must be borne in mind that this group
of documents would have had the largest public circulation outside of the parish.

14.2 Not all commercial maps are derived from the same surveys and although there is
some duplication of Ordnance Survey derived material, a number of surveyors of
early maps produced independent surveys. Hence it is useful to compare the county

maps produced by Andrews and Dury, C & | Greenwood, and the Ordnance Survey.

14.3 It must also be considered that even when surveys produced by the OS were used
by other map makers there was considerable scope for revision and updating
specific to the individual purpose. For example, maps produced by Bartholomew’s
were continually revised and early versions were verified by the Cyclists Touring
Club and Popular Series maps produced by the Ordnance Survey were revised with

reference to highway surveyors.

14.4 The applicants supplied a summary list of the evidence to assist with the making of
these applications. Those summaries include a list of category E evidence maps
depicting some or all of the application routes. These are shown in chronological
order. This list also includes other evidence the applicants researched. See
appendix 1 for the applications and a historical summary for each route submitted by
the applicants.

14.5 A selection of those commercial maps from different surveyors are included in this
report below.

78

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 111

Appendix 1- Applications 79



14.6 Andrews and Dury’s 2” map of Wiltshire 1773. (status shown - open road)

]

Plantation !{

f'?
N —. T L .. .

4 - -
= "'.r.f.lfi'.l |

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 112

Appendix 1- Applications 80



14.8 Greenwood’s 1” Map of Wiltshire 1820 (status shown - cross road- meaning not a

primary or turnpike road)

14.9 OS 2 inch drawing- sheet 62- Devizes circa 1808- (status shown — wide unfenced

track or road)

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 113

Appendix 1- Applications 81



14.10 OS 1 inch drawing sheet 14- Devizes —circa 1817- ( status shown- unfenced track

or road, no route shown linking to CSTP6)

14.11 Bartholomews 2 inch Survey Atlas 1904 (Status shown- other driving road)

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 114

Appendix 1- Applications 82



14.12 Ordnance Survey 1:2500 County Series mapping 1878 to 1923

The 1:2500 scale was introduced in 1853-4 and by 1896 it covered the whole of what
were considered the cultivated parts of Britain. J B Harley, historian of the Ordnance
Survey, records that “the maps delineate the landscape with great detail and
accuracy. In fact, practically all the significant man-made features to be found on the
ground are depicted. Many phenomena make their debut on the printed map and as
a topographical record the series transcends all previous maps. Every road....,
field...., stream and building are shown; non-agricultural land is
distinguished...quarries, sand, gravel, and clay pits are depicted separately; all
administrative boundaries are shown;.... hundreds of minor place names...appear on
the map for the first time. Where appropriate, all topographical features are shown to

scale. The series is thus a standard topographical authority”.

14.13 Richard Oliver in his book “Ordnance Survey Maps a complete guide for historians”
recognises that surveying errors (and paper distortion during printing) cannot be
ruled out, particularly where detail is sparse, but in practice such errors are likely to
be very hard to demonstrate, because of a general paucity of suitable sources

rivalling or bettering the OS in planimetric accuracy and completeness of depiction.”

14.14 Ordnance Survey maps from 1888, although presenting an accurate representation
of the landscape and its features do carry a disclaimer to the effect that the
representation of any road or track is no evidence of a public right of way.

14.15 It was the practice of the OS to allocate parcel numbers to distinct pieces of land
and measure them. These are numbered and recorded on the map as acreages.
Where applicable parcels were ‘braced’ with adjoining parcels — for example a pond
in a field may be braced with the adjoining land or a track across a field may be
braced in with the surrounding land and measured with that. However, some features
“are always separately numbered and measured irrespective of their size. They
include railways in rural areas (in built up areas they may form part of ‘Town area’),
all public roads, whether fenced or unfenced and foreshore and tidal water....” (From
Ordnance Survey Maps a descriptive manual by J B Harley published by the
Ordnance Survey 1975). For the earlier (to 1879) First Edition maps the OS
produced a Book of Reference (or Acreage Book) in which parcel numbers were

82

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 115

Appendix 1- Applications 83



listed against acreages and land use. The book was not produced for the Second

Edition maps (1900/1901) and for these (and subsequent editions) the parcel number

and acreages were printed on the sheet and land use information was dropped.

14.16 The application routes are depicted on one sheet, Wiltshire sheet 41/10. The below

table summarises what status the routes are shown as on the 1900,1924 and 1939
editions which officers have viewed at the WSHC. Also, the 1886 edition which has

been viewed online at maps.nls.uk.

OS Edition

Route

Observations

1886 sheet 41/10

CSTP6

Northern section to
Timber Lodge shown as a
fenced lane and
numbered as part of the
road leading into the
village. The colouring of
the road from the village
does stop at the northern
end of CSTP6. Section
through the car park of
Poores Arms shown as
part of the main road,
although not coloured in
the same manner. Section
between roads is shown

as an unfenced footpath.

1886 sheet 41/10

CSTP2

Section leading west from
CSTP6 not coloured and
shown as a fenced track,
separately numbered from
other parcels. Section
leading to parish

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 116

Appendix 1- Applications

83

84



boundary partly fenced

and then unfenced.

1886 sheet 41/10

WILS5

Shown as an unfenced
track, fenced, or gated at
parish boundary,
ungated/fenced at
junction with road at
western end. Route

widens as it leads west.

Not separately numbered.

1900 sheet 41/10

CSTP2

Shown in same manner
as 1886 sheet.

1900 sheet 41/10

CSTP2

Route shown in same
manner as 1886, other
than route marked B.R
(Bridle Road) leading to
parish boundary.

1900 sheet 41/10

WILSS

Route shown in same
manner as 1886, other
than route marked B.R
and now gated or fenced
at junction with road at

western end.

1924 sheet 41/10

CSTP6

Shown in same manner
as 1886.

1924 sheet 41/10

CSTP2

Route shown in same
manner as 1900, other
than southern fence

leading to parish

boundary partly removed.

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 117

Appendix 1- Applications

84

85



1924 sheet 41/10

WILSS

Route shown in same

manner as 1900.

1939 sheet 41/10

CSTP6

Route largely shown in

same manner as 1924.

1939 sheet 41/10

CSTP2

Route as of 1924, other
than southern fence
towards parish boundary

extended.

1939 sheet 41/10

WILSS

Route shown in same
manner as 1900 and
1924.

14.17 Wiltshire sheet 41/10 surveyed 1885, published 1886, scale 1:2500- CSTP6/2

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 118

Appendix 1- Applications

Maror fea

i
[ =
!

-.__W ¥ >

- &
-l_i_LL'LLL.I._a:‘l'r'Jrﬂ_":\--‘_ -
1)1‘;;:!:‘3:‘-1-_':,.,”'.' R TAALEE ,,[Q‘l x

-y

A




14.18 Wiltshire sheet 41/10 surveyed 1885, published 1886, scale 1:2500-
CSTP2/WILS5

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 119

Appendix 1- Applications

86

87



14.19 Wiltshire sheet 41/10 revised 1899, published 1900, scale 1:2500- CSTP6/2

/
g3 Manar| !'le rim

Bt |

e s E -3 Lt =
T e N st

—
o =i 3\.'-'_,:-'m.ﬁi“ﬂ“umq:‘mm“m“! %‘uﬁp;ﬂ.
& gﬁ«-‘-“’“ mj‘j
At Wi faus

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 120

Appendix 1- Applications 88



14.20 Wiltshire sheet 41/10 revised 1899, published 1900, scale 1:2500-
CSTP2/WILS5

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 121

Appendix 1- Applications

88

89



14.21 Wiltshire sheet 41/10 Revised 1922, published 1924, scale 1:2500- CSTP6/2

Charlton

BT

A

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 122

Appendix 1- Applications 90



14.22 Wiltshire sheet 49.10 Revised 1922, published 1924, scale 1:2500

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 123

Appendix 1- Applications

90

91



14.23 Wiltshire sheet 49.10 Revised 1939, published 1942, scale 1:2500- CSTP6/2

R e = T -~-=-.F'F

49
123

'“'l“u..

U i

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 124

Appendix 1- Applications 92



14.24 Wiltshire sheet 49/10 , Revised 1939, published 1942, scale 1:2500-
CSTP2/WILS5

15. Category F - Local repute, consultation responses

15.1 The initial consultation carried out regarding this application attracted ten responses.
Those responses can be seen in full at appendix 2. They come from user groups

and directly affected or adjoining landowners, the parish council, and the applicants.

92

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 125

Appendix 1- Applications 93



15.2 The responses to the consultation raise concerns as to the upgrade of the application
routes both in status and recorded widths. The routes which have junctions with the
A.342, both CSTP2 and CSTP6, would, if upgraded, allow access to horse riders ,
cyclists and horse and carriage drivers use of these potentially dangerous junctions.
The responses raise safety concerns of crossing or accessing these routes on
horseback or using a horse and carriage as the A.342 is an A road with a speed limit
of 50 mph at these points. The road is very busy and used by fast cars and HGVs,
with poor visibility due to bends in the road at the crossing points of the rights of way.

15.3 Concerns are also raised regarding obstructions which would need to be overcome if
the routes were to be available to horse / horse and carriage traffic, in particular the
route of CSTP6 which has a flight of steps leading north from the car park of the
Charlton Cat, a narrow gateway, a stile, and the track itself is not as wide as the
proposed width in the application. The entrance to CSTP2 from the A.342 has also
been raised as a safety/ accessibility concern as it is accessed via a steep slope
down into an overgrown disused sunken lane, the slope is not in its current state a
safe access onto the A.342 for any user, where there is no highway verge and is on
a bend restricting the visibility between road users and users of the right of way. It is
noted these routes are already recorded public rights of way with junctions with the

A.342, albeit with lower status in comparison to the proposed upgrades in status.

15.4 The reputation and local repute in living memory of the ways are clearly, in the case
of CSTP6, that of a footpath linking the Charlton Cat and the village. Historic
evidence shows the route has likely not had an obvious physical appearance of a
lane, beyond the northern section to Timber Lodge and a small section at the
Charlton Cat, for over 100 years, beyond living memory. It is possible to see the
appearance of sunken lane (see photos), now heavily overgrown on the route, which
is not used as walkers walk on the higher land to the east. As Mr. Fowle asserts in
his consultation response the route was likely last used as vehicular highway in a
time when motor vehicles were rare and the traffic of the A.342 would have been
horse and carts, making crossing the road at the junction of CSTP6/7 far less
dangerous than it now is. It may be the lane ceased being used and having a
reputation of a vehicular highway as the cottages on the lane disappeared likely in
the late 1800s. The route of CSTP2 from the A.342 appears to have maintained a

93

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 126

Appendix 1- Applications 94



reputation of that of a lane, but as Mr. Fowle records, it is in modern times a route not
deemed safe to use for farming operations due to its unsafe junction with the A.342.
Its spur and junction with the A.342 appear to be little used, if at all, by any user
today likely due to its lack of connectivity to other rights of way and the dangerous

nature of the junction.

15.5 The parish council have supplied a detailed response raising points regarding safety
and comments on the evidence presented by the applicants. The safety concerns
have been discussed above in paras 15.3-15.5. The comments regarding maps with
no keys and the meaning of track or road within the evidence are likely in reference
to large number of commercial maps, which have been covered in detail in this point
and are category E evidence. Whilst there is a large amount of category E evidence
which helps to form part of the evidence in this case, it is considered in the context
and in addition to the higher-grade evidence and the settled meaning and
interpretation of those documents.

15.6 Officers fully acknowledge and understand these concerns regarding accessibility of
the routes. However, it is not possible to take these matters into consideration when
reaching a decision on these applications. Officers are bound by the legislation and
to investigate the historic documentary evidence to determine if the routes are
recorded with the correct status and if appropriate amend the definitive map and
statement as per the evidence adduced. Any obstructions on public rights of way
which may impede public access are managed appropriately by Wiltshire Council’s
Countryside Access Officers (CAOs), who are responsible for the maintenance and
enforcement of public rights of way. If orders are made and confirmed to upgrade the

application routes the CAOs will manage the routes appropriately at that time.

15.7 No new documentary evidence has been adduced by the consultation process. The
maps provided by Georgina Boyle, which are OS maps, have been considered as

part of the investigation.
16. Conclusions of Historic Documentary Evidence

16.1 These applications seek to change the status of a number of routes recorded in the

definitive map and statement and to use section 53(3) (c) (ii) of the Wildlife and

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 127

Appendix 1- Applications 95



Countryside Act 1981 which states “that a highway shown in the map and statement
as a highway of a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a
different description”. The law requires that any evidence of there being rights not
currently recorded on the definitive map and statement must be shown on the
balance of probabilities. This means that it is more likely than not that something is

shown.

16.2 These applications adduced a number of historic documents which officers have
viewed either in person at WSHC or via online sources and have subsequently been
documented in this report. Potentially the most valuable of these to officers are
documents classified as ‘category A’ , such as the inclosure awards. In this case the
Charlton Inclosure Award of 1780 , which has no map, references the route of
CSTP6 as White Lane and is likely the continuation of the the public road set out
named Portway, which leads south from the Charlton Cat ( then the Poores Arms),
although it is not subject to inclosure itself , it is likely a pre inclosure road. The route
of CSTP2 from its junction with the turnpike road ( now the A.342) is described as “
Wilsford Road” and leading along the current recorded route of CSTP2 north and
then west to the Wilsford parish boundary. The route having a width of at least 40
feet.

16.3 The Wilsford Inclosure Award of 1808 awards the current route of bridleway WILSS5 ,
as a private carriage road , driftway and public footpath of the breadth of 20 feet. The
award is accompanied by a plan and it is clear the route referenced is number 15 on
the plan and described as above. The award clearly describes the route as a private
route for carriages rather than public, and a driftway, as well as a footpath. A driftway
is understood histrorically to be a right to drive cattle ( which includes cows and
sheep). A public carriageway would usually include a public right to drive cattle
unless specifically designated otherwise, a public bridleway may or may not include a
public right to drive animals. Other routes within the award are awarded as public
carriage roads or bridleways, so this route was not considered in the same manner
as a public bridleway or road at the time of the award. It is unclear from the award if
the driftway was a public or private right to drive animals. It is also unclear if the

powers of the 1801 private or general act, which the 1808 award relies upon, gave

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 128

Appendix 1- Applications 96



the commissioners powers to set out driftways in the same way as public roads,

private roads, bridleways and footways.

16.4 In the case of the 1780 Charlton Inclosure award the act of 1780 gave the
commisioners powers to set out those public roads described therein , this was a
public process and the award is marked as examined by the Clerk of the Peace for
Wiltshire ,Michael Ewen. This Act and award set out the route of CSTP2 from its
junction with the A.342 leading north and then west to the Wilsford parish boundary
as a public road in 1780 and unless those rights have been legally stopped up they
still exist. The Wilsford inclosure award of 1808, 28 years after the Charlton award ,
sets out the continuation of that route as a private carriage road, public footway and
driftway, as enacted by powers the commisioners had as per the 1801 private and
general acts . There is clearly a conflict of evidence within the inclosure awards,
where the rights the public are awarded within the said inclosures differ where the
continuous route crosses the parish boundary. The spur of CSTP2 leading east to
the village of Charlton St. Peter is likely described in the inclosure award as the west
lane but is not awarded. The route of CSTP6 is not awarded but is referred to as
White Lane and likely the continuation of the public road awarded and named as
Portway.

16.5 The deposited plans of the Andover, Radstock and Bristol Railway 1866 show that
the route of CSTP6 was considered a public highway in the ownership of the
Highways Board and waywardens of the parish at that time. The same plans and
reference book show the route of CSTP2 as an occupation road, i.e., not a public

road and in private ownership.

16.6 The deposited plans of The Direct Western Railway 1845 show the route of WILS5
as a public highway in the ownership of the surveyors of the highways in the parish.

16.7 The railway plans are drawn up and deposited 21 years apart. In 1845 the route of
WILSS5 is shown as a public highway, (likely not a footpath , as a separate parcel is
described as a “footpath” and not a public highway) the continuation of that same
route in 1866 is described in Charlton St. Peter as an occupation road, i.e., not
public. It is unlikely a continuous route linking two villages/ parishes would change
status at the parish boundary for no obvious reason, but that is the evidence

96

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 129

Appendix 1- Applications 97



presented by the railway plans. This is the opposite of the inclosure evidence which
described the route in Wilsford as a private carriage road and the route in Charlton

as a public carriage road.

16.8 The tithe evidence, which is considered category B evidence and can be seen from
11.1, is possibly indicative of the routes subject to this application being public roads,
other than the link between CSTP6 and CSTP2, which is not shown as a through
route on the Charlton tithe map of 1841. The route of CSTP6 and the route of CSTP2
from the A342 north and west are shown in the manner of the public road network,
separate from tithable land. The Wilsford tithe map of 1844 colours the route of
WILSS5 sienna in the manner of the public road network and separate from tithable
land, it is also labelled “To Charlton” which can be indicative of a public road. The
apportionment with the Charlton tithe includes “Lanes waste and River” , this
demonstrates the map is depicting roads and highway wastes.

16.9 The 1910 Finance Act evidence only shows the northern half of CSTP6 not coloured
and therefore separate from taxable land and in the same manner as a public road.
All other sections of the application routes are shown coloured with the land parcels
and no deduction for public rights are recorded in the register for these parcels. It is
not uncommon for rights of way deductions to not be recorded, clearly the route of
CSTP2/WILSS and the southern half of CSTP6 were likely to hold public rights at the
time in 1910, yet no rights are recorded and rights were claimed by the parish council
in the early 1950s.

16.10 The category C evidence shows that in 1929 when the RDC passed over
maintenance of rural roads to the County Council the application routes were not
considered to be roads maintainable at the public expense.

16.11 There is a greater amount of category D, E and F evidence which is to be expected
as it includes many commercial maps, which add to the reputation of the routes but
are in many cases not primary evidence of public rights. The 1804 parish plan of
Charlton depicts the parish in some detail and records roads, although it does not
differentiate between private and public roads. The route of CSTP6 is shown in the
manner of other known public roads, it is also labelled White Lane. The route of
CSTP2 from its junction with the A.342 leading north and then west to Wilsford is

97

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 130

Appendix 1- Applications 98



described as the Wilsford Road. The route of CSTP2 east to the village is not shown
as a road and appears to be split between parcels of land and not be a clear through
route at that time. It is possible the route passed over wet land , where it is in close
proximity to the watercourse, and changed according to the season and flooding.The
route of WILS5 is shown in 1846 in the manner of a road to Charlton in the survey of
land owned by Sir Francis Dugdale Astley. The sales documents from 1910 are

inconsistent and as such add minimal evidential weight to any argument.

16.12 There are a large number of commercial maps presented as evidence by the
applicants and investigated by officers. The evidence including the commercial maps
must be evaluated as per its evidential weight and value, however due to the
difference in evidence between sections of the application routes it is useful to

present the evidence in chronological order and separated into those different
sections.

98

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 131

Appendix 1- Applications 99



16.14. The above map at 16.13 will be used to document evidence chronologically over

different sections of the application routes in tables below.

16.15. The first section to examine will be the route of WILS5 / CSTP2 from point A

through B, C and south to D.

Date Document Grade of Evidence | What is shown
1773 Andrews and Dury | E Route from A to D shown in
Map of Wiltshire the manner of a road, partly
fenced.
1780 Charlton Inclosure | A Route from B-D awarded as

a public road and named
Wilsford Road

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 132

Appendix 1- Applications

99

100



Radstock, Bristol

Railway Plans

1804 Parish Plan of Route from B - D (in
Charlton Charlton ) shown in manner
of road network and
referenced as Wilsford
Road.
1805/1807 | OS 15t edition Route from A-D shown in
manner of other roads.
1808 Wilsford Inclosure Route from A-B awarded as
a private carriage road and
driftway and a public
footway.
1820 Greenwoods 17 Route not shown at all
map
1823 Cary’s A-C shown as parochial
road — C-D not shown at all
1841 Charlton Tithe map Route from B-D shown in
manner of other roads
1844 Wilsford Tithe map Route A-B coloured sienna
as other roads and
annotated
1845 Direct Western A-B recorded as public
Railway Plans highway, in manner of other
roads.
1846 Survey of land A-B coloured in same
owned by Sir manner as other roads and
Francis Dugdale annotated
Astley
1866 Andover, D-C and towards B

recorded as occupation

road in private ownership

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 133

Appendix 1- Applications

100

101



1886-1942 | OS 1:2,500 See 14.14- partly fenced
track, marked as B.R from
1900
1902/4 Bartholomew’s Shown as a secondary road
atlas/map
1909/10 Finance Act plans Whole route not excluded
from taxable land- i.e., not a
road and no right of way
deduction
1917 Sales documents C-D show in manner of road
on one map and not on
other, part B-C described as
bridle road
1930 RDC Takeover Not part of road network
map
1949-52 Definitive Map Recorded as C.R.B-
Process carriage road bridleway
1968 Second and Reclassified as a bridleway
onwards special review of
definitive map

16.16. The category A evidence for the route A-D is contradictory. The inclosure evidence

shows that in 1780 the route beginning in Charlton at point D through to the parish

boundary at point B was awarded as a public road and called the Wilsford Road,

indicating the route led to Wilsford across the parish boundary. The Wilsford

Inclosure evidence of 1808, some 28 years later, records the route in Wilsford as a

private carriage road and driftway as well as a public footway. This indicates it was

not at that time considered a public road in the same manner as the Charlton 1780

award considers its continuation in Charlton. Whether the driftway rights were public

or otherwise is not clear, or if the commissioner had the power to award a driftway,

but this does not require further consideration where it is considered public carriage

rights subsist. The railway evidence of 1845 and 1866 records the opposite. In 1845

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 134

Appendix 1- Applications

101

102



the section within Wilsford is recorded as a public highway (likely a road given the
context of other routes), this is in contrast to the inclosure evidence in 1808, 37 years
previous, which recorded it as a private carriage road. The 1866 railway evidence
records the section of the route in Charlton as an occupation road, i.e., not a public
vehicular road, in contrast to the 1780 inclosure evidence, which is 86 years previous
by that time. The grade A evidence from 1780 through to the 1860s records the
section in Wilsford as a private carriage road and latterly a public highway, and the
section in Charlton is recorded as a public road and latterly an occupation (private)
road. To assist with this confusion of evidence lower grade evidence must be taken
into consideration. The tithe maps of the 1840s show the whole route in the manner
of a road. The parish plan of Charlton from 1804, although only grade D evidence
gives a very detailed plan of the parish and the route is shown in the manner of a
road and described as the Wilsford Road, as it was awarded in 1780. The
commercial mapping is inconsistent, it is clearly shown in the 1773 Andrews and
Dury’s map but the maps of the early 1800s are inconsistent. The later 25-inch OS
series maps show the route on the same course through the 1880s- early 1900s and
from 1900 labelled as a B.R or bridle road. The later evidence in the 1900s shows its
reputation as a road decreased as its use likely diminished and became accepted as

a bridle road and latterly a bridleway.

16.17. There is evidence describing the whole route as a public highway or road, in
particular the oldest evidence in Charlton from the inclosure in 1780, awarding the
route as a public road and naming it the Wilsford Road. In 1804 it is again referenced
as the Wilsford Road, indicating it was a through route. It is not likely the road or
rights ceased or changed at the parish boundary as it is not a point of destination or
interest. By 1866 this section (in Charlton) is described as an occupation road. It is
possible the route was not as well used by 1866 and use was waning in favour of the
turnpike road/ A.342 as it was likely in a better state of repair. The opposite occurs in
Wilsford with the route awarded as a private carriage road (as well as a driftway and
public footway) in 1808 and latterly described as a public highway ( likely a road) in
1845 in the railway evidence. The discrepancy and conflicting evidence between
statuses is difficult to explain 170+ years after the events, officers can only make a

judgement on the balance of probabilities.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 135

Appendix 1- Applications 103



16.18. The grade A evidence describes the whole continuous route variously as a public
highway, public road, or the Wilsford Road. Category B evidence supports the whole
route being depicted in the manner of a public road. Lower grade evidence is
inconsistent but pre 1880s is on the whole supportive of a through public road
between the villages. It is considered on the balance of probabilities the route is

unlikely to have historically changed status at the parish boundary where there is no

clear reason as to why this would occur and is described or shown as a public road

in its entirety at various times The route is in officers’ opinion on the balance of
probabilities likely to have been a public road with vehicular rights between Charlton
and Wilsford from points A through D on the map at 16.13, the use of which waned in
the late 1800s and into the 1900s, but the rights still exist as no evidence has been

produced or found that those rights have been extinguished.
16.19. The second section to examine is the route of CSTP2 between points C and E on the

map at 16.13 and below.

oo™

%
: '.II l —
] o B P -
A .:\(\_ 7 i
B £ - i
‘T -7 Willowdene
. 5 =i}
ol il s 8
C gt A \ \ \'. i }
] hf r"'h-.,.__l —= . ,\ -’g ‘ E |II _'II\I—-" ,
' Fy i el -
S s f i ) | |
.! = rany I - Track e \’\ '_E rﬁ:'-_'* 1 i
‘! o f--[___t_-f__'l .I"‘-,\ 5 = '|L___5____—"
: ! — ll.l
/ }" - .|1 :j I l- I’
r' L Timbe !' _ — —
T " Ladge | , : I
I 1 /
4 | : ay
v /
e {
| '. ] /
4 .-"{ !  cal -
| { W / e
. .:.[ Ik_, e
‘ ' 103

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Appendix 1- Applications



16.20. The evidence is depicted chronologically below.

Date Document Grade of What is shown
Evidence
1773 Andrews and E In the manner of a
Dury road
1780 Charlton Inclosure | A Possibly referred
to as West Lane,
but not awarded
1804 Parish Plan of D No clear route
Charlton shown, possible
route labelled as
cooper close but
not a road.
1804-1808 OS 15t edition E No route shown
1820 Greenwoods 17 E No route shown
map
1823 Cary’s E No route shown
1841 Charlton Tithe B No clear through
route, allotment/
pasture and
meadow recorded
on route.
1866 Andover, A Recorded as field,
Radstock, Bristol occupation road
Railway Plans and footpath.
1886-1942 0OS 1:2,500 E See 14.14-shown
as fenced track.
1902/04 Bartholomew’s E Shown as
atlas/map secondary road
1909/10 Finance Act B Route not
excluded from
taxable land. l.e.,
DECISION REPORT 104
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTPG AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILSS TO RESECTaE‘aYéAYi 37
Appendix 1- Applications 105



not shown as a

public road.
1917 Sales documents Shown as bridle
path
1930 RDC Takeover Not part of road
map network
1949-52 Definitive Map Recorded as

Process C.R.B- carriage

road bridleway

1968 onwards Second and A Reclassified as a

special review of bridleway

definitive map

16.21. The evidence for the route from C-E varies. There is little to no evidence within

higher category evidence to show it as a higher status than its already recorded
status of a bridleway. The 1780 inclosure may refer to the route as “west lane”, but it
is not certain, and it is not awarded or described. The early 19" century evidence
shows there was no clear through public route, as depicted on the Charlton Parish
Plan of 1804, Greenwoods 1820 map, Cary’s 1823 map, and the Charlton tithe map
of 1841. It is possible a route named cooper close or simpers close is the application
route but there is no evidence to show this close as a public road or any public
status. The 1866 railway plans refer to the route as a field, occupation road and
footpath, indicating it was not considered a public road at that time but may have
been a private road with a public right for pedestrians. These documents from 1804-
1866 either show no through route or record allotments, meadows, a field, footpath,
or private road on this route, it is not shown in the manner of other public roads in the
parish. The early 20" century evidence shows the route in the main as a fenced track
in the manner of bridleway. There is no strong evidence this route was a road in the
manner of other roads in the parish. This route, although the shortest route from
Wilsford to Charlton may have been a lesser used route due to the proximity of the
watercourse which may have affected use of the route and its inconsistent ground
conditions depending on the season. The higher route of the turnpike road, latterly

105

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 138

Appendix 1- Applications

106



the A.342, likely offered a better surface and drier all year route to use to link the

villages.

16.22. The applicant has stated within their summary of evidence (see appendix 1) that
this section of the route is, on the parish plan of 1804, “depicted as a white road or
common lane”. This appears to be incorrect as part of the route is recorded as an
“allotment at the bottom of White Lane” or if the route is further south as a “close “but
with no area of road recorded. It is not clearly shown as a white road or common lane
as claimed. The applicant also states the 15t edition OS map shows this section of
the route as “an open road”. The map referred to does not show the route or any
track, the applicant has labelled C- E as part of the road network but appears to be
part of the watercourse on the map extract provided. The tithe map of 1841 is shown
within the applicant’s summary where it is stated the route is “an open and fenced
road...except for allotment 36 which names the road “white lane”. Parcel 36 is
referenced as “allotment at the bottom of White Lane”, we know from other sources
this section of the route is likely not White Lane, which is the route leading south to
the Charlton Cat. It is likely this parcel is not the current route of CSTP2, which is
further south from the watercourse.

16.23. The evidence for this section of the route between points C — E, as shown at 16.19,
is not sufficient on the balance of probabilities to upgrade its status from its current

recorded status of bridleway.

16.24. The evidence for the route of CSTP6 and application 2011/03, E- G on the map at

16.13 will now be presented chronologically.

Date Document Grade of What is shown?
Evidence
1739 Quarter session A White Lane
Great rolls described as a

common Highway
for all persons,

horses, cattle

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 139

Appendix 1- Applications 107



carts, and

carriages

1773

Andrews and

Dury’s

Shown as a minor

road

1780

Charlton Inclosure

Referred to as
White Lane,
opposite an
awarded public

road.

1804

Parish Plan of
Charlton

Labelled as White
Lane and shown in
the manner of a

road.

1808

OS 15t edition

Minor road

1820

Greenwoods

Cross road

1823

Cary’s

Parochial Road

1841

Charlton Tithe

W m| m m

Shown in the

manner of a road

1866

Andover,
Radstock, Bristol
Railway Plans

Recorded as a
public highway in
ownership of
Devizes Highway
Board and the way
wardens of the

parish

1886-1942

OS 1:2500 series

See 14.14. North
end to Timber
Lodge part of road
or track, as with
southern section at
Charlton Cat.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 140

Appendix 1- Applications

107

108



Middle section

shown as footpath.

1910

Finance Act Plans

Northern section to
Timber Lodge
uncoloured in the
manner of a road.
Rest of route
coloured with
hereditament 34
and 78, no right of
way deduction

recorded.

1917

Sales Document

North section to
Timber lodge and
section at Charlton
Cat shown as part
of road network
and not part of
sale. Central
section is for sale,
base map shows
footpaths, none
recorded in
particulars.

1930

RDC Takeover

map

Whole route not
shown as part of

road network

1949-52

Definitive Map

Process

Recorded as a

footpath

16.25. The evidence shows the route of CTSP6 was known as a highway called White

Lane from the earliest records dating back to 1739. The records show the lane was

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 141

Appendix 1- Applications 109



depicted in the manner of a road through to at least the mid-1800s. The lane likely
became less well used and ceased to be used as a through route as the cottages on
the lane ceased to be lived in and fell into disrepair and disappeared. The middle
section between Timber Lodge to the north and the Charlton Cat to the south
became part of the field and only accessible by foot. What is likely to be the sunken
lane can still be seen today, albeit overgrown and walkers take the higher route to
the east on top of what was the lane. The grade A quarter session evidence in
conjunction with the tithe evidence, railway evidence and other lower grade evidence
throughout the 1800s show the route was considered part of the road network and
fell out of use in the late 1800s as a through route. As no act of law has been found
to extinguish the rights on its full length, officers consider the evidence demonstrates
on the balance of probabilities the route should be upgraded to that of a restricted

byway.

16.26. The section of the applications labelled E -F on the map at 16.13 will now be

considered.

16.27. The above map extract shows, shaded in blue, the highway maintainable at public
expense, the U/C 8044 ending at point F. The bridleway CSTP2 continues from point
F through E and continues west. The application to upgrade footpath CSTP6 only
applied to upgrade the route of CSTP6 and not the spur of CSTP2 from E-F. The

application to upgrade CSTP2 does apply to the section E-F and beyond to the
109

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 142

Appendix 1- Applications 110



junction of footpath CSTP5 and the U/C 8044. As east of point F is already recorded

as a road maintained at public expense that section does not need to be considered.

The evidence for section E-F differs from the section C-E considered from 16.19

onwards, which was considered to lack enough evidence to upgrade it from the

status of bridleway.

16.28. The table below depicts the evidence chronologically for E-F.

Date Document Grade of What is Shown
Evidence
1773 Andrews and E Minor road
Dury’s
1804 Parish Plan of D Shown and
Charlton coloured in the
manner of the road
network
1808 OS 15t edition E Shown as part of
road network
1820 Greenwoods E Shown as part of
road network
1823 Cary’s E Shown as part of
road network
1841 Charlton Tithe B Shown as part of
the road network
1866 Andover, A Shown on base
Radstock, Bristol plans in manner of
Railway Plans road network but is
outside line of
deviation so not
referenced in
reference book.
1886-1942 OS 1:2500 series | E Shown
consistently in the
DECISION REPORT 110
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTPG AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILSS TO REsEcgaYéAyi 43
Appendix 1- Applications 111



manner of part of
road network and
coloured sienna in
1886, a surfaced

route.

1910 Finance Act Plans Uncoloured and
not part of taxable
land. In the
manner of a road.

1917 Sales Documents Coloured as part of
the road network.

1930 RDC Takeover Not shown as part

map of road.

1949-52 Definitive Map Recorded as part

special review of

definitive map

Process of CSTP2
Recorded as
C.R.B- carriage
road bridleway
1968 onwards Second and Reclassified as

bridleway

16.29. The evidence shows the route has likely been considered part of the road network

since the late 18" century at least. It was likely a pre inclosure road and as such not

subject to inclosure in 1780. The road is clearly shown in the detailed plan of 1804 of

the parish and continues to be shown in lower grade evidence as a road in the early

part of the 19" century. The Charlton Tithe map shows the route as part of the road

network in 1841 and the Finance Act plans of 1910 still show the route in the manner

of a road, both considered grade B evidence. OS mapping shows the route

consistently as part of the road network. From 1930 it appears the end of the road

U/C 8044 was recorded at point F rather than point E, it is unclear why , although it

may have been where there was a field entrance on the south side of the lane at this

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 144

Appendix 1- Applications

111

112



point. The more likely end point for the public road would be at point E and this is
supported by the documented evidence. As a result of the above evidence officers
consider on the balance of probabilities this section of the application and CSTP2 is
capable of being upgraded to a restricted byway. This will also link the proposed
upgraded route of CSTP6 as a continuous restricted byway linking to the U/C 8044,
which also supports the likelihood of this section being a higher status, forming one
continuous route from the village, leading to what was White Lane , the public house

and the turnpike road to the south

16.30. Officers conclude that application 2011/03 to upgrade footpath CSTP6 to a
restricted byway, after consideration of all available evidence presented and
discovered, demonstrates on the balance of probabilities that s.53(3)(c) (ii) that a
highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a particular description ought to
be there shown as a highway of a different description is met and the route should be

upgraded to a restricted byway.

16.31. Officers conclude that application D/2021/105 to upgrade bridleway CSTP2 and
bridleway WILSS to the status of restricted byway, after consideration of all available
evidence presented and discovered, demonstrates on the balance of probabilities the
application route is partially capable of being upgraded to the status of restricted
byway. With part of the route, as evidenced 16.20-16.23 at not capable of being

upgraded as per the documentary evidence and should remain a bridleway.

112

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 145

Appendix 1- Applications 113



16.32. The section officers do not consider capable of upgrade is from point C at OS grid
reference SU 11200 56015 — point E at OS grid reference SU 11433 56027 on the
below map. All other sections of the application are proposed to be upgraded to the
status of restricted byway. Those being A- B-C-D and E-F.

17 Widths

17.1 The routes that are recommended to be upgraded will have orders made to that
affect, those orders must also record a width for those routes as per the historical
documentary evidence. The route of CSTP2 subject to application D/2021/105
applies for a width of approximately 6 metres for the whole of CSTP2 and WILS5.
The current recorded width of CSTP2 is 4.5 metres and WILS5 has no recorded
width. The Charlton Inclosure sets out the width of the “Wilsford Road” which
incorporates the route of CSTP2 from point B at the parish boundary leading south

east and south to point D at its junction with the A.342. The award sets the road out

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 146

Appendix 1- Applications 114



as not less than 40 feet for its length (the section from C-D is stated as more than 40
ft but not specified), no evidence has been found extinguishing this width, even if it is
not physically available today those rights over that width still exist. As such the width
for CSTP2 from B -C -D should be recorded as 40ft or 12.2 metres.

iy b
, .

!

.__,H:_ \

i | | -!- 5 k.
e = -—_._.";__'-_-\.,_‘_.: - :‘f i Iinq_.
T

£ 5

17.2 The width of the continuation of CSTP2 across the parish boundary into Wilsford
where the path is recorded as WILSS has no recorded width currently. The 1808
Wilsford inclosure award is the earliest evidence we have of the width of this route
where it is recorded as 20ft wide, although the award sets it out as a private carriage
road, as discussed this route likely gained public rights and on the balance of
probabilities it is considered public rights would have been gained over the set-out

width of this road. As such it is proposed to record a width of 20ft for WILS5 or 6.1
metres.

17.3 The route of CSTP2 from point E — F, from its junction with CSTP6 east to its junction
with the U/C 8044 has a current recorded width of 4.5 metres. Measuring the width of
this route from the 1900 25” OS map the route begins at its junction with the U/C
8044 with a width of 10 metres and widens to 14 metres before narrowing to 7
metres and widening again to 10 metres at point E. Therefore, the width for this

section will be recorded as between 7 and 14 metres with reference to the 1900 OS

114

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 147

Appendix 1- Applications 115



map. The 1900 2™ edition 25” map is the most accurate topographical map officers
had physical access to, to measure from where the width of the route is not set out
clearly in older documents. This width is also approximate to the unregistered land/
lane shown at 6.3.

17.4 The width of CSTPG6 is currently recorded as 1.2 metres. The applicant has applied for

17.5.

18

18.1

a width of between 5.5 metres and 9 metres where fenced ( as shown on the 24
edition 25” O.S Map) and 5 metres where unfenced. The 2" edition 25” (1900) map
has been viewed by officers and the route measured, as this map is the most
accurate topographical map officers had physical access to. The route begins at its
southern junction with the A.342 with a width of 9 metres and narrows to 5.5 metres
where it exits the parcel of land adjacent to the Charlton Cat. The route then enters a
field on the 1900 map and is not shown as a road but a footpath. The width for this
section will be recorded as 5 metres which is consistent with Wiltshire Council’s
policy for recording new or diverted restricted byways. Where the route enters the
track adjacent to Timber lodge, the width is 7.5 metres and narrows to 6 metres
before widening again to 7.5 metres where it meets its junction with CSTP2. As such
the width for CSTP6 will be recorded as between 5 and 9 metres with reference to
the 1900 29 edition 25" map.

The section of CSTP2 which has not been found to have sufficient evidence to
upgrade will remain with its current recorded width of 4.5 metres as it will not be

affected by a legal order.
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERCA 2006)

The NERC Act 2006 came into force on 2" May 2006 and section 67(1) of this Act
had the effect of extinguishing the right to drive any mechanically propelled vehicle

on any route that, immediately before commencement:
S.67 (1) (a) was not shown in a definitive map and statement, or

(b) was shown in a definitive map and statement only as a footpath, bridleway, or

restricted byway.
Subject to subsections (2) to (8)

115

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 148

Appendix 1- Applications 116



(@)

(b)

(c)

S.67 (2) to (8) are parts of the Act that detail exemptions to the extinguishment of

vehicular rights.

S.67 (2) states that subsection (1) does not apply to an existing public right of way if

(a) it is over a way whose main lawful use by the public during the period of 5
years ending with commencement was use for mechanically propelled

vehicles

(b)immediately before commencement it was not shown in a definitive map and
statement but was shown in a list required to be kept under section 36(6) of

the Highways Act 1980 (c.66) list of highways maintainable at public expense),

(c it was created (by an enactment or instrument or otherwise) on terms that

expressly provide for it to be a right of way for mechanically propelled vehicles

(d) it was created by the construction, in exercise of powers conferred by virtue of

any enactment, of a road intended to be used by such vehicles, or

(e)it was created by virtue of use by such vehicles during a period ending before
1st December 1930.

S.67 (3) states that subsection (1) does not apply to an existing public right of way if -

the relevant date, an application was made under section 53(5) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (c.69) for an order making modifications to the definitive map

and statement so as to show the way as a byway open to all traffic,

before commencement the surveying authority has made a determination under

paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 to the1981 Act in respect of such an application, or

before commencement a person with an interest in land has made such an
application immediately before commencement, use of the way for mechanically

propelled vehicles —

(l)was reasonably necessary to enable that person to obtain access to the land  or

116

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 149

Appendix 1- Applications 117



(i) would have been reasonably necessary to enable that person to obtain

access to a part of that land if he had an interest in that part only.
S.67 (4) states that the relevant date in England means January 2005
S.67 (5) deals with private rights

S.67 (6) states that for the purposes of subsection (3) an application under section
53(5) of the 1981 Act is made when it is made in accordance with paragraph 1 of
Schedule 14 to that Act

18.2 Although these applications only apply for the status of restricted byway as it is likely
the applicants accept no exemptions apply it is appropriate to consider each

exemption in turn:

S.67 (2)(a) ‘it is over a way whose main lawful use by the public during the period of

5 years ending with commencement was use for mechanically propelled vehicles’.

No evidence has been brough forward to suggest the main use of any of the

application routes was by MPVs in the 5-year period before commencement.

18.3 S.67 (2)(b) ‘immediately before commencement it was not shown in a definitive map
and statement but was shown in a list required to be kept under section 36(6) of the
Highways Act 1980 (c.66) (list of highways maintainable at public expense, also
known as the List of Streets).

This exemption has not been met.

18.4 S.67 (2)(c) ‘it was created (by an enactment or instrument or otherwise) on terms that

expressly provide for it to be a right of way for mechanically propelled vehicles”.

The routes subject to this application were in physical existence at least from the 18"
or early 19" century, this is a time before mechanically propelled vehicles were

widely in use on public roads.

18.5 S.67 (2)(d) ‘it was created by the construction, in exercise of powers conferred by

virtue of any enactment, of a road intended to be used by such vehicles’

117

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 150

Appendix 1- Applications 118



No evidence has been found that public MPV rights have been preserved by this

section.

18.6 S.67 (2)(e) ‘it was created by virtue of use by such vehicles during a period ending
before 1930'.

The mechanically propelled vehicle did not exist as a distinct class of highway user
before the 2" °f May 2006; hence it is difficult to consider this section. It is likely that
as mechanically propelled vehicles became more common (in the mid-1800s) people

started using them on roads that would support their use.

Since the distinct category did not exist and since prior to 2006 the right to drive a
horse drawn carriage was the same as the right to drive a motorised one it is not
considered that the right was created by any actual MPV use, any such use was

merely use continuing.
Public MPV rights are not preserved by this section.

18.7 S.67 (3)(a) (3) Subsection (1) does not apply to an existing public right of way over a
way if —

(a) ‘before the relevant date, an application was made under section 53(5) of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (c.69) for an order making modifications to the

definitive map and statement so as to show the way as a byway open to all traffic’.

These applications are dated 2011 and 2021, after the relevant date of January

2005. As such this exemption does not apply for these applications.

18.8 As no exemptions apply the highest category these routes can be recorded is that of

a restricted byway.

19. Conclusion

19.1 The law requires that any evidence of there being rights not currently recorded on the
definitive map and statement must be shown on the balance of probabilities. This
means that to confirm an order made under s.53 of WCA81 the evidence must show

it is more likely than not that something is shown.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 151

Appendix 1- Applications 119



19.2 Application 2011/03 seeks to upgrade footpath CSTP6 to a restricted byway and
application D/2021/105 seeks to upgrade bridleways CSTP2 and WILSS5 to restricted

byways. These applications are based on historic documentary evidence.

19.3 The applications were submitted with a summary of extensive historic documentary
evidence and officers have viewed a number of those documents and the wider list
provided is taken into consideration as well as conducting their own investigation of
any documents the council may hold of relevance to the applications. In considering
application 2011/03 to upgrade footpath CSTP6 to restricted byway status, the
evidence shows from at least 1739 (quarter session rolls) the way has been
considered a highway for carriages. The reputation of the way continues through to
the mid- late 1800s of that of a public road, as evidenced by the detailed parish plan
of 1804, the tithe map of 1841 and the railway plans of 1866. The road appears to
have ceased to be a through route for carriages by the late 1800s, with the middle
section of the route reverting to being part of a field and for use only on foot. No
evidence has been discovered that extinguished the public carriage rights on this
route and as such they still subsist. Officers appreciate the practical concerns
regarding the road crossing and steps now on the route, however those
considerations cannot form part of this decision on what public rights should be
recorded.

19.4 The evidence affecting application D/2021/105 is inconsistent for different sections of
the route as discussed in detail of this report. On the balance of probabilities this
application will be partly refused as the section of CSTP2 between SU 11432 56025
leading west to SU 11201 56014 has been found to have insufficient evidence to
upgrade it from its status of bridleway. The remainder of CSTP2 and WILSS will be
upgraded to the status of restricted byway as per the available evidence, as
discussed in detail in this report, which demonstrates on the balance of probabilities
its status should be higher than recorded.

19.5 The applicants have applied for the status of restricted byway rather than a byway

open to all traffic. Officers have considered NERCA and its exemptions and have

119

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 152

Appendix 1- Applications 120



found that none of the exemptions apply and the highest status that can be recorded

for these routes is that of a restricted byway.

19.6 The routes that will be subject to orders to change their status under S.53(3)(c)(ii),
will also have their appropriate widths recorded as per the historical evidence, where
those rights extend to those widths and no evidence has been found to extinguish

those rights by a legal instrument.

20. Overview and Scrutiny Engagement

Overview and Scrutiny Engagement is not required in this case. The Council must
follow the statutory process which is set out under Section 53 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.

21. Safeguarding Considerations

Considerations relating to the safeguarding of anyone affected by the making and
confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981, are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made

and confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone.
22. Public Health Implications

Considerations relating to the public health implications of the making and
confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981, are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made
and confirmed based only on the balance of probabilities determined by the relevant

evidence.

23. Environmental Impact of the Proposal

Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the making and confirmation
of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, are not
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made and confirmed

based only on the balance of probabilities determined by the relevant evidence.

120

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 153

Appendix 1- Applications 121



24. Equalities Impact of the Proposal

Considerations relating to the equalities impact of the making and confirmation of an
order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, are not
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made and confirmed
based only on the balance of probabilities determined by the relevant evidence.

25. Risk Assessment

25.1 Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (WCA 81) does not provide for

consideration of issues relating to health and safety.

25.2 The Council is the surveying authority for the County of Wiltshire (excluding the
Borough of Swindon) and has a duty to keep the definitive map and statement under
continual review (s.53(2)(b) WCA 81). There is therefore no risk associated with the

Council pursuing this duty correctly.

25.3 If the Council fails to pursue this duty in this case it is liable to complaints being
submitted through the Council’s internal procedure leading to the Ombudsman.

Ultimately a request for judicial review could be made.
26. Financial Implications

26.1 The determination of definitive map modification order applications and modifying the
definitive map and statement of public rights of way accordingly is a statutory duty for
the Council. The costs of processing such orders are borne by the Council. There is

no mechanism by which the Council can re-charge these costs to the applicant.

26.2 Where no definitive map modification order is made, the costs to the Council in
processing the definitive map modification order application are those required by the

statutory administrative procedures.

26.3 Where a definitive map modification order is made, and objections received which
are not withdrawn, the order falls to be determined by the Secretary of State for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (SOSEFRA). An Independent Inspector
appointed on behalf of the SOSEFRA will determine the order by written

121

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 154

Appendix 1- Applications 122



27.

representations, local hearing, or local public inquiry, which have a financial
implication for the Council. If the case is determined by written representations the
financial implication for the Council is negligible, however where a local hearing is
held, the costs to the Council are estimated at £200 - £500 and a public inquiry could
cost between £1500 - £3000, if Wiltshire Council supports the order (where legal
representation is required by the Council) and around £200-£500 if it does not
support the order (i.e. where no legal representation is required by the Council as the
case is presented by the applicant). Any decision taken by SOSEFRA is liable to
challenge in the High Court, the council would bear no financial burden at this stage
as the decision has been made by the SOSEFRA.

Legal Considerations

27.1 Where the Surveying Authority determines to refuse to make an order, the applicant

28.

(ii)

may lodge an appeal with the SOSEFRA, who will consider the evidence and may
direct the Council to make an order. As the recommendation is to make an order for
application D/2021/105 but not that of what was applied for the applicant is not
entitled to the appeal process under schedule 14 but may object to any made order
on the basis they feel it is incorrect. If an order is made and objections are received,

the procedure is as detailed above in paragraph 26.3.

Options Considered

To:

Refuse to make definitive map modification orders under Section 53 of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981, where it is considered that there is insufficient evidence
any additional rights exist that are not currently recorded on the definitive map and

statement or is reasonably alleged to subsist, or

Where there is sufficient evidence that a right for the public on foot, bicycle,
equestrians, and carriage drivers (i.e., restricted byway rights) subsist, the authority
is required to make a definitive map modification order to upgrade lower status
routes to restricted byways on the definitive map and statement of public rights of

way, under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. In addition, where
122

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 155

Appendix 1- Applications 123



29.

29.1.

historical widths have been discovered to amend the statements of those routes to
record those widths also under Section 53 of the WCAS81.

Reasons for Proposal

Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that an order

should be made if the Authority discovers evidence, which, when considered with all
other relevant evidence available to them, shows that, a highway shown in the map
and statement as a highway of a particular description ought to be there shown as a

highway of a different description.

29.2 The evidence demonstrates on the balance of probabilities, the appropriate test,

that orders should be made to upgrade certain routes and record the appropriate
widths for those routes. Separate orders will be made as per the separate
applications and to allow objections to be made to specific parts of the decision if any

are forthcoming.

29.3 As there are several aspects to the decision, two plans have been produced to

30.

physically depict the decision and its implications. See appendix 3- decision plans.
The decision plans set out changes to the network as required by these applications
and subsequent investigation and will be put into effect by legal orders.

Recommendation

30.1 Application 2011/03- Make a Definitive Map Modification Order to upgrade footpath

CSTP6 to a restricted byway with a width of between 5 and 9 metres.

30.2 Application D/2021/105- Make a Definitive Map Modification Order to upgrade part

of bridleway CSTP2 and WILSS to a restricted byway, with a width of 12.2 metres for
CSTP2 from SU 11162 55941 to SU 10709 56598 at its junction with WILS5 and a
width of between 7 — 14 metres from its junction with the U/C8044 at SU 11470
56053 to SU 11432 56025. A width of 6.1 metres to be recorded for WILS5. The
length of CSTP2 from its junction with CSTP6 at SU 11432 56025 leading west to SU

123

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 156

Appendix 1- Applications 124



11201 56014 to not be upgraded or amended from its current recorded status and

width.

Craig Harlow
Definitive Map Officer
1st February 2023

Appendices to report.
Appendix 1- Applications
Appendix 2- Consultation and responses

Appendix 3- Decision Plans

124

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATIONS TO UPRGADE FOOTPATH CSTP6 AND BRIDLEWAYS CSTP2 AND WILS5 TO RESTRICTED BYWAYS

Page 157

Appendix 1- Applications 125



Table of Contents

Application 2011.03
Application D.2021.105

Page 158

Appendix 1- Applications

126

10



Page 159

Appendix 1- Applications 127



Page 160

Appendix 1- Applications 128



Page 161

Appendix 1- Applications 129



Page 162

Appendix 1- Applications 130



Page 163

Appendix 1- Applications 131



Page 164

Appendix 1- Applications 132



Page 165

Appendix 1- Applications 133



Page 166

Appendix 1- Applications 134



| WIL-0592

FORM 1

The
British

Horse
Society

APPLICATION FORM

FOR A MODIFICATION TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

To: Rights of Way Section, Wiltshire Council, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, Wiltshire, BA14 8JN

I, Natalie White, for and on behalf of the British Horse Society, of |l Stareton,
Kenilworth, Warwickshire. CV8 ] Hereby apply for an order under Section 53(2) of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 modifying the Definitive Map and Statement for the area by:

a) Upgrading to Restricted Byway, the Bridleways (WILS5 & CSTP2) which run from Point A
on the application map (OSGR SU 10338 56904), the junction between the Bridleway
WILSS5 and the road leading to the Village of Wilsford and follows the Bridleways WILS5
& CSTP2 along the Lane in an easterly direction to Point C (OSGR SU 11195 56025)
before branching south to Point D (OSGR SU 11163 55947) and east to point E (OSGR SU
11525 56082).

With a width of: approximately 6m

and shown on the map accompanying this application.

| attach copies of the following documentary evidence in support of this application, namely

extracts of:

vii.
viii.
ix.

Andrews and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire. (1773)

Estate map of the Parish of Charlton, Wiltshire (1804)

Ordnance Survey 1st Edition Map (1805)

Inclosure Plan for Wilsford (1808)

Tithe maps of Charlton, Wiltshire (1841)

Tithe maps of Wilsford, Wiltshire (1844)

Ordnance Survey 25” County Series Map Sheet Wiltshire XLI.10 (1886)
Ordnance Survey 6” County Series Map Sheet Wiltshire XLI (1889)
Bartholomew’s Half-Inch Maps of England and Wales (1902 & 1942)

The copies of the above items of documentary evidence are contained in a Summary of
Evidence document also attached.

l understand that the information | have provided may be imparted to third parties.

Signed: Natalie White

Date: 29" November 2021

Page 167

Appendix 1- Applications 135



| WIL-0592

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Map to Accompany Definitive Map Modification Order Application

For a route in the Parish of Wilsford & Charlton St Peter to be shown as a Restricted Byway A
to B to C to D to E marked on the map below by the pink line, 29" November 2021

< de o®
5
w©
“
=
S
vy -
S
LR
\ g o
\ &
=
\ @)

& Coombe Cotrage

55 e
55 /1 u | 1
; / i I35 g

) -\

: =

1 /

1

QOrdnany
Survey

;
=

Map produced from extract of Ordnance Survey 1:25,000 scale mapping. When printed on A4 paper, the scale will
be not less than 1:25,000 and thus meets the requirement of regulation 2 and regulation 8(2) of The Wildlife and
Countryside (Definitive Maps and Statements) Regulations 1993.

Page 168

Appendix 1- Applications 136



| WIL-0592

Summary of Evidence

Definitive Map Modification Order Application

For a route in the Parish of Wilsford & Charlton St Peter to be shown as a
Restricted Byway A to B to C to D to E marked on the map below by the pink line.

"’7{‘\ ,/; TSR & b ' \ 3 | ¢ § | T | i A =< \\\Cau Brain
[y P i N T 7\ X s
M\ H . AN s % 2 H \
- ! | Wilsford '} A <\ | H \
B | wisra g BN\ BE B’ e
I \ N
i s

Applicant’s Reference:
WIL-0592
29" November 2021

Quick reference path facts to assist the Surveying Authority in its investigation
0OS County series map Wiltshire XLI.10
Grid references of ends of route SU 10338 56904 to SU 11163 55947 & SU
(approximate) 11525 56082
Page; 169

Appendix 1- Applications 137



| WIL-0592

1. My name is Natalie White. | am the applicant for the order, for and on behalf of the British
Horse Society (BHS).

2. This application is made because, on the cut off day, 1% January 2026, the effect of

a. The effect of s.53(3) and (4)(c) Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 on a public
highway that existed prior to 1949 is to extinguish the vehicular rights on a route shown in
the definitive map and statement as a bridleway.

3. | believe this application will pass the planned Preliminary Assessment Test required by
para 2 Sch 13A Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, when introduced, because:

a. This application statement includes explanations as to how the evidence applies to the
application route, and

b. The application contains one or more of the following forms of supporting evidence:

(1) Legal document(s) relating specifically to the right of way that is the subject of the
application (such as Railway Act, Inclosure Act and Award, Finance Act, Court Order or
Main Roads Order evidence).

(2) Evidence of reputation in legal document(s), even though not written specifically
about the right of way that is the subject of the application (such as Tithe Awards and
Maps).

(3) Documentary evidence of expenditure that would be unlawful unless the way was
a public highway, for example Highway Board records.

(4) Documentary evidence of reputation, for example an Ordnance Survey map,
coupled with public scrutiny, or evidence of highway status in a landowner produced
document.

(5) Maps and other documents which, over a period of time, and taken together,
provide evidence of reputation that the order route is part of the public road network.

THE APPLICATION ROUTE

4. The application route is shown approximately on the plan below:

a. Point A, the western end of the route (at OSGR SU 10338 56904), at the Junction
between the Bridleway WILS5 and the public road leading to the Village of Wilsford and
proceeds southeast along the Bridleway WILSS to Point B.

b. Point B (at OSGR SU 10708 56604), where the Bridleway WILS5 meets the Bridleways
WILS6 and CSTP2 and continues southeast along CSTP2 to Point C.

c. Point C (at OSGR SU 11195 56025), where the bridleway branches south to Point D and
east to point E along the bridleway CSTP2.

d. Point D (at OSGR SU 11163 55947) where the bridleway joins the A342.

e. Point E (at OSGR SU 11525 56082) where the bridleway joins the lane in the village of
Charlton.

Page 1740

Appendix 1- Applications 138



WIL-0592

5. The application route is currently partly recorded on the Council’s definitive map as the
Bridleways WILS5 & CSTP2.

(https://wiltscouncil.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=43d5a86a545046b2b59fd7dd49d89d22)

Extract of Ordnance Survey 1:25000 scale map showing application route Ato Bto Cto D to E
as pink line (not to scale)

6. Photographs 1to 3 are from OS Aerial Viewer and Google Street View

Photograph 1 is a OS Map Aerial View with the route from A to B to C to D to E indicated with a
pink line

Page 171

Appendix 1- Applications 139



| WIL-0592

Photograph 2 - A Google Streetview photo from 2021 of Point A looking east along the route.
The route is of significant width and has an grass surface.

Photograph 3 - A Google Streetview photo from 2011 of Point E looking west along the route.
The route is of significant width, bound by hedges and has an made surface.

DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE OF HIGHWAY STATUS

7. Inorder to be able to modify the definitive map and statement, the Surveying Authority
needs to have a discovery of evidence which shows, on the balance of probabilities, that
highway rights exist. The use of the ‘balance of probabilities’ test rather than ‘beyond
reasonable doubt’ was confirmed by the High Court in Todd, Bradley v SOS for EFRA [2004] 4 All
ER 497.

8. The courts have given guidance on how evidence of highway status is to be considered. In
Fortune and Others v Wiltshire Council and Another [2012] EWCA Civ 334, Lewison LJ said, at
paragraph 22,

‘In the nature of things where an inquiry goes back over many years (or, in the case of
disputed highways, centuries) direct evidence will often be impossible to find. The fact
finding tribunal must draw inferences from circumstantial evidence. The nature of the
evidence that the fact finding tribunal may consider in deciding whether or not to draw
an inference is almost limitless. As Pollock CB famously directed the jury in R v Exall
(1866) 4 F & F 922:
"It has been said that circumstantial evidence is to be considered as a chain, and
each piece of evidence as a link in the chain, but that is not so, for then, if any
one link broke, the chain would fall. It is more like the case of a rope composed
of several cords. One strand of the cord might be insufficient to sustain the
weight, but three stranded together may be quite of sufficient strength."™

9. While no single piece of evidence is conclusive, the applicant believes that taken as a whole
the pieces of evidence demonstrate highway reputation over many years, indicating that the
route does indeed have highway status, and that prior to the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006, there were full vehicular rights.

Page 142

Appendix 1- Applications 140



| WIL-0592

10. Andrews and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire.
a. Date. This map is a copy of Andrews and Drury’s map produced in 1773.

b. Relevance. The map, based on an original survey, was made for sale to the public, and
so is unlikely to show routes that the public could not use. The map has no key, but it
appears that as in the case of Andrews and Drury’s map of Hertfordshire for which there is
a key, a broken line indicated an unhedged roadside.

c. Archives. An original map is held by the Wiltshire and Swindon History Centre, (HARC).

The extracts shown are taken from an online copy of a Reduced Facsimile at
http://www.wiltshirerecordsociety.org.uk/publications/1773-map-of-wiltshire/

d. Meaning. The application route, Ato Bto Cto D to E, indicated with an arrow on the
extract, is shown as an “Open and fenced Road” in the same way as the current public
vehicular roads to which it connects.

e. Assessment. The depiction of the route between these points in this manner is
consistent with the proposition that the application route carried equestrian and probably
vehicular rights in 1773. It is quite likely that these routes connected with at least public
bridleway rights of way.

Extract from Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire Map (1773) showing the application route.

11. Estate Map of the Parish of Charlton near Pewsey, Wiltshire

a. Date. The estate map was made in 1804

b. Relevance. Estate maps were prepared to show the lands owned by the landowner who
commissioned the map. It is of use because it shows the land and the routes to get to
the various parcels. These maps would be unlikely to show the status of a route that the
landowner did not agree with, so there is evidence of highway status where routes
within the estate are shown in the same way as public roads outside of the estate.

c. Archive and Reference. A map of the parish of Charlton near Pewsey with book of

reference stating owners, occupiers, field names, acreages and values. Estates owing

Page; 173

Appendix 1- Applications 141



| WIL-0592

tithes to the rector and vicar distinguished. This document can be found in the Wiltshire
Archives under the reference 1225/237H.
Meaning. The map shows the application route as a road at point B to C, looks to be
drawn the same as are other roads and tracks, and appears to be named or numbered,
from points C to D to E the route looks to be depicted as a white road or common lane.
d. Assessment. The application route from points B to C is depicted as a sienna coloured
road. The depiction of route, in the same manner as the surrounding ordinary road
network provides a strong inference that it was also considered to be part of that road
network.

Extract from the Estate Map for the Parish of Charlton (1804)

12. Ordnance Survey 1% Edition Map

a. Date. The OS sheets for Wiltshire No XIV were surveyed & published between 1805 to
1880

b. Relevance. The 1 edition 6” maps were based on and derived from an original survey.
This map was based on the preliminary field sketch map and was made for sale to the
public, and so is unlikely to show routes that the public could not use. Useful information
can sometimes be derived from the particular conventions

c. Archive. The extracts from this sheet below were obtained from the National Library
of Australia at https://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-231918578/view

i. [Old series Ordnance Survey maps of England and Wales] / engraved at the Drawing
Room in the Tower ... by Benjn. Baker & Assistants; printed by Ramshaw

ii. London: Published by Lt. Col. Mudge, Tower [and later] by Lieu M. Colonel Colby of
the Royal Engineers; Sold by Jas. Gardner, Agent for the sale of the Ordnance maps,
163 Regent St., April 18th 1805-[18807?]

iii. 91 maps: mounted on linen; sheets 69 x 98 cm., or smaller + index.

Page 144

Appendix 1- Applications 142



| WIL-0592

d. Meaning. The map shows the application route from points AtoBto Cto D to E as an
open road in the same way as others depicted on the same map that are now public
highways.

e. Assessment. The depiction of route, in the same manner as the surrounding ordinary
road network between points A to B to C to D to E which provides a strong inference that it
was also considered to be part of that road network.

0

Extract from the 1° Edition OS Sheet XIV (1805)

13. Inclosure Plan for Wilsford.
a. Date. This plan of the parish of Wilsford was made in 1808.
a. Relevance.

(1) The Inclosure Act of Parliament passed in 1808 provided authority for the
inclosure of the land in these parishes subject to the terms of the Act. This Act gave
the Inclosure Commissioner the powers to set out in the Act.

(2) This Act gave the Inclosure Commissioner the powers to set out in the Act of 41
Geo lll ¢.109 (i.e., the Inclosure (Consolidation) Act 1801). Section 8 of the 1801 Act
provides that Public Carriage Roads shall be set out at 30 feet width and section 9
provides for money to be raised to pay for the setting out and maintenance of these
public carriage roads. In section 10 the Commissioner is given the power to set out
(with no particular width) private roads, bridleways, footways, watering places,
bridges, and other things that are public in nature, and then provides for the
maintenance of them to be the responsibility for ever of the owners and proprietors
for the time being.

b. Archives. The following documents are held by the Wiltshire and Swindon Archives
under the following references.

(1) A copy of the inclosure plan and award of Wilsford, (near Pewsey) is held under
the reference A1/EA 78 (1808).

Page 175

Appendix 1- Applications 143



| WIL-0592

(2) A copy of the Act is held under the reference A1/215/40 (1801).

c. Meaning.

(1) The act was passed in 1808, and so contained the contents of the Inclosure Act
1801 except as varied by the local Act

(2) The application route from points A to B, indicated with an arrow on the extract, is
shown as an sienna coloured “Road”, it appears to be numbered which presumably
refers to an entry in the Inclosure Award. The road is shown in the same way as the
current public vehicular road to which it connects on the inclosure plan, which
according to the act was a true and perfect survey of the parish. The applicant was not
able to view the award to ascertain what rights were given if any to the application
route.

d. Assessment. The depiction of the application route on the inclosure plan in this
manner is consistent with the proposition that the application route was a public carriage
road in 1808.

Extract from the Inclosure Plan for Wilsford (1808)

14. Tithe maps of Charlton, Wiltshire
a. Date. The tithe map was published in 1841.
b. Relevance.

(1) The Tithe Commutation Act 1836 enabled tithes (literally a tenth of the produce of
the land) to be converted to a monetary payment system. Maps were drawn up to
show the tithable land in order to assess the amount of money to be paid. The Act
was amended in 1837 to allow maps produced to be either first class or second class.

(2) First class maps are legal evidence of all matters which they portray and were
signed and sealed by the commissioners (Tithes Act 1847). They had to be at a scale of
at least 3 chains to the inch. Second class maps, signed but not sealed, were evidence
only of those facts of direct relevance to tithe commutation, and are often at 6 chains

Page 1{6

Appendix 1- Applications 144



| WIL-0592

to the inch. There was a proposed convention of signs and symbols to be used, which
included Bridle Roads and Footpaths, but this was not strictly adhered to.

(3) The tithe process received a high level of publicity as landowners would be
particularly keen not to be assessed for more tithe payment than necessary. Non-
tithable land deemed to be unproductive was usually excluded from the process. It is
common therefore for no tithe to be payable on roads, although wide grass drovers’
routes could carry a tithe as they were used as pasture. It was in the interest of the
landowners for untithed roads to be shown correctly to minimise their payments.
Footpaths and bridleways were more likely to be at least partially productive (for
example as pasture). Therefore, although the process was not directly concerned with
rights of way, inferences can be drawn from tithe documents regarding the existence
of public rights, and in particular, public vehicular rights. In some cases, highways are
coloured yellow or sienna to indicate public status.

c. Archive and Reference. The tithe map for “Tithe map of Charlton, Wiltshire” is
available to examine online at the Genealogist website. The original can be viewed at the
National Archives. It is believed to be a first-class map and so is legal evidence signed and
sealed by the commissioners.

IR 30/38/59 — Tithe map of Charlton (parish), Wiltshire. Shows buildings. Colouring used.
Scale: 1 inch to 6 chains (1841)

IR 29/38/59 — Tithe apportionment of Charlton (parish), Wiltshire. Valuation: Richard
Stratton, Upavon, Wiltshire

d. Meaning. The 1841 tithe map shows the application route as an open and fenced road
from points B to C to D to E, separate from the numbered parcels of land, except for
allotment 36 which names the road “White Lane” and appears to be shaded as the other
roads and tracks are.

e. Assessment. The 1841 map is a first-class map being signed and sealed by the
commissioners, it clearly depicts the application route as a road, in the same way as other
public roads in the area. Which is consistent with the application route being a public
vehicular highway at the time of the assessment in 1844 and again in 1900.

Extract from the Tithe Map for the Parish of Charlton (1841)

Page:177

Appendix 1- Applications 145



| WIL-0592

15. Tithe maps of Wilsford (parish), Wiltshire
f. Date. The tithe map was published in 1844 and used in the Tithe in 1900.
g. Relevance.

(1) The Tithe Commutation Act 1836 enabled tithes (literally a tenth of the produce of
the land) to be converted to a monetary payment system. Maps were drawn up to
show the tithable land in order to assess the amount of money to be paid. The Act
was amended in 1837 to allow maps produced to be either first class or second class.

(2) First class maps are legal evidence of all matters which they portray and were
signed and sealed by the commissioners (Tithes Act 1847). They had to be at a scale of
at least 3 chains to the inch. Second class maps, signed but not sealed, were evidence
only of those facts of direct relevance to tithe commutation, and are often at 6 chains
to the inch. There was a proposed convention of signs and symbols to be used, which
included Bridle Roads and Footpaths, but this was not strictly adhered to.

(3) The tithe process received a high level of publicity as landowners would be
particularly keen not to be assessed for more tithe payment than necessary. Non-
tithable land deemed to be unproductive was usually excluded from the process. It is
common therefore for no tithe to be payable on roads, although wide grass drovers’
routes could carry a tithe as they were used as pasture. It was in the interest of the
landowners for untithed roads to be shown correctly to minimise their payments.
Footpaths and bridleways were more likely to be at least partially productive (for
example as pasture). Therefore, although the process was not directly concerned with
rights of way, inferences can be drawn from tithe documents regarding the existence
of public rights, and in particular, public vehicular rights. In some cases, highways are
coloured yellow or sienna to indicate public status.

h. Archive and Reference. The tithe map for “Tithe map of Wilsford, Wiltshire” is
available to examine online at the Genealogist website. The original can be viewed at the
National Archives. It is believed to be a first-class map and so is legal evidence signed and
sealed by the commissioners.

IR 30/38/281 — Tithe map of Wilsford (parish), Wiltshire. Shows buildings, quarries (chalk),
woods, footpath and/or bridleway, drove, osiers (withies). Colouring used. Decorative
cartouche. Scale: 1 inch to 6 chains (1844)

IR 29/38/281 — Tithe apportionment of Wilsford (parish), Wiltshire. Valuation: Thomas
Davis, Warminster, Wiltshire

i. Meaning. The 1844 tithe map shows the application route as a road from points A to B
to Cto D, separate from the numbered parcels of land and appears to be shaded as the
other roads and tracks are, however as this is a black and white copy it is difficult to
determine if it was coloured sienna. The route is also labelled at the end “to Charlton”
suggesting that it was a through route and could be used to reach the village of Charlton St
Peter.

j.  Assessment. The 1844 map is a first-class map being signed and sealed by the
commissioners, it clearly depicts the application route as a road, in the same way as other
public roads in the area. Which is consistent with the application route being a public
vehicular highway at the time of the assessment in 1844 and again in 1900.

Page 1(8

Appendix 1- Applications 146



| WIL-0592

Extract from the Tithe Map for the Parish of Wilsford (1844)

16. Ordnance Survey County Series 25 inch Maps.

f. Date. The OS sheets Wiltshire XLI.10 was surveyed in 1886 and 1885 respectively and
published in 1886.

g. Relevance. The OS County Series 25 Inch mapping was predominantly used for
professional purposes rather than for navigation. They are detailed enough to show gates /
barriers on roads, tracks and paths. Parcels of land are numbered, and areas shown either
under the parcel number or in separate “Area Books” (on some First Edition sheets).
Second edition and later maps generally carry the disclaimer “The representation on this
map of a Road, Track or (Foot)path is no evidence of the existence of a right of way”.
However, scrutiny of some of the detail contained along with contemporary published
guidance allows some inferences as to status of routes to be drawn. Additionally, on the
first edition only, colour was used on some sheets to give significance to certain features
(roads, buildings, water features, etc.)

h. Archive. The extracts from this sheet below were obtained from the National Library
of Scotland at https://maps.nls.uk/view/120378009

i. Meaning. The route from point A to B is shown as an open road from B to D as a white
road numbered 17 and between C to D to E as an open road crossing rough pasture,
numbered 60.

j.  Assessment. The depiction of route, in the same manner as the surrounding ordinary
road network between points A to B to C to D to E which provides a strong inference that it
was also considered to be part of that road network.

Pages:179

Appendix 1- Applications 147



| WIL-0592

%

Extract from OS Sheet Wiltshire XLI.10 (1886)

17. Ordnance Survey 6 inch Maps.
a. Date. The first OS sheet Wiltshire XLI was surveyed in 1886 and published in 1889.

b. Relevance. The 6” maps were based on and derived from the 25” series. Consequently,
they seldom show any topographical differences from the larger scale. However, useful
information can sometimes be derived from the particular conventions used to show
detail.

c. Archive. The extracts from these sheets below were obtained from the National
Library of Scotland at https://maps.nls.uk/view/102348025

d. Meaning. The Characteristics Sheet for the 6” Maps differentiate between main and
other roads through the use of a bold boundary on one side of a road. The claimed route is
shown as “Open and fenced Other Roads” between points AtoBto CtoD to E.

e. Assessment. This series of maps supports the inference drawn from the 25” maps, that
the route is part of the full vehicular road network.

Extract from Key to OS 6” Map

Page 180

Appendix 1- Applications 148



| WIL-0592

%

Extract from OS Sheet Wiltshire XLI (1889)

18. Bartholomew’s Half-Inch Maps of England and Wales

a. Date. This series was produced during the first half of the twentieth century. The
particular maps identified below were published in 1902 and 1942.

b. Relevance. The map was not based on an original survey. Nonetheless it was intended
for sale to the public, particularly for tourists and cyclists, and so is unlikely to show routes
that the public could not use. It has a key in which different types of route are
distinguished.

c. Archive. An original of Sheet 29 — Berkshire & Sheet 8 (England & Wales No. 29). -

Salisbury Plain is held by the National Library of Scotland (NLS) and can be viewed via
https://maps.nls.uk/view/97131098 (1902) & https://maps.nls.uk/view/128076435 (1942)

d. Meaning. The application route is shown as an (good) secondary road in the 1902
version and as an other good road and serviceable motoring road in the 1942 version
between points A to Bto Cto D to E. It is strongly marked on both maps using a solid line
rather than the dashes of “Footpaths and Bridlepaths” indicating it was of higher status.

e. Assessment.

(1) Although the map carries the standard disclaimer that the representation of a

road or footpath is no evidence of a right of way, it remains the case that this map was
produced for sale to the travelling and cycling public, and the roads were revised by
the Cyclists' Touring Club. It seems likely that the disclaimer is to avoid the publishers
from finding themselves in the midst of legal action, and that their true beliefs come
from the fact that the CTC assessed the roads as suitable or ‘inferior’.

(2) Although the maps are not based on an original survey, the fact that the larger
part of the application route was originally shown as though it could lawfully be used
by cyclists indicates that some positive assessment of the route led to its depiction,
albeit it was classed as “inferior and not to be recommended to cyclists”. At the time

Pages181

Appendix 1- Applications 149



| WIL-0592

of publication (1902) cyclists had no right to use bridleways, having been declared to
be carriages by s.85 Local Government Act 1888, so it is appropriate that at least a
little weight be given to this document as evidence of vehicular status.

(3) The PINS Consistency Guidelines suggest that little weight can be given to this
source, However, in Commission for New Towns and Another v J. J. Gallagher Ltd
[2002] EWHC 2668 (Ch), the judge stated at para 108:

“Bartholomew's Map of England, 1901 and 1911 editions, has three categories of coloured roads. They
are "first class roads", "secondary roads (good)", and "indifferent roads (passable)". There are two
other categories, namely uncoloured roads and "footpaths & bridlepaths". Beoley Lane is marked in
each of the two editions as uncoloured road. The legend to each of the Bartholomew maps states that
"the uncoloured roads are inferior and not to be recommended to cyclists". The implication of the
demarcation of Beoley Lane on these maps appears to me to be that they are public carriageways. First,
each of the other four categories is a public highway. Secondly, in a somewhat paradoxical way, the
indication in the description of the uncoloured road is that they can lawfully be used by cyclists, which,
as at 1901 and 1911, would have meant that they were public carriageways. However, it is important to
mention that there is a note to the effect that "the representation of a road or footpath is not evidence
of the existence of a right of way". | do not consider that that means that one can cast aside what one
could otherwise glean from Bartholomew as being of assistance, but the disclaimer underlines the fact
that one cannot place much weight on Bartholomew's Maps, or indeed on any map which does not
have the positive function of identifying public carriageways.”

(4) The conclusion is that at least some weight must be given to this source of
evidence indicating that the application route was considered a vehicular highway at
the time.

Extract from Bartholomew’s Map Sheet 29 (1902) showing the application route as an
secondary road

Extract from Bartholomew’s Map Sheet 29 (1902) showing the Key

Page 182

Appendix 1- Applications 150



| WIL-0592

Extract from Bartholomew’s Map Sheet 8 (1942) showing the Key

7

Extract from Bartholomew’s Map Sheet 8 (1942) showing the application route as an other
good road and serviceable motoring road

CONCLUSIONS

19. This document presents evidence from the last 248 years that consistently indicates that
the application route was part of the wider roads network. Whilst no single piece of evidence is
conclusive in its own right, taken as whole it paints a compelling picture of the existence of
public vehicular rights along the application route.

20. Employing the well-established legal maxim ‘Once a highway always a highway’, in the
absence of a stopping up order, it follows that vehicular highway rights existed immediately
before the operation of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

21. The applicant requests the surveying authority to add the route to the definitive map as a
restricted byway.

Natalie White
For the British Horse Society

Page;183

Appendix 1- Applications 151



Table of Contents

Bill Riley

1 Bill Riley
Bridleways and Byways Trust

1 BBT
British Horse Society

1 BHS
Geoffrey Parsons
Georgina Boyle

1 Georgina Boyle 2
Gillian Gadd

1 Gillian Gadd
Mary Gillmore

1 Mary Gillmore
Mary Gillmore Appendix
Mr T C Fowle
Parish Council

Wiltshire Bridleways Association

Page 184

Appendix 1- Applications

152

N No B~ WWDNDN

L A e e =
N~ o~ WER PR OO



From: Bill Riley

Sent: 21 September 2022 12:00

To: Harlow, Craig

Subject: 2011/03 and D/2021/105
Attachments: Charlton 6 Summary of Evidence.pdf
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

Hi Craig,

Thanks for your recent letter.

When | submitted my 2011/03 application, | don't think | attached the images to
go with the summary of evidence; so, just in case, here's a

link |

The images are not captioned but when viewed in conjunction with the
summary, they are fairly easy to identify.

All the best,

Bill

Page 185

Appendix 1- Applications 153



From: Catriona Cook

Sent: 16 October 2022 15:14
To: Harlow, Craig

Subject: 2011/03 & D/2021/105
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

Dear Craig,

| write on behalf of the Byways and Bridleways Trust (BBT) to support the above two DMMO
applications. | note the applicants are Bill Riley and Natalie White, both excellent researchers and
therefore have nothing further to contribute.

Yours sincerely,

Catriona Cook MBE (Mrs)
BBT trustee

Page 186

Appendix 1- Applications 154



Page 187

Appendix 1- Applications 155



Page 188

Appendix 1- Applications 156



Page 189

Appendix 1- Applications 157



Page 190

Appendix 1- Applications 158



yours sincerely,

Georgina Boyle.

Dear Georgina,

Thank you for your email.

1 will consider it as part of my decision process on the application and inform you of any decision.

Kind Regards

Craig

Craig Harlow MIPROW

Definitive Map Officer

Definitive Map and Highway Records
Wiltshire Council

County Hall

Trowbridge

BA14 8IN

Direct Line: 01249 468568
Email: craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
Web: www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Page 191

Appendix 1- Applications

159



Sign up to Wiltshire Council's email news service

Information relating to how Wiltshire Council will manage your data can be found at: http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/recreation-rights-of-way

Report a problem https://my.wiltshire.gov.uk/

----- Original Message-----

from:

To: Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk>
Subject: ref; 2011/03 and D/2021/105

[You don't often get email from_Learn why this is important at https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderldentification ]

Application to upgrade footpath Charlton St Peter no.6 to a restricted byway (ref;2011/03)
Dear Craig,

In reply to your letter of the 6th September, there may be historical evidence of a byway running north from the A342 from the Charlton Cat to Charlton St
Peter village (CSTP 6) however historically the A342 was not such a major road with fast traffic and large lorries. It has become a footpath (over 50 years) from
disuse as a bridleway/byway as it is such a dangerous point to cross the road, bad enough on foot but both dangerous and foolhardy to try on a horse, not only
to horse and rider but to all other road users/ drivers. Having lived on this road for the past 9 years | have seen a lot of near misses and although the number
of accidents are few the amount of lorries using the road is increasing and the speed of drivers is very fast even with the speed limit and reduce speed signs.

Yours sincerely,
Georgina Boyle,

This email originates from Wiltshire Council and any files transmitted with it may contain confidential information and may be subject to Copyright or
Intellectual Property rights. It is intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error
please notify the sender and delete the email from your inbox. Any disclosure, reproduction, dissemination, modification and distribution of the contents of
the email is strictly prohibited. Email content may be monitored by Wiltshire Council to ensure compliance with its policies and procedures. No contract is
intended by this email, and any personal opinions expressed in this message are those of the sender and should not be taken as representing views of
Wiltshire Council. Please note Wiltshire Council utilises anti-virus scanning software but does not warrant that any e-mail or attachments are free from viruses
or other defects and accepts no liability for any losses resulting from infected e-mail transmissions. Receipt of this e-mail does not imply consent to use or
provide this e-mail address to any third party for any purpose. Wiltshire Council will not request the disclosure of personal financial information by means of e-
mail any such request should be confirmed in writing by contacting Wiltshire Council.

Page 192

Appendix 1- Applications

160



From: Gill Gadd

Sent: 10 November 2022 10:59

To: Harlow, Craig

Subject: Applic ref: 2011/03 CSTP6 upgrade to RB
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

You don't often get email from || Learn why this is important

Dear Sir,

| wish to record that | am wholly opposed to the application

to upgrade Charlton St Peter footpath No.6 to a restricted byway.

Firstly | note that the application was made some 11 years ago and believe the applicant, who wished
the lane to be used for his horse-drawn vehicles, has left the parish.

| also note that the traffic on the A342 has increased in that intervening period.

The main point of concern here is the junction with the A342 next to the Charlton Cat. Having good
knowledge of this junction | wish to point out that it is already a hazardous point at which to cross on
foot to access the plain, given the corners on that section of the road and the speed at which traffic
passes through. The limit of 50mph is often exceeded by motorists but even at 50mph on the 2-lane
carrigeway two cars passing would have insufficient stopping time and no-where to go on meeting a
horse or bicycle emerging from CSTP6.

Any person would be reckless to introduce a horse onto the A road at this point.

In short the junction would be too dangerous.

The junction would also interfere with the area used for parking at the Charlton Cat and the
pedestrian movement from cars to cafe entrance. This also creates a further potential hazard.

In short, | see nothing to be gained by upgrading this route which is already enjoyed by walkers from
the locality and further afield.

There are many tracks for equestrians in the area, also enjoyed by cyclists.

| hereby record my opposition to the upgrade of CSTP6.

Regards,
Gillian Gadd

Charlton St Peter SN

Added to this, the path of the existing footway follows a run-off channel where rainwater passes by
gravity to the area marked "Drain" at the junction with CSTP2. Opening up this track will surely
destabilise the ground for no good reason?

Page 193

Appendix 1- Applications 161



From: Mary Gillmore

Sent: 08 November 2022 13:13

To: Harlow, Craig

Subject: DMO Application references 2011/03 — CSP 6 and D/2021/105 — WILS 5
Attachments: Short stretch of bridleway.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

Dear Mr Harlow
RE DMO Application references 2011/03 — CSP 6 and D/2021/105 — WILS 5

| have reviewed the evidence submitted for both the above applications and, believe that on the
balance of probabilities that restricted byway rights subsist over the routes and complies with the
statutory tests specified in S.119 of Highways Act 1980 and | would support the Order being
confirmed.

In addition to that evidence, | would submit that reference be drawn from the decision of Michael

Aldous FPS/A0665/6/1 34 December 2012, an extract of which is attached, which | would respectfully
suggest, is analogous with this stretch of bridleway in that it would create a missing link in the
network, ie between CSP 6 and CSP 7 (Byway north of A342).

Yours sincerely
Mary Gillmore

Wilsford

Pewsey SNO Il

If applicable, please reply using a new email rather than forwarding the existing message. This will
avoid duplicating the previous message history. Your assistance in this respect is appreciated.

NOTICE: This e-mail transmission, and any documents, files or other attachments, may contain
confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient please notify the sender
immediately and delete the e-mail and any attachments. Any disclosure, copying, distribution or use

Page 194

Appendix 1- Applications 162



of any information contained within this e-mail and/or its attachments by unintended recipients is
strictly prohibited.

Page 195

Appendix 1- Applications 163



Page 196

Appendix 1- Applications 164



|
Charlton St Peter
Pewsey

Wilts

SNo I

06/11/2022

Reference 2011/03 and D/2021/105

Dear Sir

| write to record some observations regarding these two applications.

CSTP6. Going South from the bridleway leading towards Wilsford. From the junction leading south,
and passing Timber Lodge, the lane is currently about 2.4 metres wide, with mature trees on both
sides. If the upgrade is allowed , who sacrifices trees and land to enable the upgrade to take place?
On one side there is a 1.5-2.0 metre high bank opposite the bungalow, which would also need
reduction to enable the required width to be achieved. At whose expense?

As the path approaches the Charlton Cat, it passes through a 1m wide gateway, and then up 12
steps, to the back of the Charlton Cat car park. This then crosses the busy A342, at one of the most
dangerous places on this stretch of road. Increasing the width to the required 6m is almost
impossible without massive expense to make the road crossing safe. When this path was a highway,
the heaviest traffic using it was a horse and cart, with NO A342 traffic to contend with. My wife has
been riding horses in this area for years, and refuses point blank to use this crossing point, as she
considers it to be too dangerous.

CSTP 2

The Spur south (Marked B C on the map) suffers much the same problems joining a dangerous road,
on a bend with limited visibility in both directions. It also has a steep slope to join the highway.
When my father used to use this track to move sheep across the main road in the 1970’s, we used to
need an extra two people just to control the traffic. After a close encounter with an impatient driver,
we then used to call the police to assist. Even then, we were advised by the police to no longer use
this route to move the sheep across the road, and introduce a new gateway where the crossing
would be safer.

| feel that both of these so-called upgrades are potentially introducing extra hazards onto an already
dangerous section of the A342, and | hope that if the upgrades are made, and a serious accident
occurs, Wiltshire Council are prepared to put their hands up and take at least some responsibility,

both legal and financial. | am almost certain that this will happen.

As a landowner affected by both these applications, | am extremely concerned about the potential
consequences of these applications.

Yours

T C Fowle

Page 197

Appendix 1- Applications 165



PROW Working Group
Charlton St. Peter & Wilsford Parish Council

11* November 2022

Ref: DMMO Applications — Wilsford & Charlton St. Peter - upgrading footpath CSTP2 and bridleways
WILSS5 and CSTP2 to restricted byways

Dear Craig,

Thank you for engaging with the parish council on these DMMO applications and for your email
dated 5™ October 2022 confirming this stage is an informal consultation to gather as much evidence
as possible to help inform any decision Wiltshire Council may make on these applications.

Some general comments on the application evidence and inferences by the applicant are shared
below.

The Parish Council is supportive of extending the use of our PROW network, where approved, for
more leisure users to enjoy our parish, but we wish them to be able to do that safely. Both
applications - D/2011/003 in particular - have raised safety concerns that we are sharing, recognising
these do not relate to the historical evidence.

Comments in relation to the evidence and inferences in the application

A) Ingeneral,

1. Much of the evidence presented is based on earlier maps with no key. These would be
subject to local convention and stylised inference from the cartographer, so status of routes
cannot be clearly ascertained

2. Where keys to symbols and notes are provided on maps, the terminology used is also
subjective e.g the applicants interpretation of ‘track’ to mean ‘road’; ‘road’ to mean ‘full
vehicular road’

3. The area covered under these proposals formed part of estates with a number of grass
drovers routes connecting parcels of land. Estate maps would have been produced for the
benefit of the estate owner. It is unclear if the routes covered by the DMMO were part of a
public road network or if they were permissive for workers and inhabitants of the estate (the
applicant includes a note on drovers paths in section 14.b.3)

B) Relating to D/2021/105: WILS5 & CSTP2, in addition to the general points in section A,

1. Page 1, section a, the applicant describes the route following ‘the bridleways WILS5 & CSTP2
along the Lane in an easterly direction to Point C’. For clarity the route is a grass path with
an unmade surface. The present route is ~2-3m in width

2. Currently, there are two parallel and intersecting routes running from north of section C
along to section E. The application does not differentiate between these routes.

C) Relating to D/2011/003: CSTP6, using evidence presented for D/2021/105 and in addition to the
general points in section A,
1. Local maps published in 1886, 1889 and 1900 all denote the path as a footpath (marked as
F.P.)

Page 198

Appendix 1- Applications 166



Safety Considerations

Both applications request routes leading onto the A342 to be reclassified to restricted byways from
an existing bridleway (D/2021/105) and footpath (D/2011/003). If approved, both proposals would
lead horse riders and carriage drivers directly onto the A342. The A342 is a narrow road, bounded

by grass banks on both sides. It has a 50mph speed limit in the area covered by the applications, is
one of the main routes out of Devizes and a number of large lorries use this route.

Relating to D/2021/105: WILS5 & CSTP2,

1.

2.

Visibility east along the road is limited where the road bends heading towards the Charlton
Cat. The landowner covering the bridleway route up to the A324 used to use this route to

move sheep across the road and was advised by the police not to use this route, leading to
the landowner creating a new gateway where the crossing would be clearer.

Horse riders typically use routes WILS6 and WILS7 instead of this to avoid using the A342

Relating to D/2011/003: CSTPS,

1.

The current footpath comes out into the car park of the Charlton Cat tearoom and runs up
adjacent to steps forming the entrance to the Charlton Cat. Charlton Drove is opposite.
Visibility is restricted in both directions by bends in the road and from Charlton Cat being
positioned on the edge of the road to the west. A convex mirror is provided for car users to
safely exit the car park from further up the carpark. The location of the existing path makes
it a hazardous crossing point on foot, in both directions. Attempting to cross in either
direction on horseback or in a carriage would be highly risky. There is a further hazard to
horse riders / carriage drivers from cars entering the carpark of the road where the byway is
proposed.

The ability to cross to Charlton Drove on horseback from Charlton St Peter would be very
much welcomed by the horse-riding / driving community if safe crossing could be provided
e.g. by provision of a horse crossing.

The safety of patrons of the Charlton Cat Tearoom is another consideration. This includes
those driving vehicles into the car park and those entering / leaving the building on foot.

Kind regards

PROW Working Group

Charlton St. Peter & Wilsford Parish Council

Page 199

Appendix 1- Applications 167



Q\\?\E BR

% o L] . (] . )
5 Wi s ire ridleways Association
= 2 Campaigning for riders rights since 1970
D
O
<\
OCIA Please reply to:
Mrs R. Cunningham
‘ﬂton St Peter, Pewsey, Wilts. SN9-
7th October 2022
Reference: 2011/03 & D/2021/105
Mr Craig Harlow
Definitive Map Officer
Definitive Map and Highway Records
Wiltshire Council
County Hall, Bythesea Road,
Trowbridge,
Wiltshire
BA14 8JN
Dear Mr Harlow,

With reference to your letter of 6" September regarding the above upgrades of Footpath
Charlton St Peter no.6 and Bridleways Wilsford no.5 and Charlton St Peter no 2 to Restricted

Byways.

I write to state that the Wiltshire Bridleways Association supports the proposed applications
and has therefore no objections.

Yours sincerely

Rosie Cunningham
WBA Administration Secretary

Page 200

Appendix 1- Applications 168



157000

156800

156600

156400

156200

156000

Decision Plan 1- DMMO - WILS5 and CSTP2

409800 410000 410200 410400 410600 410800 411000 411200 411400 411600
=T =~l= ~ L \
/
2y L Sl SR —
A \
P -~
/\/ J
N, 4 /
/ ~
~§/ \/
\/ /
-
s
L)\"\/ Ny
~ AN \/
'y
P /
\ -
[uf) = A |
% Key- Decision Plan 1 A I
P ~
N \,\ K
Rﬁlte of bridleway WILSS5 to be upgraded to A J
restricted byway with a width of 6.1 metres (20 ft) : A -|-]|-|-|-B ’\/ J
\/\ T/
Route of bridleway CSTP2 to be upgraded to A -
restricted byway with a width of 12.2 metres (40 ft): B-|-|-|-]-C /\/\ {
N N\
A
- b
/\/ l! &
, ."% » ,
/\’ I" A I
! Yol ) Ce ~
~ © Crown Copyright and Database Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey 10( O49b5 Crown Cop Jel
© Crown Copyright and mmm@mzw? nee Sumesy 110 (
! . L‘ - -
409800 410000 a1 0200 410400 410600 410800 411000 411200 M 1600
N 411400
© Crown Copyright and Database Ri§M8E0dX GriARESiienRs Licence No 100049050 A 169

Scale 1:7,000

157000

156800

156600

156400

156200

156000



156100

156050

156000

155950

155900

155850

155800

Decision Plan 2- DMMO- CSTP2 and CSTP6

© Crown Copyright and Database Ri§M8E0dX GriARESiienRs Licence No 100049050

A

Scale 1:2000 @A4

170

411150 411200 411250 411300 411350 411400 411450 411500 411550 411600 411650 411700
=
L
|
! I
/ D |
F A
- A /
I E Ve {
Jl 2 |
~ 1=, F~q \/\ ‘- ’
/\/ = Em ~/ A d |
—~— ~
J I~y — -\ I
3 | !
& 7 | //
@/
N~ [
N / _ §y
\ / _ ~
\ -
/ -
Key- Decision Plan 2 I / - ~
J ="
Route of footpath CSTP6 to be upgraded to / w -
Restricted byway with a width of between 5 and 9 metres | E----F / —
n / ,
Route of bridleway CSTP2 to be upgraded to . k
Restricted byway with a width of between of 7- 14 metres: D---- E AJ;
N © Crpwn Copyright and Database Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey 100049050, © Crown| Copyright and
/2/(/ Database Rightg 2023 Ordnance Survey 100049050
A
411150 411200 411250 411300 411350 411400 411450 411500 411550 411600 411650 411700

156100

156050

156000

155950

155900

155850

155800


Harlow, Craig
Placed Image

Harlow, Craig_1
Placed Image

Harlow, Craig_2
Placed Image

Harlow, Craig_3
Placed Image


Plan 3- OS 2nd edition 1900

411300 411400 411500 411700
i L \_\l\\ N .
Iz ‘ .. 7.926 AL R
g | ]| = R 2
§ SR Tt S b
0 Key- Plan 3
‘:_"; Width of restricted byways as shown by OS 2" edition 1900 Boundaries- shaded with
«&-| green stripes.
o3 -Hanor| Fyirm
- *Q% Q7 -
N - ’ 1’
376 ore’s Arms
R / Yy '(:‘\\r Po ‘PoH
7 Rt /7,
SR 56
. . 764 :
NN * w37
L N R et oy -
. . N ST it ol Mo L
. " .. \\\ 55—_\?\‘ '\_q.\-x‘\’\ \\ ‘ _\b!“__,,c\;)it"-‘"““:-:-nﬂ'lm“““J f“w‘:"ii[a °
2 S 5 1.303 v}fs‘.ﬁ\‘;\}: \.\\‘E;n:\\'\b‘“ L2 17 o 2
0 N e WA 12 2
= . \ \ \'\_ Tit AN -
v,\%\\\].g‘g&\ﬂ lq””":‘lu‘ 0{ *qu
\A \ ,;';;@ (Pl
N ©|Crown Copyright and Database|Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey
\ 100049050, © Crown Copyright and Dgtabase Rights 2023 Ordnance
Survey 100049050

411300

Wiltshire Council

41 1400

© Crown Copyright and Database Rights 2023 Ordnance Survey Licence No 100049050

411500

Page 203

411

Scale 1:2500 @ A4

Appendix 1- Applications

600

N

A

171

411700



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Georgina Boyle

Sent: 24 April 2023 13:55

To: Harlow, Craig

Subject: Re: ref; D/2011/003 CSTP6
Dear Craig,

Yes, | would like to maintain my objection.
Best regards
Georgina

Sent from my iPhone

On 24 Apr 2023, at 13:28, Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk> wrote:

Dear Georgina,

As the consultation period has expired for the order as of 17:00 on the 21%¢ April. | am
emailing to confirm whether you would like to maintain your objection to the order and |
will forward that objection with the order when it is sent to the Planning Inspectorate
for determination? If so | will take your objection as the contents of your email dated

13" March sent at 19:50 ( seen below). There are 3 recorded objections to the order
and another pending confirmation as to their stance ( not including yours currently).

The next step now, as the order has been objected to, is for it to go before Wiltshire
Council’s Eastern Area Planning Committee who will vote on the recommendation
Wiltshire Council attach to the order when it is forwarded to The Planning Inspectorate
for determination. No matter what recommendation the committee attach to the order
it must be sent to The Planning Inspectorate for determination who will determine it
based on the historical documentary evidence. The planning committee will be a public
meeting where up to 3 objectors may address the committee verbally for up to 3
minutes each if desired, the committee members will have copies of any objections
received. It is likely this meeting will be held in Devizes in the next couple of months, |
will keep you updated with further details regarding the meeting closer to the time and |
have more information.

| look forward to hearing from you on the status of your objection.
Best Regards

Craig

Craig Harlow mMiPROW

Page 205



Definitive Map Officer

Definitive Map and Highway Records
Wiltshire Council

County Hall

Trowbridge

BA14 8JN

<image001.png>

Direct Line: 01249 468568
Email: craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
Web: www.wiltshire.gov.uk

<image002.png>

JAY

image003.gif>

Sign up to Wiltshire Council’'s email news service

Information relating to how Wiltshire Council will manage your data can be
found at: http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/recreation-rights-of-way

Report a problem https://my.wiltshire.gov.uk/

From: Harlow, Craig
Sent: 13 March 2023 15:33

To: I

Subject: RE: ref; D/2011/003 CSTP6

You do have a right to object, objections can be made for any reasons and if any
objections are received and not withdrawn , Wiltshire Council cannot confirm the
order and it must be determined by the Planning Inspectorate following the
process detailed in my previous email. However, objections based on safety, need
, want ( for or against) , desire , environmental concerns, or anything other than
the interpretation of the historic evidence will almost certainly be dismissed by
any inspector as falling outside of matters they can consider under s.53 of the
wildlife and countryside Act 1981. This point is well versed in inspectors’
decisions and case law. If no objections are received or any made are withdrawn,
then Wiltshire Council would confirm the order at the end of the statutory 42 day
consultation period and the rights would be recorded and then the management
of those rights will be a matter for the relevant team to consider.

There are powers to extinguish vehicular highways under Section 116 of the
Highways Act 1980 and Section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Page 206


mailto:craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377040985901%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=u1p6iB32jZ7hsfvMYQXlo3Rwik1M8GZvAH9SMJzMwuE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2FWiltshireCouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377040985901%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=pvCsaJRqWbkZRPPaxrtp%2F0vWzEA4jGw5s%2BDm34vT9kI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2Fwiltscouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377040985901%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=XZPlBUOjNZ%2Bo%2B%2Fs40CdmHX11eDwqP1Dwd8Ivd9h390k%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwiltshire.us5.list-manage.com%2Fsubscribe%3Fu%3D2883905f726c9fc694bef8b9e%26id%3D3850daa318&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377040985901%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=MPttfhTV811Ay1egdigFFdGPnOx9G%2BVDMWThoDMQZAI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Frecreation-rights-of-way&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377040985901%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=bV%2FQWz7Skm6QomzEsZfiL4QnsjNrI2p4K9yJSw%2BVirc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fmy.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377040985901%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=wjHqjICRFa41VE9wqKsw985pEz4xR5aeTkX4SUbockM%3D&reserved=0

where highways are affected by planning permission. Section 116 of the
Highways Act requires an application to the Magistrates Court, and requires the
road to be unnecessary or a diversion makes the new route nearer or more
commodious to the public. There are significant costs for a section 116 order as
it includes Magistrates Court costs, applications can be made via Wiltshire
Councils legal team as the Highway Authority (Wiltshire Council) must make the
application to the Magistrates. In this case however, if the orders were
confirmed, the routes would be restricted byways ( rather than full public
vehicular highways) and as such applications can be made under S.118 of the
Highways Act which facilitates the stopping up of footpaths, bridleways, and
restricted byways. The legal tests to consider for a S.118 application are below:

(1)Where it appears to a council as respects a footpath [F2, bridleway or
restricted byway] in their area (other than one which is a trunk road or a special
road) that it is expedient that the path or way should be stopped up on the
ground that it is not needed for public use, the council may by order made by
them and submitted to and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed as

an unopposed order, extinguish the public right of way over the path or way.

An order under this section is referred to in this Act as a “public path

extinguishment order”.

(2)The Secretary of State shall not confirm a public path extinguishment order,
and a council shall not confirm such an order as an unopposed order, unless he or,
as the case may be, they are satisfied that it is expedient so to do having regard
to the extent (if any) to which it appears to him or, as the case may be, them that
the path or way would, apart from the order, be likely to be used by the public,
and having regard to the effect which the extinguishment of the right of way
would have as respects land served by the path or way, account being taken of
the provisions as to compensation contained in section 28 above as applied by
section 121(2) below.

Applications under s.118 are dealt with by our department and are open to
public consultation and possible objections, any application will be considered
against the legal tests of s.118 as set out above. Further guidance is set out at 2.2

of the following document Rights of way advice note 9: general guidance to

inspectors on public rights of way matters. - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) which explains

how the planning inspectorate consider such orders, if they determine an order

following objections ( Wiltshire Council can confirm an order if no objections are

Page 207


https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F1980%2F66%2Fsection%2F118%23commentary-M_F_eab62803-0930-49b4-c0b9-5fd6234df182&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377040985901%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=plolzEkAZvZugfmnAFDZSV1E2Oslo4HoL5gzwWbqO3s%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Frights-of-way-advice-note-9-general-guidance-to-inspectors-on-public-rights-of-way-matters&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=0OgZ8VXTSI0MEg4zxweWXjw9wQPL5q4NSvn9FOeljgU%3D&reserved=0

made or are withdrawn). The cost of an application under the Highways Act 1980
is currently £2389 plus costs ( likely to be in the region of £3,000-£,3500 for a

confirmed completed order). That cost is due to rise from April 15t 2023 to £2658
plus costs, if an application is signed by the applicant/s and accepted by Wiltshire

Council before 15t April 2023 the current costs of £2389 plus costs will be
honoured. There is a backlog of Highways Act applications of approx. 18 months
before an officer is assigned to a case, applications are dealt with in date order
and any prioritisation of an application out of date order is down to manager
discretion. It is possible to apply to extinguish more than one right of way in an
application, or parts/ widths of a highways , across more than one
landownership, if all affected parties agree to the application. Costs could be
shared between applicants. | cannot guarantee the success of an application, but
a fair consideration of the legal tests would be applied. If you were minded to
pursue this course of action we can discuss this further and | can provide an

application form.

In relation to your current holding objection on the order, | will contact all

respondents / objectors, including yourself, to the order at the end of the

consultation period after 215t April 2023 to confirm how you wish to proceed at
that time.

Best Regards

Craig

Craig Harlow mipPrROW

Definitive Map Officer

Definitive Map and Highway Records
Wiltshire Council

County Hall

Trowbridge

BA14 8JN

<image001.png>

Direct Line: 01249 468568

Page 208



Email: craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
Web: www.wiltshire.gov.uk

JAY

image002.png>

<image003.gif>

Sign up to Wiltshire Council’s email news service

Information relating to how Wiltshire Council will manage your data can be
found at: http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/recreation-rights-of-way

Report a problem https://my.wiltshire.gov.uk/

From: Georgina Boyle | NDNNNE

Sent: 13 March 2023 22:38
To: Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk>
Subject: Re: ref; D/2011/003 CSTP6

Dear Craig,

Thank you for your reply - even though it is even more saddening. As far as | can make
out | have no right to make any objection at the moment and once the order is made on
historical evidence that is the end of the matter?

Please can you tell me what happened to byways that crossed motorways or dual
carriageways? Is there any way | could apply to have the byway 'stopped up’ on grounds
of safety?

Yours sincerely,

Georgina

P.S. | am not withdrawing my objection at the moment as | want it on record that it is
dangerous.

On 13 Mar 2023, at 07:07, Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk>
wrote:

Dear Georgina,

Thank you for your email.

Page 209


mailto:craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=W5ZBXjuLAaIlaAMNX%2BNkEupdIxepmBUHDpl68qnV7aI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2FWiltshireCouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=QC6gZuUCt7x9jpBKMViPW6Q21f8kWH4Er%2BKIMsMAwUM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2Fwiltscouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=oqExL2L7mGHC39GW4bxtpQ6lW%2BNEN1hkjyp5FNwGlLc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwiltshire.us5.list-manage.com%2Fsubscribe%3Fu%3D2883905f726c9fc694bef8b9e%26id%3D3850daa318&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Kum%2FmF6p%2F2g6fOBOpPH91ORb6%2B1NB689xqaiUvTougA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Frecreation-rights-of-way&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=aWg1vPoIjlSmNHqp5Ya4CE1wIVE0Gk%2FO%2BCpSJfa2UMY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fmy.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=xPuLeURU%2FPJhsAyXlK%2FDJMVm4oIgjN3YoDmgQztYNzI%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
mailto:Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk

| understand the concerns you raise in relation to the order that has been
made regarding safety and access. The order has been made under S.53 of
the wildlife and countryside Act 1981, in particular S..53(3)(c)(ii) to amend
the current recorded rights on the definitive map and statement for the
area. This decision is based on historic evidence that those rights exist,
have not been extinguished and therefore should be recorded on the
definitive map and statement. As you say the evidence is clear that the
route of CSTP6 has higher rights than those currently recorded. These are
the only matters that can be considered when a surveying authority (
Wiltshire Council) make a decision and subsequent order in relation to a
S.53 application, and if an order is made and objected to and ultimately
determined by The Planning Inspectorate on behalf of The Secretary of
State, they too are only able to consider the historical evidence and
whether those rights exist. The matter being decided by the order is solely
do those rights exist, the management of those rights is a separate and
subsequent matter if and when an order is confirmed and those rights are
recorded.

In response to some of your queries , regarding any works to be carried out
(including any works on gradients or crossings), if the order is confirmed
the management of any rights that are recorded are a matter for the
Countryside Access Officers and team at that time, they are the team and
officers who manage the public rights of way network from a maintenance
and enforcement perspective. The Countryside Access officers for the
Charlton St. Peter and Wilsford area are Stephen Leonard

( Stephen.leonard@wiltshire.gov.uk) and Alison Rasey
(alison.rasey@wiltshire.gov.uk).

The case referred to by Mary Gillmore (Michael Aldous FPS/AO665/6/1) is
referring to separate legislation than this order at Charlton St. Peter. The
case refers to a creation order, likely made under s.26 of the Highways Act
1980, rather than an order made under S.53 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 which is considered for this order and only allows for
historical evidence to be a material consideration.

The BHS were not the applicants for the upgrade of CSTP6 but were the
applicants for the upgrade of CSTP2 and WILS5. Whilst | cannot speak for
the BHS or the applicant for CTSP6 they are likely to be aware that safety
concerns cannot form any part of a decision when a S.53 application is
made to record higher rights.

| appreciate your concerns regarding the car park at The Charlton Cat,
unfortunately | know of no mechanism for you to claim compensation for
loss of business from Wiltshire Council because of this order. Any council’s
duty to consider s.53 applications and make orders to record rights is clear
in law. | note the land subject to the order and through the car park is

Page 210


mailto:Stephen.leonard@wiltshire.gov.uk
mailto:alison.rasey@wiltshire.gov.uk

unregistered land and is likely more supportive evidence of the route of the
old road.

| have attached some guidance notes published on the matter of definitive
map modification orders which may be useful to you. Also you may find the
following link useful Definitive map orders: consistency guidelines - GOV.UK
(www.gov.uk).

If you would like to object to the order on the grounds of safety, | can
inform you this will not be a relevant objection and once the case is
forwarded to The Planning Inspectorate for determination, they are likely
to inform you of this and possibly ask you to withdraw your objection on
that basis. Only the interpretation of the historic evidence is a relevant
consideration for the determination of this order. If objections are made
and not withdrawn to the order the process will be as follows. The order
will first pass through Wiltshire Council’s eastern area planning committee
who will vote to attach a recommendation from Wiltshire Council on the
determination of the order when forwarded to the Planning Inspectorate
for determination. No matter what recommendation the committee vote
to attach to the order it must be forwarded to the Planning Inspectorate
for determination who will consider the matter based on the historical
evidence alone. The Planning Inspectorate will decide to settle the matter
by written representations only, a local hearing or public inquiry, any
objectors to the order will be requested to submit a statement of case and
proof of evidence, if a local hearing or inquiry is held , objectors would be
asked to present their case at that hearing or committee. The whole
process make take up to 2 years based on current timescales for cases
being determined by The Planning Inspectorate.

Given the above and attached information could you please confirm if you
would like me to consider your email below as an objection to the order
“The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map
and Statement Modification Order 2023” for the reasons stated in your
email.

Best Regards

Craig

Craig Harlow miPrROW

Definitive Map Officer

Definitive Map and Highway Records
Wiltshire Council

County Hall

Trowbridge

BA14 8JN

Page 211


https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fdefinitive-map-orders-consistency-guidelines&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=vzDvSeLnXaK4EuW%2Bg4%2F2fV2Sh5DgriR%2FIdqxpG9qkLg%3D&reserved=0

<image002.png>

Direct Line: 01249 468568
Email: craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
Web: www.wiltshire.gov.uk

<image003.png> <image004.gif>

Sign up to Wiltshire Council’'s email news service

Information relating to how Wiltshire Council will manage your
data can be found at: http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/recreation-
rights-of-way

Report a problem https://my.wiltshire.gov.uk/

From: Georgina Boyle | NN

Sent: 13 March 2023 19:50
To: Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk>
Subject: ref; D/2011/003 CSTP6

Dear Craig,
Thank you for your letters of the 16th February and 2nd March 2023.

On historical evidence there is no question that CSTP6 was more than a
footpath, however historically the A342 was not a major A road with large
lorries and very fast traffic, a junction with minimal visibility in either
direction at the Charlton Cat which with the addition of equestrians and
carriages is dangerous.

My objection to this upgrade of the footpath to a restricted byway is on the
grounds of safety. Please see the attached map which shows some of the
accidents along this stretch of road - the map only shows accidents with
casualties, there have been many more that | have seen that are not
recorded on this map. Is Wiltshire Council doing any due diligence or other
consultations on the safety of this crossing? You state in your decision
report on page 18 - ‘The A342 is a very busy road and at this point the
visibility looking west and east is very poor to cross what is a 50mph A road
at this point due to bends in the road’ Unfortunately looking at a map of
the road it does not show the true danger of the bends and so arriving at
the proposed crossing you would not be aware and by allowing this byway
you would be encouraging dangerous activity.

Page 212


mailto:craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=W5ZBXjuLAaIlaAMNX%2BNkEupdIxepmBUHDpl68qnV7aI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2FWiltshireCouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=QC6gZuUCt7x9jpBKMViPW6Q21f8kWH4Er%2BKIMsMAwUM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2Fwiltscouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=oqExL2L7mGHC39GW4bxtpQ6lW%2BNEN1hkjyp5FNwGlLc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwiltshire.us5.list-manage.com%2Fsubscribe%3Fu%3D2883905f726c9fc694bef8b9e%26id%3D3850daa318&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Kum%2FmF6p%2F2g6fOBOpPH91ORb6%2B1NB689xqaiUvTougA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Frecreation-rights-of-way&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=aWg1vPoIjlSmNHqp5Ya4CE1wIVE0Gk%2FO%2BCpSJfa2UMY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fmy.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C4395a221404a428fd18808db44c31db9%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638179377041142796%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=xPuLeURU%2FPJhsAyXlK%2FDJMVm4oIgjN3YoDmgQztYNzI%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk

What plans would be put in place to make this safer? The only safe solution
would be a horse crossing as recommended by the PROW working group.

Mary Gillmore in her letter claims that it would fulfil a ‘'missing link’
however there are already 3 bridleway crossings of the A342 within 2 miles
of CSTP6 which are all at safe points on the road with good visibility and
provide ‘convenient and enjoyable’ circular route for riders ( taken from
Mary Gillmore attached Michael Aldous FPS/AO665/6/1) however in this
instance the danger clearly outweighs any advantage of crossing at this
point.

In his letter of November 2022 Alan Woodford of BHS Wiltshire states - He
cannot see how a route for horses and carriages would be easily provided -
He does not mention the issue of safety. Does the BHS not have any duty of
care for the safety of riders, carriage drivers in encouraging them to cross a
busy road with no visibility?

With regard to the practicalities - When | bought the Charlton Cat in 2014
it was with a footpath across the carpark with a width of 1.2m (as in your
decision report page 55). The upgrading to a byway with a minimum width
of 5m. means | lose valuable parking spaces which | need to keep my
business viable. How is Wiltshire Council going to compensate my business
for loss of asset?

The required works to create this byway with a suitable gradient for both
horses and carriages will be extensive and | presume expensive. Has
Wiltshire Council Highways done any feasibility as to value for money for
the community for works, signage or a horse crossing. | will also lose
significant business whilst these works are being done.

<image001l.png>
I look forward to hearing from you as to what actions are being taken to
ensure that this upgrade will be safe for purpose.

Yours sincerely

Georgina Boyle

This email originates from Wiltshire Council and any files transmitted with it may
contain confidential information and may be subject to Copyright or Intellectual
Property rights. It is intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom
they are addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify the sender
and delete the email from your inbox. Any disclosure, reproduction, dissemination,

Page 213



modification and distribution of the contents of the email is strictly prohibited. Email
content may be monitored by Wiltshire Council to ensure compliance with its
policies and procedures. No contract is intended by this email, and any personal
opinions expressed in this message are those of the sender and should not be
taken as representing views of Wiltshire Council. Please note Wiltshire Council
utilises anti-virus scanning software but does not warrant that any e-mail or
attachments are free from viruses or other defects and accepts no liability for any
losses resulting from infected e-mail transmissions. Receipt of this e-mail does not
imply consent to use or provide this e-mail address to any third party for any
purpose. Wiltshire Council will not request the disclosure of personal financial
information by means of e-mail any such request should be confirmed in writing by
contacting Wiltshire Council.

<nell2.pdf>

This email originates from Wiltshire Council and any files transmitted with it may contain
confidential information and may be subject to Copyright or Intellectual Property rights.
It is intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If
you have received this email in error please notify the sender and delete the email from
your inbox. Any disclosure, reproduction, dissemination, modification and distribution of
the contents of the email is strictly prohibited. Email content may be monitored by
Wiltshire Council to ensure compliance with its policies and procedures. No contract is
intended by this email, and any personal opinions expressed in this message are those of
the sender and should not be taken as representing views of Wiltshire Council. Please
note Wiltshire Council utilises anti-virus scanning software but does not warrant that any
e-mail or attachments are free from viruses or other defects and accepts no liability for
any losses resulting from infected e-mail transmissions. Receipt of this e-mail does not
imply consent to use or provide this e-mail address to any third party for any purpose.
Wiltshire Council will not request the disclosure of personal financial information by
means of e-mail any such request should be confirmed in writing by contacting Wiltshire
Council.

Page 214



From: Gill Gadd

Sent: 04 May 2023 14:28
To: Harlow, Craig
Subject: Re: your ref: D/2011/003 and D/2021/105

Dear Mr Harlow,
Thank you for your reply to my objections.

| certainly do wish to leave these in place and would be grateful if they could be put forward as you
describe.

With thanks,
Gillian Gadd
Timber Lodge
Charlton St Peter

On Fri, Apr 21, 2023 at 10:08 AM Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk> wrote:

Dear Mrs Gadd ,

| acknowledge your objection to the order made to upgrade footpath CSTP6, and part of bridleway
CSTP2 to restricted byways.

Wiltshire Council are bound by the legislation when considering applications made under $.53 of
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1980 to amend the definitive map and statement as will the
Planning Inspectorate who will determine the order if objected to. Any decision-making authority is
unable to consider safety matters or the need or desire for any route, the decision must be solely
based on the historic documentary evidence and that is the reason the order has been made. It is
likely the Planning Inspectorate ( on behalf of the Secretary of State) will request you withdraw
your objection as it is not based on relevant considerations , however if it is not withdrawn it will be
sent with the order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. The Planning Inspectorate will
contact objectors asking for statements of case and proofs of evidence at the time they come to
determine the order, which may be by written representations, a public hearing or a public inquiry.

If any and all objections are not withdrawn then the next step will be to take the order to Wiltshire
Council’s Eastern Area Planning Committee. This will be to determine Wiltshire Councils’
recommendation on the order when sent to the Planning Inspectorate. No matter what
recommendation is decided upon it must be sent to the Planning Inspectorate who will determine
the order based on the relevant tests. | will be in contact in future in regarding the date of the
Planning Committee where members of the public are able to address the committee members for
up to 3 minutes verbally , any written objections will be presented to the committee for their
consideration.

If you have any queries regarding the process, please contact me.

Page 215



Best Regards

Craig

Craig Harlow miPrROW

Definitive Map Officer

Definitive Map and Highway Records
Wiltshire Council

County Hall

Trowbridge

BA14 8JN

Wiltshire Council

Direct Line: 01249 468568
Email: craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
Web: www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Sign up to Wiltshire Council’s email news service

Information relating to how Wiltshire Council will manage your data can be found
at: http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/recreation-rights-of-way

Report a problem https://my.wiltshire.gov.uk/

From: Gill Gadd

Sent: 20 April 2023 15:43
To: Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk>
Subject: your ref: D/2011/003 and D/2021/105

You don't often get email from ||| | I Learn why this is important

Dear Mr Harlow,

| wish you to bring it to the attention of the relevant departments that | am wholeheartedly
opposed to the modification of footpath Charlton St Peter 6 (CSTP6) to a restricted byway.

As set out in my previous email to you, | believe this will have severe implications regarding the
safety of users attempting to cross or join the A342 adjacent to the Charlton Cat (marked F on your
map).

Page 216


https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
mailto:craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7Cddb48e90c5094561cec608db4ca364fa%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638188036884302968%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Pk9%2BeFIoetyjSTkn4JwXYEEiPkReNoj6WhMERbFbE54%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2FWiltshireCouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7Cddb48e90c5094561cec608db4ca364fa%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638188036884302968%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=P%2BVXHT6%2BKYJysoLTOQDo9f2G3PoTjCIEJGUw9KEAMO0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2Fwiltscouncil&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7Cddb48e90c5094561cec608db4ca364fa%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638188036884302968%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=M9SuBcX05Z96o45eaH1e0aDpsVUb%2FMB3xBoQwLpgHfU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwiltshire.us5.list-manage.com%2Fsubscribe%3Fu%3D2883905f726c9fc694bef8b9e%26id%3D3850daa318&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7Cddb48e90c5094561cec608db4ca364fa%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638188036884302968%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=EpQF2lv2Gy0bcUbCY9Av7SEaxE6LjWAe9tq0gbYLgJ8%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Frecreation-rights-of-way&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7Cddb48e90c5094561cec608db4ca364fa%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638188036884302968%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=b9OJiC0Ma9thtGd6%2BcGncJq8UhL6RfMQ24k4UYI8%2B14%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fmy.wiltshire.gov.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCraig.Harlow%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7Cddb48e90c5094561cec608db4ca364fa%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C638188036884302968%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=B%2BsDcd5f4RBxaugw7J9ran%2BL7fAWzSjFYG9HeE0DYW8%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk

Opening up the width of the byway to allow horses and carridge users to travel up to the A342 is an
act of gross irrisponsibility on the part of those officials charged with the health and safety of public
highway users. It may have been a useful access requirement 100 years ago when dwellings lined
that particular route, but surely it is obvious that that time has passed and to introduce slow-
moving or potentially fractious animals to an A road, on the section lying between blind bends, is
pure insanity.

The A342 carries an increasing number of lorries and HGVs which will have a considerably longer
stopping distance than a car. Even with reduced speed limits, painted crossings and warning signs
(which you have given no indication will be put in place) the area of road you are proposing to
allow members of the public to risk their lives on is too dangerous.

The second objection | have to the opening of CSTP6 as a 5 to 9 metre wide restricted byway is that
| believe it will encourage anti-social and criminal behaviour in the village of Charlton St Peter.

At present we have a single highway entrance/exit in the village and CSTP6 could well become a
route in or out for an undesirable element who wish to burgle properties or outbuildings here. It is
a practice which is rife at the moment and | have no doubt that the opening of an easy route out of
Charlton will make it more appealing to theives.

| also think the opening up of CSTP6 may encourage motorised vehicles such as trials motorbikes
already using the plain.

Finally, the question of cost to the taxpayer must also be considered. We hear that councils are
stretched; potholes in the roads are an increasing hazzard and | imagine that this endevour may
remain unsurfaced as well as poorly maintained because of other more pressing concerns.

Does Wiltshire Council really believe this use of resources to be value for money? Maybe we should
take a vote from those of us who pay our taxes.

Yours faithfully,
Gill Gadd
Timber Lodge
Charlton St Peter
SN9 6EU

This email originates from Wiltshire Council and any files transmitted with it may contain
confidential information and may be subject to Copyright or Intellectual Property rights. It is
intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have
received this email in error please notify the sender and delete the email from your inbox. Any
disclosure, reproduction, dissemination, modification and distribution of the contents of the email
is strictly prohibited. Email content may be monitored by Wiltshire Council to ensure compliance
with its policies and procedures. No contract is intended by this email, and any personal opinions
expressed in this message are those of the sender and should not be taken as representing views of
Wiltshire Council. Please note Wiltshire Council utilises anti-virus scanning software but does not
warrant that any e-mail or attachments are free from viruses or other defects and accepts no
liability for any losses resulting from infected e-mail transmissions. Receipt of this e-mail does not
imply consent to use or provide this e-mail address to any third party for any purpose. Wiltshire

Page 217



Council will not request the disclosure of personal financial information by means of e-mail any
such request should be confirmed in writing by contacting Wiltshire Council.

Page 218



From: Harlow, Craig

Sent: 24 April 2023 10:08
To: Harlow, Craig
From: Tim Fow!e [

Sent: 23 April 2023 19:45

To: Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk>

Subject: RE: Application to upgrade bridleways Wilsford No. 5 and Charlton St Perter No. 2 to
restricted byways (ref: D/2021/105)

Dear Craig

| thank you for the clarification of the DMMO Decisions that the council have reached that you sent to
us on Friday, and the reasons the decisions have been made. However you seem to have

misconstrued the point | was trying to make in my email of Thursday phh April in that | object to the
width of the byway as proposed and therefore | wish to clarify this as follows.

The questions | raised , particularly to the 12.2 metres (40 feet) width specified, is the point | was
trying to object to, as being excessive for the proposed future use and grossly intrusive into my fields,
particularly as the section further east towards the village of Charlton is NOT being upgraded due to
lack of evidence for this historically.

I don’t oppose the upgrading to a restricted byway but do most strongly object to the proposed width
of the right of way.

The idea of upgrading only part of the byway to the proposed width is utterly ridiculous in terms of
the adverse effects on my land, to no appreciable benefit, as it ceases to be a restricted byway as it
nears the Charlton Cat. | do not believe that widening the byway to this width will be of any benefit to
users of it.

Yours sincerely

Tim Fowle

From: Harlow, Craig [mailto:Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk]

Sent: 21 April 2023 10:31

To: I

Subject: RE: Application to upgrade bridleways Wilsford No. 5 and Charlton St Perter No. 2 to
restricted byways (ref: D/2021/105)

Dear Mr Fowle,

Page 219



The difference in widths is explained at section 17 of the decision report. A width of 40ft (12.2 metres)
for the section of CSTP2 is set out in the 1780 Charlton Inclosure award where that route is awarded
as “ not less than 40 feet”. As this award was only for the route within the parish of Charlton St. Peter
this width only extends to the parish boundary. The continuation of the route in Wilsford was set out
in the 1808 Wilsford Inclosure award as being 20ft (6.1 metres). As inclosure evidence is considered
strong category A evidence, unless evidence was found that these widths had been extinguished then
they still exist to this day and result in the change of widths at the parish boundary. Changes in status
or width of rights of way at parish boundaries where different parishes claimed the rights is not
uncommon.

The decision to not upgrade the section of CSTP2 you refer to is explained in the decision report from
16.19-16.23. The evidence for this section being a public road is far weaker than the other sections
considered. It was not set out at the 1780 inclosure award, not shown as a clear route on the parish
map of 1804, now shown as a road on the tithe map of 1841 and recorded as an occupation road (
likely a private road) and a footpath in the 1866 railway plans. Commercial maps ( of low evidential
value) from 1773- 1823 are inconsistent on this section of the route, with one showing the route and
others showing no route at all. Later commercial maps from 1900 show it as a bridle track. For the
reasons briefly summarised here and explained in the decision report, Wiltshire Council deem on the
balance of probabilities the evidence does not demonstrate this section of the route should be
amended from its current recorded status of bridleway.

I acknowledge you points regarding safety but as explained previously Wiltshire Council and any
decision making authority cannot take these matters into consideration when making a decision on
applications made under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1980 to amend the definitive
map and statement.

Best Regards

Craig

Craig Harlow mipPrROW

Definitive Map Officer

Definitive Map and Highway Records
Wiltshire Council

County Hall

Trowbridge

BA14 8JN

Wiltshire Council

. H e L b bk o
uuuuu g mgrg g g s e

Direct Line: 01249 468568
Email: craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk
Web: www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Page 220



Sign up to Wiltshire Council’s email news service

Information relating to how Wiltshire Council will manage your data can be found at:
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/recreation-rights-of-way

Report a problem https://my.wiltshire.gov.uk/

From: Tim Fowle [N

Sent: 20 April 2023 22:48

To: Harlow, Craig <Craig.Harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk>

Subject: Application to upgrade bridleways Wilsford No. 5 and Charlton St Perter No. 2 to restricted
byways (ref: D/2021/105)

Dear Mr Harlow

Further to your letter of 16 February 2023 | wish to register my concerns regarding the decisions made
on the Application D/2021/105 and would ask for further clarification on how the decision was made
with particular reference to Wilsford 5 and Charlton St Peter 2.

These two rights of way are currently bridleways which are joined end to end and are historically the
same path. To the best of my knowledge in all the maps shown within the evidence document copied
to us they are shown as the same width. | am therefore at a loss to understand why the decision has
been made for WILSS5 to be upgraded to a width of 6.1 metres whilst CSTP2 is to become 12.2 metres
wide, as per your Decision Plan 1. Can you please explain this decision.

Meanwhile, further east there is a section of bridleway CSTP2 between its junction with footpath
CSTP6 leading west to its junction with the spur of CSTP2 leading to the A342 which you state in your
letter will not be upgraded to a byway because there is apparently insufficient evidence to do so,
despite the fact that on the historical maps this appears to be a continuation of CSTP2 coming from
Wilsford. Please explain the rationale behind this decision

The spur of CSTP2 leading to the A342 at point C on the Decision Plan 1 has fallen into disuse since the
late 1970s on police advice as they considered that access to the A342 at this point is suicidally
dangerous. All applications to introduce a new access point to the A342 from my land were turned
down by the Highways Department of your own Council due to the danger of introducing slow moving
traffic into a high speed road, yet this DMMO decision to upgrade this access is doing precisely that.
Please explain how this can be safe or sensible. | would add that although it is not on my land, | have
the same concerns for the upgrading of CSTP6 where it meets the A342 at the Charlton Cat.

| await your response to these points as a matter of urgency.

Page 221



Yours sincerely

Tim Fowle

] Virus-free.www.avg.com

Page 222



From: Kerry Robinson

Sent: 22 March 2023 08:25

To: Harlow, Craig

Subject: Re: Application 2011/03 charlton starter (CSTP6)
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

You don't often get email from || GG L2 hy. this is important

Dear Mr Harlow,

Thank you for your speedy response to my objection to the plans for upgrading CSTP6 .

| will take the opportunity to address the 120 page report, and acknowledge that the law intends to
ignore both the safety and environmental issues raised in the objection to such alterations of the
footpath.

It is an affront that we again fail to learn from history and it’s injurious errors. Even more astounding
that the law intends to inflict a tort on a modern day business, its proprietor and patrons, all the road
users and the individuals who intend or blindly make use of the planned ‘upgraded footpath’ .

I wish to maintain my objection and would like this to be added to it, if only as you point out to delay
this inevitable faux pas.

Kind regards
K. Robinson

On Tue, 21 Mar 2023 at 15:28, Kerry Robinson ||| Y /o t<:

Dear Mr Harlow,

It is with jaw dropping incredulity that | see you have plans to resurrect an access, as a byway
(cstp6) which was closed some 150 years ago.

Closed for a very good reason - even in those days of horse drawn vehicles!

As a driver , and horse rider, | am raising objections on the grounds of serious safety issues. Anyone
using that byway on horseback or in a horse drawn vehicle would be doing so with no regard for
their horses, themselves or other road users.

Access into and across the privately owned car park, belonging to and for the use of patrons to The
Charlton Cat, on the A342 is positioned at a lethal chicane. It’s a double bend which regularly sees
casualties in various degrees of seriousness. Cars frequently clip the opposite bank and flip on their
roof landing on the opposite side of the road.

As a resident on this same highway | have in the last five years witnessed a massive increase in
traffic, including huge HGV’s and artics, all travelling too fast and unable to pass each other without
decimating the banks on both sides of the road. Some are forced to stop while dangerously
manoeuvring themselves onto the verges so they can pass each other.

| am all for you providing bridleways - but not at exit points that put both the lives of horses ( yes
they have brains and can be startled) their riders , pedestrians or drivers at lethal risk. A horse hit
by a car will usually be killed and often go through the vehicles windscreen, posing a not
inconsiderable risk to the driver and passengers. Byways ripped up by motorbikes, quads and cars

Page 223



are already near impassible for riders and walkers as it is . Common sense appears to have been
abandoned in this specific planning application.

Permission for such a short sighted and unnecessary opening of cstp6 route would also enable and
encourage the abuse of a private car park to a much loved local business. Perhaps you the powers
that be should be held financially liable for the unavoidable damage to the future business
prospects of The Charlton Cat.

| can only add that | expect more from my local authority. If you want to improve bridleways and
byways in this area it would be appreciated if you focussed on those currently being made

inaccessible with wire and unmanageable gates, and surfaces that have been trenched by vehicles.
Kind regards
K. Robinson

Page 224



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
22" June 2023 15:00

Gee obed

Wiltshire Council

%



Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 s.53

The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6
and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and Statement
Modification Order 2023

Wiltshire Council
———

9¢¢ abed



Application Routes ( highlighted yellow)

Wilsford [T T\ AR Cuttennam (7T B
Manory/ S > 5 % Farm ‘
fl = ,.-?-. L 2\ :

o

(! e = =

e

/2c abed

—

' Stffp Synchets |

Wiltshire Council

%




g2 abede

Wiltshire Council’'s Duty

It is the council’s duty under s.53 of the 1981 Act to keep the definitive

map and statement under continual review and to change it by legal order where evidence
shows it is in error.

The legal test to confirm the order is that it is shown on the balance of probability — that is,
that something is more likely than not.

Any order so made must be duly advertised and if objections are made, or, if the order
requires modification, Wiltshire Council must forward the order to the Secretary of State for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination.

The order before the committee today has attracted four objections that have not been
withdrawn. The order is therefore before this committee who must consider Wiltshire
Council’'s recommendation to the order, to either support the order , take a neutral stance ,
amend the order or to not confirm the the order when it is sent to the Secretary of State.

Wiltshire Council

%




The legal tests

* Does the evidence show that the way is a public highway?
» Is there any evidence that the public highway has been stopped up?
* What is the extent (width) of the public highway right?

 What is the status of the public highway? Is it a footpath, bridleway, restricted byway
or byway open to all traffic?

* Does the legal maxim ‘once a highway, always a highway’ apply?

What can’t be taken into consideration for making an order
* The environment or agriculture or forestry

« Desirability or need, criminal acts

* Duplication or cost

* Risk, public safety, the applicant

6¢¢ obed

Wiltshire Council

‘%




Order Plans

The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2023- Plan 1
L e q 0000

. X . The Wiltshire Council Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5 Definitive Map
Wiltshire Council and Statement Modification Order 2023- Plan 2
e bl hib bl ar “::-i' o 4y 4qem ] 4um 4y n_%m 411 aytese
= =] T ==
i e - D d@“’? JE= NI I=E
\ %—:—‘1‘-——4 - : g Pand r_-"l\ ) 'I A Cotiage | 1 1 1 L7 g
2 e ~ NNEWL3 - ) ,':_h _.’ | 4 J ”JJ;:“ -
- & g el L 1 -
<. ...) E E<-{ :ﬁi? Vil'llmda_r_le_ _]|I '
’ £ ' I
< ,?‘ S EI'._ E kg
i S?b = _ —
g ""'-v._“_ 2 /2| \LT L 1 | ':L__', .
L) T H = a
E ~ a3k |
Traey | “"‘I Track A =1 L y
=== === = ol rd il
Ad IL_,—I-——"E |
ko
— e B l
1
g frow 0 / :
- Key: Plan 2 L ; ! -
; S 3 Footpsth CSTRE and bridieway CSTRZ to be upgraded e restricted byway: = {é,,
b . pr—"—p—"—F F 2 /
y ‘FolE {_\9
Dher rights of way: l-.'. E léf
Foatpath: - = ; =
§ 1| pcieway: 1111 ! < g
I - Byway open to all traffic: *v-" = f — i
7/ L -
Kay:- Plan 1 L f - =
L ! -
Bridleway to be upgraded ta restricted byway: A *—"— B ¥—"— ([ . ‘r — - -
1s4m A.342 - & n ’! - =
g [Pt [— i : / = i
2 || eridleway: -|---| i Ty - —_— -
tyway open to all traffic: T | ) ) | —
. Qe S s e e € Ccwn Copyright-and [iatabase Rights 2023 Grdfance Survey 100MI050, § Crown Copyright and
I 7 ﬂr" Dhetaizase Rights 2023 Ordnafnce Survey 100029050
“'“ Iigu lllllﬂ Aoae 4100 4foem =
= Fre e 4pm e e s

At
"

Wiltshire Council

%




The evidence for CSTP6

* Quarter session rolls dated 1739 describe the route as being named “‘White Lane’ a * common
highway for all persons, horses, cattle , carts and carriages’

* Inclosure award dated 1780, route referred to as White Lane, opposite an awarded public road (
now byway CSTP7). CSTP6 ( White Lane) likely a pre inclosure road.

« Shown in the same manner as local roads in 18" century plans (Andrews and Dury’s Map of
Wiltshire 1773)

 Detailed Parish Plan of 1804 labels route as White Lane and shown in manner of other roads.
« Tithe map of 1841 shows route in manner of a public road.

« 1866 Railway plans dating from 1866 record the route as a public highway in the control of the
Devizes Highway Board and wardens of parish.

« A number of commercial maps from early 19" century shows, including Ordnance Survey
records show the route as a minor, cross or parochial road.

« Evidence shows from late 19" century it is likely the central section of the route was accessible
only on foot.

T¢e abed

Wiltshire Council

%




The evidence for CSTP2 ( part) and WILS5
( A- C on order plan)

» Section of route in Charlton awarded as a public road and named as “Wilsford Road” in the
1780 Charlton St. Peter inclosure award.
« 1804 plan of Charlton shows route in parish in manner of a road and named Wilsford Road.

« 1808 Wilsford Inclosure records route as a private carriage road and drift way and a public
footway.

« 1773 and early 1800 OS maps show route in manner of a road.

« 1841 Charlton tithe map and 1844 Wilsford tithe map show route in manner of surrounding
roads.

« 1845 Direct Western Railway Plans record section in Wilsford as a public highway , in the
manner of other roads.

« 1846 survey of land shows route in Wilsford in manner of other roads.
« 1866 railway plans record section in Charlton as in private ownership.
* Records show from circa 1900 route was likely used and considered as a bridleway.

Zse abed

Wiltshire Council

%




Other evidence

« The central section of CSTP2 lacks evidence to upgrade it from its current bridleway
status.

« The section of CSTP2 linking from the U/C 8044 to CSTP6 is likely part of the historic
White Lane and has similar evidence to CSTP6 and should be upgraded as such.
Evidence shows this section was likely considered part of the road network until 1930.

cge abed

Wiltshire Council

‘%



The effect of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERCA 2006)

« Amongst other things, this Act had the effect of extinguishing public rights for
mechanically propelled vehicles over highways that were not recorded in the definitive
map as byways open to all traffic (BOATS), subject to some exceptions.

« The Act came into force on 2" May 2006 and this is an important date.

* In considering evidence for historic highways the Council must first consider whether
the route was a vehicular highway (i.e. a road) before 2"d May 2006, and then, if it was,
consider whether any of the exceptions to extinguishment of the mechanically
propelled vehicular (MPV) right were extinguished.

 In this case officers consider the routes to be upgraded as historic vehicular highways
(roads) but that the public right to drive an MPV was extinguished by the 2006 Act.

« Hence the highest status the routes can have is that of a restricted byway, that is a
right for the public to pass and re-pass on foot, on a bicycle, on or leading a horse or
driving a horse drawn vehicle.

yez abed

Wiltshire Council

%




Wldths

The width of the restricted byways should be based on historic evidence.

« Widths are clearly set out in the 1780 ( Charlton) and 1808 (Wilsford) inclosure
awards.

« The section B — C of the order route is set out as ‘ not less than 40 ft' and as such is
recorded as 40ft (12.2m). The continuation of the route in Wilsford is set out as 20ft
(6.1m) and rights have more than likely been acquired over that set out width.

* No documentary written evidence has been found relating to other widths and as such
has been taken from Ordnance Survey mapping of the late 19t century. This being
the earliest and most accurate mapping available. Where this is not possible a general
width for restricted byways of 5 metres is recorded.

« For CSTP6 this results in a width of between 5 and 9 metres taken from late 19t
century mapping and a 5m width for the central section.

« For CSTP2 linking to the road this is taken as 7 — 14 metres from 19™ century
mapping.

Gee obed

Wiltshire Council

%




Comments on the objections

* No evidence has been adduced by objectors that has challenged the documentary
evidence relevant to the making and subsequent confirmation of the order.

« Objectors have concerns relating to safety matters which can addressed if and when
the rights are recorded. They are not matters which are material to this order.

5
Q
ﬁ « Concerns have been raised as to the necessity of the widths and change of status and
$  widths. Officers have made a decision on these matters based on the available

evidence and the balance of probabilities test.
« Objectors do not dispute these routes were roads.

Wiltshire Council

%




Proposal

That THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL CHARLTON ST PETER 2,6 AND WILSFORD 5
DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER 2023 is confirmed as made.

/€¢ abed

Wiltshire Council

%




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Charlton St. Peter 2, 6 and Wilsford 5
	CM10122 App1
	WCSRVRPS01_TCHGF-2XN01099_2324_001
	Order plans
	Plan 1
	Plan 2
	Plan 3


	CM10122 App2
	CSTP2 ,6  and WILS5 Decision Report
	Decision Report Appendix 1 - Applications
	Decision Report Appendix 2 - Consultation Responses
	Decision Report Appendix 3- Decision Plans
	Appendix 3- Decision Plans
	Decision Plan 1
	Decision Plan 2

	Decision Plan 3


	CM10122 App3
	Georgina Boyle
	Gillian Gadd
	Tim Fowle
	Kerry Robinson

	Presentation Slides
	Slide 1: EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 22nd June 2023 15:00
	Slide 2: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 s.53
	Slide 3: Application Routes ( highlighted yellow)
	Slide 4: Wiltshire Council’s Duty
	Slide 5: The legal tests
	Slide 6: Order Plans 
	Slide 7: The evidence for CSTP6  
	Slide 8: The evidence for CSTP2 ( part) and WILS5 ( A- C on order plan)
	Slide 9: Other evidence
	Slide 10: The effect of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERCA 2006)
	Slide 11: Widths
	Slide 12: Comments on the objections
	Slide 13: Proposal



